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Our Purpose
To provide safe, accessible, sustainable and efficient transport services and systems that promote 
economic prosperity and enhance the lifestyles of all Western Australians.

Our Vision
To be recognised as a leader in providing world-class transport services and solutions.

DoT Responsibilities
DoT is responsible for:

 Æ Developing strategic transport policy in the 
fields of maritime, aviation, rail, freight and 
logistics, public transport, sustainable and 
active transport and heavy vehicles.

 Æ Providing integrated transport planning for 
metropolitan and regional transport.

 Æ Integrating state-wide major transport 
infrastructure development and 
undertaking the lead agency role for  
major transport projects.

 Æ Developing and delivering sustainable and 
active transport programs.

 Æ Delivering a range of operational services, 
including the licensing functions for drivers, 
vehicles and vessels, marine safety for 
recreational boating and commercial 
vessels and coastal infrastructure planning, 
management and development.

 Æ Administering and regulating the 
on-demand transport sector and the 
safety regulation of the Western Australian 
rail industry.

 Æ Coordinating investment, planning and 
strategic issues across the portfolio.

Our Values
Clear Direction — We set clear direction and 
have the courage to follow through.

Fresh Thinking — We welcome fresh 
thinking and better ways of working.

Excellent Service — We work together to 
deliver excellent service. 

Great people — We make things happen 
through our great people.
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Statement of compliance with the  
Financial Management Act 2006
For the year ended 30 June 2013

To the Minister 
Hon. Troy Buswell MLA 
Minister for Transport

In accordance with Section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit for your 
information and presentation to Parliament the Annual Report of the Department of Transport 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2013.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and fulfils the Department of Transport’s reporting obligations under 
the Public Sector Management Act 1994, the Disability Services Act 1993 and the  
Electoral Act 1907.

Reece Waldock 
Director General – Transport
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Foreword  
Western Australia’s rapid population 
growth has kept transport at the top of the 
State’s agenda throughout 2012-13. As a 
key Transport agency, the Department of 
Transport (DoT) has continued to plan for this 
growth and follow through on the priorities we 
have set together with our portfolio partners, 
the Public Transport Authority (PTA) and Main 
Roads WA (MRWA). 

Our priorities are clear – moving people and 
freight – and I am pleased to report that we 
have made significant progress on both fronts 
over the last year. 

The Moving People Network Plan sets a 
strategic approach to moving Perth and 
Peel’s rapidly growing population. It focuses 
on moving people, not vehicles, to manage 
congestion. Just as there is no one solution for 
congestion, we now have a number of short 
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the State’s first integrated strategic program of 
planning, policy and capital project priorities 
for the regions to meet forecasted demand.

Our planning and policy work in this arena 
is driven by the need to ensure the State’s 
economic prosperity into the future and I feel 
we are well-placed to do so. 

Of course, everything we do is ultimately 
driven by our customers, the Western 
Australian community, and this is strongly 
reflected in our frontline activities throughout 
the year.

We continued to improve our online services, 
providing customers with more convenient 
access to driver and vehicle licensing services 
through our Licence Alert application and 
Practical Driving Assessment online booking 
system. I am looking forward to further 
improving our customers online experience 
when our new website goes live in July 2013.

DoT commenced construction work on a 
number of infrastructure projects along our 
coast during the year including new boat 
pens at Exmouth Boat Harbour. The Augusta 
Boat Harbour reached a major milestone in 
April 2013 when the breakwater footprints 
were constructed to the minimum level. After 
years of research and planning I am pleased 
that construction to reconfigure the coastal 
structures at Port Geographe is on schedule 
to commence in July 2013.

Our commitment to creating world-class 
maritime infrastructure in Western Australia 
was recognised when Hillarys Boat Harbour 
was awarded Australia’s Best Public Boat 
Harbour at the 2013 Marina Industry 
Association Awards.

For every piece of maritime infrastructure we 
build and manage, our responsibility to ensure 
people’s safety on our waters grows. Over the 
course of the year, DoT continued its state-
wide aquatic review to promote the safe and 
equitable use of our waterways, continuing 
the Swan Canning Riverpark Review and 
commencing the Peel Aquatic Use Review in 
February 2013.

The safety of all Western Australian taxi drivers 
and their passengers is also a high priority for 
DoT, with the projects under the Taxi Action 
Plan continuing to be rolled out over the last 
12 months. 

As I look forward to 2013-14, I am confident 
DoT, together with our portfolio partners and 
the Minister for Transport, will continue to 
deliver safe and accessible transport services 
and systems.

Reece Waldock 
Director General – Transport

and longer-term plans in place that aim to 
manage it into the future, including In Motion: 
A 20-Year Public Transport Plan for Perth and 
Peel, the CBD Transport Plan and the Western 
Australian Bicycle Network Plan. 

Many of the projects outlined in these 
Plans are already underway, with the 
State Government announcing the Metro 
Area Express (MAX) Light Rail project in 
September 2012. DoT is now planning for the 
transformational public transport initiative that 
will connect the Central Northern Corridor with 
the Perth CBD and link many key education, 
health and retail centres. 

Our inner-city transport network is crucial 
in accommodating the State Government’s 
Perth City Link, Elizabeth Quay and new 
Perth Stadium projects and DoT continues 
to lead the way in planning to ensure it can 
meet demand. 

Western Australia’s rapid population growth 
is not only placing increased pressure on 
moving people but also on the movement 
of freight. In 2012-13, DoT progressed its 
Metropolitan Freight and Intermodal Network 
Plan to define Perth’s primary freight network 
and identify investment priorities over the next 
two decades. 

With our regional freight task set to double by 
2031, it was important that we finalised the 
Western Australian Regional Freight Transport 
Network Plan in May 2013. The Plan sets out 
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MAX Light Rail 
project planning 
commenced
DoT is leading the $15.8 million planning 
phase for the State Government’s MAX Light 
Rail project. Comprehensive business cases 
to secure the necessary State and Federal 
funding are currently being produced. 

Western Australian
Regional Freight
Transport Network 
Plan completed
The Western Australian Regional Freight 
Transport Network Plan was released in 
May 2013. The Plan sets out the State’s fi rst 
integrated strategic program of planning, policy 
and capital project priorities for the regions to 
meet Western Australia’s freight task to 2031.

Phase two of 
State Aviation
Strategy completed
DoT completed phase two of Western 
Australia’s fi rst State Aviation Strategy in 
June 2013 in preparation for release of the 
draft Strategy in mid 2013-14. The Strategy 
supports Western Australia’s economic and 
social development through the provision of 
safe, affordable, effi cient and effective aviation 
services and infrastructure.

Executive summary

Highlights 
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Draft for Consultation
Moving People
Network Plan 
neared completion
The Draft for Consultation Moving People 
Network Plan neared completion in 2012-13 
and will be presented to State Government 
for consideration in early 2013-14. The Plan 
provides a strategic approach to moving Perth 
and Peel’s rapidly growing population as the 
city moves towards 2.7 million people.

Augusta Boat
Harbour milestone 
reached
The Royalties for Regions funded Augusta 
Boat Harbour reached a major milestone 
in April 2013 when the 600m southern 
breakwater and the 150m northern 
breakwater footprints were constructed to 
the minimum level. 

Phase two of 
$7.74 million taxi
camera surveillance 
fi t-out completed
Phase two of DoT’s $7.74 million Taxi Camera 
Surveillance Unit replacement project was 
successfully completed on schedule by 
30 June 2013. Over 90 per cent of the 
metropolitan taxi fl eet are now equipped with 
cameras, improving security to passengers 
and drivers. 

Learmonth Airport
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Mobile security
patrols in place to 
support taxi drivers
In April 2013, DoT appointed Wilson Security 
to provide mobile security patrols across 
the metropolitan area for the next three 
years. The $1.6 million initiative aims to deter 
antisocial behaviour in and around taxis on 
Friday and Saturday nights. 

Practical Driving
Assessment 
bookings now online
In June 2013, DoT launched its first online 
booking system for Practical Driving 
Assessments. The new system provides 
customers maximum convenience 
and choice.

DoT’s TransForm
project successfully 
completed
In November 2012, DoT became the largest 
State Government agency to successfully 
decommission all finance, procurement, 
human resources and payroll services from 
the Office of Shared Services. 

Executive summary

Highlights 
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DoT recognised for removing
barriers to driver licensing 
in remote areas
DoT received an Institute of Public Administration Western Australia 
Achievement Award in June 2013. The Best Practice in Collaboration 
Across Government Agencies in the Same Jurisdiction award 
recognises DoT’s successful efforts in removing barriers to driver 
licensing in remote areas. 

Remote Licensing vehicle
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Financial summary
DoT provides services to numerous stakeholders, clients and customers, 
aggregated into the following high-level service categories:

 Æ Transport system and services development, planning, operation and 
regulation;

 Æ Motor vehicle and driver licensing services; and

 Æ Strategic Transport Policy and Integrated Transport Planning.

Gross expenses in 2012-13 totalled $357.72 million and the net 
cost of services, which takes into account operating revenue, was 
$164.13 million. The following charts illustrate gross expenses by service 
and expense categories.

Expenditure by services 
$357.72 million (m)

Operating expenses by category 
$357.72 million (m)

DoT generates income from operating activities primarily in the areas 
of driver and vehicle services, management of coastal facilities, marine 
safety, parking levies in the Perth CBD and regulation of the taxi industry. 

Income by category 
$193.60 million (m)

Transport system planning 
and regulation

Motor vehicle and driver
licensing services

Strategic Transport Policy
and Integrated Planning

$110.507m$71.077m

$176.138m

Employee expenses

Supplies and services

Depreciation and 
amortisation expense
Accommodation expenses

Grants and subsidies

All other expenses

$130.293m$88.997m

$107.638m

$12.137m

$14.431m

$4.226m

User charges and fees

Sales

Grants and subsidies

Interest revenues

Other revenues

$43.844m $139.811m

$1.676m

$7.980m
$286m
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DoT managed a diverse physical asset base totalling 
$402.26 million to deliver its services. The chart below shows 
the distribution by asset class.

DoT’s equity at 30 June 2013 was $654.43 million.

Assets under management 
$402.26 million (m)

DoT also administers functions where the revenue is taken directly 
to the Consolidated Fund or to other Government agencies. Total 
administered revenue from these functions totalled $1.79 billion in 
2012-13, as illustrated below.

Administered revenues 
$1.79 billion

Property, plant, equipment
vehicles and vessels

Infrastructure

Intangible assets

Construction in progress

$20.039m
$170.011m

$39.119m

$173.087m

Motor drivers' licences

Motor vehicle registrations

Plate and transfer infringements

Recording fees

Speed and red light 
infringement fines

Stamp duty

Third party motor vehicle 
insurance premiums

Other  

$616.462m$570.696m

$47.782m$404.090m

$9.094m $38.147m

$7.463m

$95.917m
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Operational structure
THE TRANSPORT PORTFOLIO
DoT is a key agency in the State Government’s 
Transport portfolio, which integrates and 
enhances coordination of the State’s transport 
operations, regulatory functions and policy 
development processes.

Throughout 2012-13, Mr Reece Waldock 
concurrently held the positions of Director 
General of the Department of Transport; 
Commissioner for MRWA; and Chief Executive 
Officer of PTA.

The structure of the Transport portfolio 
is outlined in the Organisational Chart on 
page 17.

THE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORT
DoT delivers its services through two 
divisions – Policy, Planning and Investment 
and Transport Services. 

Policy, Planning and Investment provides 
strategic transport policy, integrated 
transport planning solutions and coordinated 
investment decisions, in collaboration with key 
stakeholders, which assist in the development 
of a sustainable transport system for the 
movement of people and goods.

Transport Services leads and manages the 
delivery of a number of specialist transport 
services, including driver and vehicle services, 
coastal infrastructure, passenger services and 
marine and rail safety.

The core functions of each directorate that 
make up these divisions are outlined in the 
Organisational Chart on w 18-19.

CHANGES TO THE DEPARTMENT 
IN 2012-13
DoT established a MAX Light Rail Directorate 
in September 2012. The directorate, which 
operates within DoT’s Policy, Planning and 
Investment Division, is responsible for planning 
of the MAX Light Rail project. 

ENABLING LEGISLATION
The Department of Transport was established 
as a Department on 1 July 2009, under the 
Public Sector Management Act 1994.

RESPONSIBLE MINISTER
Troy Buswell MLA, Minister for Transport.
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

Transport Portfolio

Port Authority 
Boards

Public Transport Authority

MINISTER  
FOR TRANSPORT

DEPUTY DIRECTOR GENERAL  
Policy, Planning & Investment  

Sue McCarrey

MANAGING DIRECTOR 
Transport Services  

Nina Lyhne

MANAGING DIRECTOR 
Main Roads WA 

Stephen Troughton

MANAGING DIRECTOR  
PTA 

Mark Burgess

Department of Transport Main Roads WA

Port Authorities

DIRECTOR  
Office of the Director General 

Richard Barrett

DIRECTOR GENERAL  
Transport

Reece Waldock

BROOME  
Port Authority

PORT HEDLAND  
Port Authority

DAMPIER  
Port Authority

GERALDTON  
Port Authority

FREMANTLE  
Port Authority

BUNBURY  
Port Authority

ALBANY  
Port Authority

ESPERANCE  
Port Authority
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

Department of Transport MINISTER FOR TRANSPORT

DEPUTY DIRECTOR GENERAL  
Policy, Planning & Investment  

Sue McCarrey

DIRECTOR  
Office of the Director General 

Richard Barrett

Portfolio Coordination, Communications,  
Ministerial and Government Business and  

Governance and Audit

DIRECTOR GENERAL  
Transport

Reece Waldock

EXECUTIVE  
DIRECTOR  

Major Transport  
Projects 

Alison Coates

PROJECT DIRECTOR  
Metro Area Express 

(MAX) Light Rail 
Project 

Dave Thomas

EXECUTIVE  
DIRECTOR  

Integrated Transport 
Planning 

Steve Beyer

EXECUTIVE  
DIRECTOR  

Transport Policy  
& Systems 

Brett Hughes

EXECUTIVE  
DIRECTOR 

 Ports & Maritime 
Peter Parolo

Maritime Policy 

Ports Act and 
Reform

Compliance, Analysis  
and Review

Ports Reporting and 
Coordination

Strategic Transport 
Policy

Freight Policy

Aviation Policy

Active Transport

Freight and Logistics 
Council

Transport System 
Performance

Network Planning – 
Moving Freight

Network Planning – 
Moving People

Travel Demand 
Management

Fremantle Port 
Linkages Strategy

Ports Governance 
Review 
Implementation

Broome Port/Browse 
Basin Support

Esperance Port 
Multi‑User Iron Ore 
Facility Project

Delivery of the MAX 
Light Rail Project

Human Resources

Organisational 
Development

Occupational Health 
and Safety

EXECUTIVE  
DIRECTOR 

Investment & Finance 
Coordination  
Graeme Doyle

Chief Finance Officer

Portfolio Strategic 
Investment 
Coordination

Accounting Services

Budget Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR  
 People &  

Organisational 
Development 
Fiona Knobel

Departmental  
Services
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MANAGING DIRECTOR 
Transport Services  

Nina Lyhne

GENERAL MANAGER 
Driver and Vehicle 

Services 
Michael D’souza

Strategy, Policy and 
Governance

Customer Service 
Delivery

Revenue Management 
and Business Support

Business Systems and 
Technology

GENERAL MANAGER 
Regional Services 
Peter Ollerenshaw

Regional Services

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR  
Coastal Infrastructure 

Steve Jenkins

Business Support 

Coastal Information 

Maritime Planning

Project Delivery

Coastal Facilities 
Management

MANAGER  
Marine Safety 
David Harrod

Business Planning 
and Support

Policy and Projects

Investigations

Commercial Vessel 
Safety

Safety Education

Safety and Compliance

Navigational Safety 
and Moorings

Safety and Environment

DIRECTOR  
Office of Rail Safety 

Rob Burrows

Rail Safety

GENERAL MANAGER 
Passenger Services 

Aaron de Rozario

Industry Development

Education and 
Compliance

Administration

Legal and Legislative 
Services

Accommodation and 
Building Services

Procurement and Fleet 
Services

Information 
Management

Strategic Information 
Technology Planning

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR  
Corporate Services 

Dennis O’Reilly

Information 
Technology Support 
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CORPORATE EXECUTIVE

Reece Waldock

Director General 

Appointed as the head of the State Government’s 
three Transport portfolio agencies in May 2010, 
Reece holds a unique leadership position within 
the Western Australian public sector, as Director 
General of DoT, Commissioner for MRWA and 
Chief Executive Officer of the PTA.

His appointment as Director General culminated 
a 20-year journey within various state government 
transport agencies. Prior to his public sector career, Reece held a 
number of senior management roles with BHP.

With Western Australia undergoing a period of rapid population and 
economic growth, as the head of the three Transport portfolio agencies, 
Reece is responsible for setting the strategic direction of transport in 
the state, guiding the development of a number of major integrated 
transport plans and leading the implementation of a number of 
Western Australia’s most transformational capital projects.

Reece is a Board Member of the Western Australian Planning 
Commission, is on the board of Leadership WA, and is a Director of the 
Australian Urban Design Research Centre. He also chairs the Gateway 
WA, Perth City Link, MAX Light Rail, Airport Rail Link and new Perth 
Stadium Transport steering committees.

 

Sue McCarrey

Deputy Director General, 
Policy, Planning and Investment

Sue was appointed to the position of Deputy 
Director General – Policy Planning and 
Investment in May 2010. Since joining DoT, she 
has led a review of port authority governance, the 
State Aviation Strategy, metropolitan transport 
planning and the Regional Freight Transport Plan. 

Sue was a member of PTA Executive for 
eight years, most recently in the position of Executive Director Safety 
and Strategic Development and has also worked in a number of 
Government administration roles within the Department of Education, 
including policy development and review, strategic planning and 
Commonwealth-State relations. 

Sue’s law degree and post-graduate qualifications in policy and 
administration provide her with expertise in Government policy 
and administration, including legal frameworks and the mechanics 
of Government. She is the current President of the Western Australia 
Institute of Public Administration Australia.
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Nina Lyhne

Managing Director, Transport Services

Nina joined DoT in January 2011 as the 
Managing Director Transport Services. 
Nina holds a Bachelor of Arts in Psychology 
and has previously held the positions of 
WorkSafe Western Australia Commissioner and 
the Executive Director of the Office of Road 
Safety. Nina has worked in diverse roles across 
government agencies in sectors ranging from 
trade and commerce to community development and occupational 
safety and health. 

In her role as Managing Director Transport Services, Nina is responsible 
for the delivery of a wide range of transport-related services to the 
Western Australian community including driver licensing, vehicle 
registration, personal on-demand transport including taxis, rail safety, 
marine safety, coastal infrastructure for small boats and regional services 
and the provision of information technology, people and corporate 
services for the Department.

Richard Barrett

Director, Office of the Director General

Richard joined DoT in July 2010 as the Director, 
Office of the Director General. In this position, 
Richard leads the Office of the Director General 
and is responsible for the Communications, 
Ministerial and Government Business, 
and Governance and Audit branches at 
the Department.

With the Director General heading up the three 
Transport portfolio agencies – DoT, MRWA and PTA – Richard is 
also responsible for strategic communication, portfolio coordination, 
government relations, governance and strategic issues across the 
Transport portfolio. 

Previously, Richard was Manager, Corporate Communications at 
PTA, where he was responsible for strategic internal and external 
communications. This role included oversight of the communications 
effort for New MetroRail, the largest public infrastructure project ever 
undertaken in Western Australia, which culminated with the opening of 
the Mandurah Line.

Richard holds a Bachelor of Commerce, a Bachelor of Arts and is a 
Fellow of Leadership WA.
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Fiona Knobel

Executive Director, People and 
Organisational Development

Fiona joined DoT as the Executive Director 
of People and Organisational Development 
in July 2011. She has more than 20 years’ 
experience in a range of human resources, 
change management and organisational 
development roles in both the public and 
private sectors. 

Her expertise in aligning the people, performance and culture of 
organisations with financial and non-financial business results is well 
supported by a Masters in Business and a Graduate Diploma from the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors.

In her role, Fiona leads the people and organisational development 
strategies that enable DoT to achieve its vision, mission and 
desired culture. 

Graeme Doyle

Executive Director, Investment and 
Finance Coordination 

Graeme joined DoT as the Executive Director, 
Investment and Finance Coordination in 
August 2011. He is a qualified CPA with 
more than 30 years’ experience in financial 
management across the WA public sector. 
During this time, he has held senior roles at the 
Department of Treasury in whole-of-government 
budget management, fiscal strategy and financial policy. 

Graeme also has experience as the Chief Financial Officer for the 
Department of the Attorney General and in leading corporate services 
for the Department of Corrective Services.

In his role at DoT, Graeme oversees the Department’s Investment and 
Finance Coordination directorate, which is responsible for developing 
Transport portfolio investment programs and the overall financial 
management of the Department.

CORPORATE EXECUTIVE
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Dennis O’Reilly

Executive Director, Corporate Services

Dennis returned to DoT as the Executive 
Director Corporate Services in February 2012 
following six and a half years leading MRWA’s 
customer service transformation. Prior to his 
time at MRWA, Dennis, a public servant of over 
20 years, headed up DoT’s Regional Services 
Business Unit.

In his current role, Dennis builds partnerships 
with internal partners to provide quality services in regards to 
accommodation and buildings, procurement and fleet, strategic 
information and technology, information and records management, 
as well as legal and legislative services. 

During his time with Corporate Services, Dennis has provided his 
team with a clear focus in the areas of customer service, relationship 
building, business improvement and innovation, and governance 
and accountability.

Dennis has overseen the implementation of a significant reform agenda 
over the last 12 months resulting in Corporate Services’ partnering with 
business units to provide “best for business” outcomes. 

Michael D’souza

General Manager, Driver and 
Vehicle Services

Michael has been the General Manager, 
Driver and Vehicle Services (DVS) since 
September 2010.

Prior to this, Michael, a qualified accountant 
and information technology specialist, was the 
Executive Director Strategy Corporate Support 
with the former Department for Planning and 
Infrastructure (DPI) and he has held various senior roles in the public 
and private sectors.

He is responsible for all matters relating to DVS within the Department. 
Key to this is delivering better customer service for the community of 
Western Australia and achieving the outcomes of safe drivers, safe 
vehicles and secure identities.

In addition, Michael is responsible for the provision of information 
technology for DoT and providing infrastructure support to Department 
of Planning (DoP) and the Department of Regional Development and 
Lands (RDL).
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ADMINISTERED LEGISLATION 
On behalf of the Minister for Transport, 
DoT administers the following Acts:

 Æ Air Navigation Act 1937

 Æ Civil Aviation (Carriers’ Liability) Act 1961

 Æ Damage by Aircraft Act 1964

 Æ Harbours and Jetties Act 1928

 Æ Jetties Act 1926

 Æ Lights (Navigation Protection) Act 1938

 Æ Marine and Harbours Act 1981

 Æ Marine Navigational Aids Act 1973

 Æ Maritime Fees and Charges (Taxing) 
Act 1999

 Æ Motor Vehicle Drivers Instructors Act 1963

 Æ Owner-Drivers (Contracts and Disputes) 
Act 2007

 Æ Perth Parking Management Act 1999

 Æ Perth Parking Management (Consequential 
Provisions) Act 1999 

 Æ Perth Parking Management (Taxing) 
Act 1999

 Æ Pilots’ Limitation of Liability Act 1962

 Æ Pollution of Waters By Oil and Noxious 
Substances Act 1987 

 Æ Port Authorities Act 1999

 Æ Rail Safety Act 2010

 Æ Railway Discontinuance Act 2006

 Æ Railway Discontinuance Act (No 2) 2006

 Æ Railway (Butler to Brighton) Act 2010

 Æ Railway (Tilley to Karara) Act 2010

 Æ Road Traffic Act 1974

 Æ Road Traffic (Administration) Act 2008

 Æ Road Traffic Amendment (Dangerous 
Driving) Act 2004

 Æ Road Traffic (Authorisation to Drive) 
Act 2008

 Æ Road Traffic (Vehicles) Act 2012

 Æ Road Traffic (Vehicle Licensing) (Taxing) 
Act 2001

 Æ Road Traffic (Vehicles) (Taxing) Act 2008

 Æ Sea Carriage of Goods Act 1909

 Æ Shipping and Pilotage Act 1967

 Æ Taxi Act 1994

 Æ Trans-Continental Railway Act 1911

 Æ Transport Co-ordination Act 1966

 Æ Western Australian Marine Act 1982

 Æ Western Australian Marine (Sea Dumping) 
Act 1981

 Æ Wire and Wire Netting Act 1926
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Other legislation affecting the functions and 
operation of DoT include:

 Æ State Records Act 2000

 Æ State Trading Concerns Act 1916

 Æ Criminal Code 1913

 Æ Electronic Transactions Act 2011

 Æ Evidence Act 1906

 Æ Financial Management Act 2006

 Æ Freedom of Information Act 1992

 Æ Limitation Act 2005

 Æ Public Sector Management Act 1994

 Æ Disability Services Act 1993

 Æ Equal Opportunity Act 1984

 Æ Industrial Relations Act 1979

 Æ Interpretation Act 1984

 Æ Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951

 Æ Minimum Conditions of Employment 
Act 1993 

 Æ Native Title Act (Commonwealth) 1993 

 Æ Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

 Æ Royal Commission (Custody of Records) 
Act 1992

 Æ State Supply Commission Act 1991

Batavia Coast Marina, Geraldton
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Performance management framework
OUTCOME-BASED MANAGEMENT 
FRAMEWORK 
The transport function is integral to business 
and commerce and is important for social 
interaction and connecting communities. 
DoT’s focus is on strategic transport policy 
and planning, regulation, and the delivery 
of safe and sustainable transport services 
and programs. This includes the licensing 
of drivers, vehicles and vessels, developing 
and planning infrastructure, and setting and 
ensuring service and safety standards across 
the range of public and commercial transport 
systems in Western Australia. 

Together with its portfolio partners, DoT has 
the expertise to deliver the high quality and 
integrated transport policy, services and plans 
needed to connect a complex, inter-related 
economic and social network. DoT connects 
people with goods and services through an 
intricate system of roads, railways, airports, 
ports and waterways, and keeps people safe 
within those networks through an integrated 
approach to planning, licensing, education and 
compliance strategies. 

The breadth and diversity of DoT’s functions 
and services mean that DoT contributes 
to two of the Government’s strategic goals 
outlined below. 

GOVERNMENT STRATEGIC GOALS DOT OUTCOMES DOT SERVICES

Outcomes Based Service Delivery
Greater focus on achieving results in key 
service delivery areas for the benefit of all 
Western Australians.

1. An accessible and safe 
transport system

1. Transport system and services 
development, planning, 
operation and regulation

2. Vehicles and road users 
that meet established 
vehicle standards and driver 
competencies to deliver safe 
vehicles and safe drivers

2. Driver and Vehicle Services

State Building – Major Projects
Building strategic infrastructure that will 
create jobs and underpin Western Australia’s 
long‑term economic development.

3. Integrated transport 
systems that facilitate 
economic development

3. Strategic Transport Policy and 
Integrated Planning
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INITIATIVE: INDIAN OCEAN TERRITORIES

Related outcome DoT, through a Service Delivery Arrangement with the Commonwealth Government, supports the delivery of an efficient, safe, effective and 
equitable transport system in the Indian Ocean Territories. Through the provision of appropriate advice, services and support, as requested by 
the Commonwealth, the arrangement aims to achieve consistency as far as practicable with the Western Australia’s transport system. 

Contributing agencies  Æ Indian Ocean Territories (Commonwealth)

Report against target  Æ In November 2012 and July 2013, DoT staff visited the islands to meet with key stakeholders to carry out compliance activities and provide 
training and support as required.

 Æ Throughout the year, DoT has regularly met with the Commonwealth staff to ensure open dialogue and discuss issues relating to 
management of the agreement. 

 Æ DoT continues to receive positive feedback from the Commonwealth on the level of support and advice provided by DoT. 

CHANGES TO OUTCOME-BASED 
MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 
DoT sought and received approval for minor 
changes to its Outcome Based Management 
Framework for 2012-13. 

The changes are as follows:

 Æ Outcome 2 and Service 2 description 
changed to better reflect a focus on safer 
vehicles and safe drivers.

 Æ Services 3 and 4 amalgamated into a 
single service. 

 Æ Effectiveness Key Performance Indicator 
Percentage of standard metropolitan (non 
multi-purpose) taxi jobs which were not 
covered split into two percentages: 

(i) taxi jobs not covered during peak 
period; and 

(ii) taxi jobs not covered during the off-peak 
period.

These changes were reflected in the 2012-13 
Budget Papers.

SHARED RESPONSIBILITIES WITH 
OTHER AGENCIES
DoT shares responsibility with MRWA and PTA 
to deliver high quality and integrated transport 
policy, through planning, regulation, investment 
coordination and the delivery of safe and 
sustainable transport services. 

DoT also work closely with the eight 
Western Australian port authorities, providing 
leadership in developing investment programs 
and strategies, supporting reforms and 
initiatives, and assisting ports to facilitate trade 
through the development of ports strategies.

DoT is responsible for coordinating the 
delivery and reporting on whole-of-
government and cross-agency initiatives. 
These initiatives have shared accountability 
for the successful implementation of 
government reform initiatives. The shared 
responsibilities with other agencies are 
detailed in the table below.
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INITIATIVE: OUTREACH SERVICES

Related outcome DoT has established partnerships with a number of Government agencies to implement a licensing outreach initiative. The initiative is designed to 
deliver licensing services and driver education programs that help people in remote areas attain a driver’s licence.
A component of the outreach service is the pilot Grant Scheme, which aims to enable not‑for‑profit and other organisations to deliver approved 
driver training programs to learner drivers residing in remote areas.

Contributing agencies  Æ DoT
 Æ Department of the Attorney General (DoTAG)
 Æ Department of Indigenous Affairs
 Æ Department of Housing (DoH)
 Æ Insurance Commission of WA
 Æ Office of Road Safety

 Æ Department of Training and Workplace Development
 Æ Department of Education
 Æ WA Police
 Æ Department of Corrective Services
 Æ RDL

Report against target  Æ Following approval of funding in November 2011, an outreach service was established and delivery of services commenced in 
September 2012. 

 Æ Regular visits occur to remote communities to deliver driver and vehicle licensing services. Level of service is comparable to regional offices.
 Æ Outreach staff assist clients with non‑DoT matters such as fines, suspensions and proof of identity documents.
 Æ Grants scheme pilot has commenced. Yungngora Association (Noonkanbah Station) in the West Kimberley region is fully operational with a 
licensed driving instructor and dual‑control vehicle. Jigalong community in the Pilbara has been awarded a grant and a driving instructor is 
undergoing training.

INITIATIVE: ENHANCED FINE SANCTIONS

Related outcome Using enhanced identity security capability to assist partner organisations to access and manage critical enforcement programs in real time.

Contributing agencies  Æ DoT
 Æ WA Police 
 Æ DoTAG

Report against target  Æ The Enhanced Fine Sanctions project has been initiated to manage the changes presented by the Fines, Penalties and Infringement Notice 
Enforcement Amendment Bill 2012. 

 Æ The Bill gives DoTAG, specifically sheriffs, more power to recover unpaid court fines and infringements registered with the Fines Enforcement 
Registry (FER). 

 Æ Significant TRELIS System changes have been made to accommodate the enhanced fines management system. This new system will assist 
DoTAG to pursue offenders of the FER.

 Æ This system will also enable WA Police to get real time information on their system from TRELIS for driver’s licences, vehicle licences and 
vehicle ownership.
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INITIATIVE: REFRESH OF THE TRELIS SYSTEM FOR THE INDIAN OCEAN TERRITORIES:  
CHRISTMAS ISLAND AND THE COCOS (KEELING) ISLAND

Related outcome The successful refresh of the TRELIS System for the Indian Ocean Territories: Christmas Island and the Cocos (Keeling) Islands to update their 
licensing systems.

Contributing agencies  Æ DoT
 Æ The Commonwealth Department of Regional Australia 

Report against target DVS provide ongoing support and enhancement while maintaining the currency of the functionality to meet changes in legislation.

INITIATIVE: DOT OPERATES AND HOSTS A SHARED SERVICE FOR SELECTED CORPORATE FUNCTIONS FOR RDL AND DOP

Related outcome The Machinery of Government changes to the Department for Planning and Infrastructure included the necessity to operate a shared 
IT infrastructure service hosted by DoT. This shared service continues to realise economies of scale and therefore cost neutrality for Government. 
This arrangement is managed through signed Service Level Agreements between DoT, RDL and DoP.

Contributing agencies  Æ DoT
 Æ RDL
 Æ DoP

Report against target DoT have provided RDL and DoP with:
 Æ appropriate information communication technology equipment;
 Æ a seamless service to ensure that the appropriate equipment is in place to enable duties to be completed to the required standard;
 Æ a comprehensive configuration management service and appropriate records for this service;
 Æ system application maintenance to meet business requirements;
 Æ management of physical infrastructure and environments;
 Æ management of physical and electronic security – internet, firewall and servers;
 Æ management of service continuity;
 Æ management of network infrastructure – network and telecommunications administration;
 Æ management of security threats; and
 Æ management of incidents.
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INITIATIVE: “TRANSFORM” – TRANSITIONING FROM THE OFFICE OF SHARED SERVICES

Related outcome TransForm was a major strategic activity that saw the successful transition of Finance, Procurement, Human Resources and Payroll services back 
into DoT.

Contributing agencies  Æ DoT
 Æ Department of Finance
 Æ Department of Commerce
 Æ Other State Government agencies

Report against target  Æ DoT worked in close partnership with the Department of Finance on transitioning finance, procurement, human resources and payroll services 
back into DoT.

 Æ As one of the first agencies to decommission, DoT played a key role in shaping the processes that were applied to the rest of the 
decommissioning program.

 Æ DoT partnered with the Department of Commerce to develop a payroll solution, the foundation of which was applied to other decommissioning 
agencies reducing the overall cost to Government. 

 Æ DoT freely and willingly made available business case and project plan documentation and delivered lessons learned presentations to other 
Government agencies to help them prepare for decommissioning.

INITIATIVE: AMALGAMATION OF WA PORT AUTHORITIES

Related outcome To consolidate the State’s port authorities into four regional port authorities (with Fremantle Ports to remain a stand‑alone port authority), and to 
bring the non‑port authority ports currently controlled by DoT under the jurisdiction of the new regional port authorities. 

Contributing agencies  Æ DoT
 Æ Port Authorities
 Æ Department of Treasury
 Æ Department of State Development (DSD)
 Æ Department of Mines and Petroleum (DMP)
 Æ RDL
 Æ State Solicitor’s Office

Report against target  Æ Chaired and provided secretariat support to the steering committee, participated on all four ports working groups, and chaired the inter‑
agency working group.

 Æ Progressed amendments to the Port Authorities Act 1999 to effect the amalgamation.
 Æ Published A Vision for Western Australia’s Ports and The Role of Ports in Western Australia, providing background to the Government’s 
decision to amalgamate the port authorities.

Department of Transport Annual Report 2012-1330



INITIATIVE: ESPERANCE MULTI USER IRON ORE FACILITY

Related outcome This is a project to increase Esperance Port’s iron ore handling capacity to cater for the export of iron ore from mines in the Yilgarn region. 
The objective is to procure a private sector entity to design, finance, build, maintain and operate iron ore handling facilities at Esperance Port that 
satisfy the demands of multiple users on a commercially viable basis.

Contributing agencies  Æ DoT
 Æ Esperance Port Authority
 Æ Department of Treasury

Report against target  Æ Completion of a market‑sounding exercise.
 Æ Completion of Registration of Interest and pre‑qualification of entities.
 Æ Development of Request for Proposal documentation.

INITIATIVE: KEWDALE INTERMODAL RAIL SUPPLY CHAIN (KIRSC)

Related outcome This initiative seeks to maximise the productivity of the Fremantle Port Authority’s (FPA) inner harbour and manage the associated traffic impacts 
through improved landside port access. Actions include: 

 Æ increasing the share of containers carried by rail to and from the port;
 Æ improving the performance of the logistics chain; and
 Æ upgrading rail infrastructure on freight routes leading to and from the port.

Contributing agencies  Æ DoT
 Æ PTA
 Æ MRWA
 Æ FPA
 Æ Brookfield Rail Pty Ltd

Report against target Joint funding of $38 million from the State Government and the Commonwealth’s Nation Building fund will provide for:
 Æ extension of the North Quay rail terminal to accommodate longer trains and improve operating efficiencies at the port; and
 Æ construction of a rail passing loop between Fremantle and Kewdale to improve rail line capacity into the Inner Harbour.

The design phase of these projects was completed in 2012‑13 and construction is expected to be completed in 2013‑14.
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INITIATIVE: REGIONAL AIRPORT DEVELOPMENT SCHEME (RADS)

Related outcome The objective of RADS is to ensure regional aviation infrastructure and airport services are developed and maintained to facilitate air access and 
enhance economic growth in Western Australia.
RADS strengthens regional communities and improves transport and accessibility. It supports Western Australia’s rural population and provides 
greater opportunities for industry, tourism and regional development through improved airport infrastructure now and into the future.
Since RADS started in 1997, more than $34 million has been committed to approximately 300 regional aviation projects, with a total project value 
of more than $86 million. 
From 2008 onwards, the RADS program has been supported by a combination of DoT and Royalties for Regions funding. A total of $27 million 
worth of RfR funding will be allocated to RADS projects from 2008‑09 through to the 2014‑15 financial year.

Contributing agencies  Æ DoT
 Æ RDL
 Æ Department of Infrastructure and Transport (Commonwealth)
 Æ Local Government

Report against target  Æ The 2012–13 RADS funding round allocated over $8 million to 43 projects in regional Western Australia. The grants ranged from $5,000 to 
$1.8 million.

INITIATIVE: RECREATIONAL BOATING FACILITIES SCHEME (RBFS)

Related outcome DoT administers the RBFS on behalf of the State Government. The RBFS, which is funded directly from recreational boat registration fees 
and, for rounds 16 ‑19, Royalties for Regions, helps to improve recreational boating infrastructure by providing grants to eligible authorities 
around the State.  
Since 1998, the RBFS has significantly benefited recreational boating with more than $30 million granted to 346 projects located from 
Wyndham to Esperance.  
By 2013‑14 $20 million in Royalties for Regions funding will have been allocated to RBFS projects.

Contributing agencies  Æ DoT
 Æ RDL
 Æ Local Government

Report against target In May 2013, Transport Minister Troy Buswell and Regional Development Minister Brendon Grylls announced that 26 projects throughout 
Western Australia would receive a total of $4 million in Round 18 of the RBFS.
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INITIATIVE: HIGH WIDE LOADS – STRATEGIC PLANNING AND POLICY STUDY 

Related outcome DoT and MRWA have undertaken a strategic policy and planning study of the movement of oversize loads in response to indications that the size, 
mass and frequency of oversize load movements across the State are increasing. 
Stage one of the study has achieved its objectives, which were to define a current and future regional network and proposed dimensional 
envelopes (height, width, length, weight), as well as works required and indicative costs to upgrade or relocate existing infrastructure.
Subsequent to the completion of the Stage one work led by DoT, MRWA Heavy Vehicle Operations (HVO) is now leading Stage two, with DoT 
providing ongoing input.

Contributing agencies  Æ DoT
 Æ MRWA

Report against target  Æ Steering committee and working groups (joint industry and Government) created. 
 Æ MRWA HVO and DoT have allocated resources to undertake work, which commenced in March 2013.

INITIATIVE: MANAGEMENT OF PERTH PARKING REVENUE

Related outcome Management of the supply and use of parking in the Perth CBD under the Perth Parking Management Act 1999 (the Act), the Perth Parking 
Management Regulations 1999 (the Regulations) and the Perth Parking Policy (the Policy).
DoT is responsible for undertaking integrated transport planning for the metropolitan and regional transport networks, including the administration 
of the Act, Regulations and Policy. Its responsibilities include:

 Æ Policy development. 
 Æ Ensuring application of the policy.
 Æ All compliance activity related to Perth Parking.
 Æ Legislative and regulatory amendments and implementation.
 Æ Development of proposals for funding from the Perth Parking Licensing Account (PPLA).
 Æ Administering the expenditure of funds from the PPLA.

The Office of State Revenue carries out various administrative functions within the auspices of the Act and Regulations, primarily related to the 
issuing of invoices, acceptance of payments and other tasks associated with the administration of the Perth Parking Licensing System.

Contributing agencies  Æ Office of State Revenue

Report against target  Æ No targets previously set.
 Æ This is an ongoing administrative arrangement.
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INITIATIVE: WESTERN AUSTRALIAN REGIONAL FREIGHT TRANSPORT NETWORK PLAN

Related outcome The Western Australian Regional Freight Transport Network Plan defines the principal freight network for regional Western Australia, investment 
priorities over the next two decades and a clear context for new policy decisions in relation to the role of Government and the private sector for 
infrastructure investment, regulation for the safe and efficient movement of freight and opportunities to change the way freight is moved.

Contributing agencies  Æ MRWA
 Æ PTA
 Æ DSD

 Æ DMP
 Æ Brookfield Rail Pty Ltd
 Æ Western Australia’s Port Authorities

Report against target  Æ State Government approval and release of the Plan.

INITIATIVE: METROPOLITAN FREIGHT AND INTERMODAL NETWORK PLAN

Related outcome The Metropolitan Freight and Intermodal Network Plan (the Plan) will strategically define Perth’s primary freight network, identify investment 
priorities over the next two decades and provide a clear strategy for how road and rail freight operations can be optimised to provide for the most 
efficient movement of freight.

Contributing agencies  Æ MRWA
 Æ PTA
 Æ Brookfield Rail Pty Ltd
 Æ FPA

Report against target  Æ DoT will submit a draft for consultation to the State Government for consideration in late 2013. 
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INITIATIVE: MOVING PEOPLE NETWORK PLAN

Related outcome The Moving People Network Plan provides a strategic approach to defining how best to move a rapidly growing population around Perth and Peel 
as the city approaches 2.7 million people. It builds on the work already undertaken to define priority networks for public transport – In Motion: 
A 20-Year Public Transport Plan for Perth and Peel – and cycling – the Western Australian Bicycle Network Plan.

Contributing agencies  Æ PTA
 Æ MRWA
 Æ DoP

Report against target  Æ The Draft for Consultation Plan neared completion in 2012‑13 and will be presented to State Government for consideration in early 2013‑14.
 Æ Progression of the development of the TransPriority initiative.

INITIATIVE: 20-YEAR PUBLIC TRANSPORT PLAN

Related outcome DoT works with the PTA to enhance the public transport network. In 2012‑13 DoT finalised In Motion: A 20-Year Public Transport Plan for Perth 
and Peel.

Contributing agencies  Æ DoT
 Æ PTA
 Æ DoP

Report against target  Æ Finalised the Plan for submission to State Government.
 Æ A total of $11.3 million over the 2011‑12 and 2012‑13 financial years has been provided to DoT and the PTA to undertake scoping, feasibility 
studies and concept designs for key road‑based transit (i.e. bus and light rail) elements of the plan. This will include direct consultation with 
local government and the community.
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INITIATIVE: WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BICYCLE NETWORK PLAN

Related outcome Implementation of the initiatives of the Western Australian Bicycle Network Plan, including administering of grants to local governments and 
schools, review of local bicycle routes and end of trip facilities for cyclists, development of a bicycle counting and monitoring strategy and the 
development of an online journey planner.

Contributing agencies  Æ MRWA
 Æ PTA
 Æ Local Government

Report against target  Æ 29 projects were implemented in the $2 million 2012‑13 program, totalling 11.4km of shared path infrastructure and 3.6km of on‑road 
infrastructure.

 Æ 17 projects were implemented in the $1.5 million 2012‑13 program, totalling 8.9km of shared path infrastructure.
 Æ Feasibility study conducted to assess options to provide end of trip facilities for cyclists in the Perth CBD.

INITIATIVE: MAX LIGHT RAIL PROJECT

Related outcome The MAX Light Rail project is an initiative that arose from the draft Public Transport Plan for Perth in 2031. The MAX project team is involved in 
the planning and feasibility phase of the light rail project. This entails the production of a business case for state and federal funding agencies, 
involving the detailed investigation of light rail to address the issues of the efficient movement of people and connectivity in the central northern 
corridor and central business district. 

Contributing agencies  Æ DoT
 Æ PTA
 Æ MRWA
 Æ DoP
 Æ Department of Treasury
 Æ DoH
 Æ RDL
 Æ Department of Infrastructure and Transport

 Æ Infrastructure Australia
 Æ Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority
 Æ City of Stirling
 Æ City of Vincent
 Æ City of Perth
 Æ City of Subiaco
 Æ City of Nedlands
 Æ Town of Victoria Park

Report against target  Æ Policy proposals for legislation submitted to Government.
 Æ Progress on the Real Potential business case.
 Æ Completion of the majority of the initial light rail concept designs.
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INITIATIVE: YOUR MOVE COCKBURN

Related outcome DoT is responsible for managing transport demand through the development and delivery of travel behaviour change programs. 
The Your Move project will be delivered in the City of Cockburn in 2013‑14, providing travel demand services to approximately 10,000 
households. The project aims to increase the use of active transport modes (walking, cycling and public transport) and physical activity levels in 
the community.
Transport outcomes include the alleviation of local traffic congestion and an increase in transport system efficiency due to a reduction in vehicle 
kilometres travelled and number of car trips, and an increase in walking and cycling. 

Contributing agencies  Æ DoT
 Æ PTA
 Æ Department of Sport and Recreation
 Æ City of Cockburn

Report against target DoT completed activities required to launch and deliver Your Move, including:
 Æ identifying, selecting and engaging diverse project partners;
 Æ negotiating significant financial contributions;
 Æ selecting a suitable program area through an expressions of interest process;
 Æ developing requisite MOUs with key partners;
 Æ engaging local workplaces and schools to participate in the program;
 Æ developing and establishing program contracts; and
 Æ designing and customising behaviour change activities and tools to maximise program efficacy and transport outcomes in the 
Cockburn context. 
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INITIATIVE: HEALTHY WORKERS INITIATIVE

Related outcome DoT delivers the active travel element of the Healthy Workers Initiative in Western Australia. Under a Memorandum of Understanding, the 
Department of Health funds DoT (2011‑12 to 2014‑15) to extend the TravelSmart Workplace program. The Department of Environment and 
Conservation (DEC) is a partner in delivery of the program.
The project primarily provides support to develop and implement workplace travel plans and includes development of tools and resources and the 
provision of assistance to workplaces to encourage active travel by their employees. 
Extending the TravelSmart Workplace program will increase the number of workplaces supported to take action, through promoting travel options 
to staff, improving bicycle facilities and providing incentives to use public transport, cycle or walk to work.

Contributing agencies  Æ DoT
 Æ DoH
 Æ DEC
 Æ A range of local governments and private organisations

Report against target  Æ Healthy Workers Initiative target to engage 15 individual workplaces and one cluster to develop workplace travel plans was exceeded with 
18 individual workplaces and one workplace cluster, ABN Group in Herdsman Business Park, engaged. 

Department of Transport Annual Report 2012-1338



Agency
Performance

Department of Transport Annual Report 2012-13 39



Report on operations
DOT’S ROLE IN ACHIEVING THE 
GOVERNMENT GOALS
In 2012-13, DoT supported the State Government’s goals of 
‘Outcomes Based Service Delivery’ and ‘State building – major 
projects’ by striving to achieve and exceed the following three 
outcomes:

1. An accessible and safe transport system.

2. Vehicles and road users that meet established vehicle 
standards and driver competencies to deliver safe vehicles 
and safe drivers.

3. Integrated transport systems that facilitate economic 
development.

DoT strived to achieve these outcomes by delivering the following 
corresponding services:

1. Transport system and services development, planning, 
operation and regulation.

2. Driver and Vehicle Services. 

3. Strategic Transport Policy and Integrated Planning.

DoT’s success in delivering these services and, in turn, achieving 
desired outcomes and contributing to the Government’s goals, is 
measured through key performance indicators. 

The report on operations contains a summary of DoT’s key 
performance indicators as well as information on the projects and 
programs that significantly contributed towards achieving each of 
the three outcomes in 2012-13. 
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Outcome one: 
AN ACCESSIBLE AND SAFE TRANSPORT SYSTEM

KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORS
2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Percentage of standard metropolitan 
(non multi‑purpose) taxi jobs which were not 
covered – peak

1.00% 4.75% A 3.96% increase in peak demand occurred in the 2012‑13 financial year.
The data indicates that the increase in the number of peak jobs not covered (9.08%) is 
higher than the increase in peak demand for jobs (3.96%). Given fleet size increased by 4%, 
this suggests that fleet efficiency may be decreasing.

Percentage of standard metropolitan 
(non multi‑purpose) taxi jobs which were not 
covered – off peak

 0.50% 1.67% A 1.51% increase in off‑peak demand occurred in the 2012‑13 financial year.
The data indicates that the increase in the number of off‑peak jobs not covered (3.25%) is 
higher than the increase in off‑peak demand for jobs (1.51%). This may suggest that fleet 
efficiency is decreasing.

Percentage by which the waiting time standard 
for metropolitan area taxis is met

91.0% 91.7% No significant variance.

Percentage of time maritime infrastructure is fit 
for purpose when required

99.71% 99.53% No significant variance.

Percentage of regional airports receiving 
Scheduled Regular Public Transport (RPT) 
air services 

100% 96% No significant variance.

Rate of reported incidents (accidents) on the 
water per 100 commercial vessels surveyed 
under the Western Australian Marine Act 1982

4.50 4.82 No significant variance.

Rate of reported incidents (accidents) on the water 
per 10,000 registered recreational vessels

10.00 9.48 No significant variance.

Rate of serious rail accidents per million 
train kilometres 

2.38 1.66 There has been a reduction in the number of Category A incidents (77 in 2011‑12 to 74 in 
2012‑13) and an increase in train kilometres from 2011‑12 of approximately two million.
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Service one: 
TRANSPORT SYSTEM AND SERVICES DEVELOPMENT, PLANNING, OPERATION AND REGULATION

KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS
2012-13
TARGET

2012-13 
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Cost of regulation per Taxi plate 
administered

$2,979.42 $3,097.91 No significant variance.

Average cost per day per maritime 
infrastructure asset managed

$58.67 $79.23 1. At the time that the 2012‑13 budget was forecast it was anticipated that approximately 
$7.3 million of the recurrent budget would be used for capital projects, predominantly to 
construct new infrastructure at Exmouth and Fremantle Fishing Boat Harbours. The target 
budget was therefore reduced by this amount, as capital works are not included in the KPI 
budget. However, it was subsequently decided that these works should be primarily funded 
from the Maritime Facilities Program and that the recurrent budget should be used to fund 
much needed minor works and repair and maintenance of aging infrastructure throughout 
the State, particularly at our North West facilities experiencing increased demand from the 
resources sector.

2. $1.2 million has been spent at our Onslow Maritime Facility to dredge the Beadon Creek 
channel to allow larger vessels servicing the resources sector to utilise the facility. 
This unbudgeted expense will be fully recouped from the user.

3. In 2012 sand bypassing works at Mandurah were undertaken by DoT and two thirds of these 
costs, $0.7 million, have been recouped from the City of Mandurah. This portion of the costs 
was not budgeted for, as it is recouped.

4. Jetty infrastructure has been upgraded and replaced at Barrack Square as part of the 
Elizabeth Quay project; with $0.9 million in assets disposed of, as part of this process.

Average survey cost per commercial vessel $2,939 $2,691 No significant variance.

Average cost per private recreational vessel 
registration

$98.54 $105.77 Estimated growth not achieved which resulted in provision of services costing more per vessel.
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KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS
2012-13
TARGET

2012-13 
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Cost to maintain marine pollution response 
preparedness per registered vessel

$20.36 $20.05 No significant variance.

Average cost per household contacted 
under the TravelSmart scheme

$466.81 N/A Due to a fixed recurrent budget, the yearly variance in the KPI is dependent on the number of 
households contacted per project.
The 2012‑13 KPI Budget Target was based on a reach of 3,000 households but this did 
not occur during the period. Instead, an extended program reach has been developed in 
partnership with the Department of Sport and Recreation. The partnership has provided service 
efficiencies and an increased project scale without an increase in DoT investment.
As an expanded project will be delivered in 2013‑14, no households were contacted in 
2012‑13. Contacts have been made with local government, schools and business to develop 
the program.  
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IMPLEMENTATION OF THE TAXI 
ACTION PLAN CONTINUED
DoT is responsible for implementing the State 
Government’s Taxi Action Plan for Perth’s taxi 
industry. The action plan is a suite of projects 
designed to lift driver standards, increase 
taxi availability and improve safety for drivers 
and passengers.

Key projects progressed under the plan in 
2012-13 include:

 Æ New occupational licensing system for 
taxi drivers 

 Æ CBD Rank Strategy

 Æ Taxi Camera Surveillance Unit 
replacement project

 Æ Mobile Security Patrols.

Legislation drafted for new 
occupational licensing system for 
taxi drivers

In 2012-13, DoT drafted legislation required 
to introduce its new occupational licensing 
system for all Western Australian taxi drivers, 
which includes a penalty point system and 
probation period for new drivers.

The Taxi Driver Licensing Bill will provide DoT 
with improved powers to enforce higher driver 
standards and give legal recognition to the 
Taxi Driver Code of Conduct. 

William Street 
Taxi Rank
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CBD Rank Strategy 
delivery underway

DoT finalised an integrated Taxi Rank Strategy 
for the Perth CBD in 2012. The strategy, 
developed in consultation with the City of 
Perth, the Taxi Council of Western Australia 
and the Taxi Industry Forum of Western 
Australia, is focused on developing visible, 
accessible and safe taxi ranks that meet the 
short, medium and long term transport needs 
in the Perth CBD. 

All parties involved in developing the strategy 
are now providing advice on its implementation 
through a reference group chaired by DoT. 
Since forming in 2012, the group has agreed 
on an in-principle funding proposal for 
infrastructure projects, through which DoT 
will contribute 75 per cent of the total cost of 
all projects. 

Considerable progress has also been made in 
identifying which ranks require improvement. 
All ranks in the CBD will receive new signage, 
providing more information for passengers and 
taxi drivers. Additionally, the following ranks will 
be enlarged:

 Æ Colin Street, West Perth 

 Æ 393 Murray Street, Perth

 Æ Corner of St Georges Terrace and  
King Street, Perth.

Phase two of the Taxi Camera 
Surveillance Unit Replacement 
Project completed

Phase two of DoT’s $7.74 million Taxi Camera 
Surveillance Unit replacement project was 
successfully completed on schedule by 
30 June 2013. In 2012-13, DoT approved 726 
grant subsidies to replace older model 3030 
and VerifEye Mark IV cameras across the 

metropolitan taxi fleet. More than 90 per cent 
of the fleet is now equipped with two internal 
and two external cameras with full in-cabin 
audio recording capabilities, providing 
improved security to passengers and drivers. 

The remainder of the metropolitan taxi fleet 
will be upgraded by January 2014 through the 
third and final phase of the project. 

Taxi Camera Surveillance Unit
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Project in profile: 
MOBILE SECURITY PATROLS IMPROVE DRIVER AND PASSENGER SAFETY

Antisocial behaviour in and around taxis 
is a risk to the safety and security of taxi 
drivers and their passengers. In 2012-13, 
DoT continued to address this issue by 
providing five mobile security patrols to 
support metropolitan taxi drivers working 
late on Friday and Saturday nights. 
The patrols, funded under the Taxi Action 
Plan, aim to manage and deter antisocial 
behaviour including assault, harassment, 
vandalism and theft. 

The patrols were initially introduced on a 
trial basis in November 2011. In developing 
and delivering the service, DoT modelled the 
success of the PTA’s mobile security patrols 
for late-night bus services. 

In the event of an incident, taxi drivers 
alert their Taxi Dispatch Service (TDS) by 
activating a duress alarm fitted in most 
metropolitan taxis. The TDS then call the 
security control room, where an operator 
requests the nearest patrol car to assist the 
driver. If assistance is not required urgently, 
the security patrol follows the taxi until 
they observe the passenger disembark at 
their destination without incident or until 
the TDS advises help is no longer needed. 
However, if assistance is required urgently, 
security officers can quickly intervene and 
provide support. 

Over three months, security officers 
executed more than 10,500 taxi escorts and 

rank visits. During this time, 60 incidents 
regarding antisocial behaviour were reported 
and resolved on-road. 

The success of the trial saw it extended for 
a further 12 months. During this time, the 
service was actively promoted to taxi drivers 
via their TDS, approved trainers and taxi 
sector bodies, as well as through hard copy 
and online information from DoT. 

Phase two of the trial commenced on 
April 2012 and over the following year 
21,010 taxi escorts and more than 21,000 
taxi rank visits were undertaken. Additionally, 
290 incidents regarding antisocial behaviour 
were reported and resolved on-road. 

Feedback from the taxi industry regarding 
both trials was extremely positive, as 
were reports from drivers that they felt 
safer in their taxis and were happy with 
response times. 

Based on the success of both trials, in 
April 2013, DoT appointed Wilson Security 
to provide mobile security patrols across the 
metropolitan area for the next three years at 
a cost of $1.6 million. 

Five vehicles currently operate from midnight 
to 6am on Fridays and Saturdays and 
DoT continues to monitor the effectiveness 
of these patrols in enhancing taxi security. 

Taxi Security Officers
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New pens at Fremantle Fishing 
Boat Harbour

The construction of 59 new floating boat 
pens at Fremantle Fishing Boat Harbour 
was completed in December 2012. 
The pens maximise the use of a previously 
undeveloped area of the harbour seabed 
and provide a vital boost to the number 
of berths available to boat owners in the 
metropolitan area.

The $3.6 million project was partly funded 
through the prepayment of boat pen licences.

MARITIME INFRASTRUCTURE 
IMPROVEMENTS DELIVERED
DoT plans, creates, enhances and manages 
new and existing land and water-based 
maritime infrastructure across Western 
Australia to meet the needs of the community 
and to facilitate economic development. 

In 2012-13, a number of major infrastructure 
development projects were completed 
or progressed.

Woodman Point access road 
upgrade completed

Access to the Woodman Point Recreational 
Boating Precinct has been significantly 
improved with a $1.8 million road upgrade. 

The works, completed in February 2013, 
included resurfacing and widening of nearly 
300m of access road, improving drainage, 
upgraded pedestrian access and new traffic 
calming measures. 

The project ensures the safe and efficient use 
of the facility and complements previous works 
carried out by DoT to double the capacity of 
launching facilities and improve parking on site.

As the largest boat launching facility in Western 
Australia, the works accommodate the 
increased use of Woodman Point and prepare 
the precinct for its next stage of development, 
which includes the release of land for 
commercial use related to recreational boating.

Cyclone-rated pens neared 
completion at Exmouth Boat Harbour

DoT commenced construction of 25 cyclone-
rated floating pens at Exmouth Boat Harbour in 
November 2012 to: 

 Æ address the critical shortage of moorings in 
the region; 

 Æ support the development of marine tourism 
and recreational activity; and 

 Æ enhance business opportunities associated 
with the resources sector. 

The new boat pens will be completed in 
August 2013, with construction costs expected 
to total $4.2 million.

Exmouth Marina
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Augusta Boat Harbour breakwater 
footprints completed

Construction of the Augusta Boat Harbour 
at Flat Rock in Flinders Bay commenced in 
October 2011. DoT is managing the project 
that will provide a much needed sheltered 
water area for recreational and commercial 
craft in the region. 

Stage one works include: 

 Æ provision of two breakwaters to create a 
sheltered water area;

 Æ a four lane boat launching facility for 
smaller recreational boats; 

 Æ a service wharf to allow larger commercial 
vessels to safely and efficiently transfer 
passengers and products; 

 Æ eight commercial and charter boat pens to 
accommodate the existing local fleet; 

 Æ car/trailer parking for at least 160 
vehicles; and

 Æ three fully serviced land development lots 
for marine related purposes.

The Royalties for Regions funded project 
reached a major milestone in April 2013 
when the 600m southern breakwater and the 
150m northern breakwater footprints were 
constructed to the minimum level. 

Augusta Boat Harbour construction
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requirements for the facility based on sediment 
movement in the bay. 

A number of field studies, monitored by 
the Traditional Owners of the site, were 
also undertaken and consultants have 
been engaged to progress the necessary 
environmental approvals for the project.

As part of the works, DoT has established two 
community consultation groups to provide 
input and ensure that the facility will meet the 
needs of Broome boat users. 

It is anticipated that the planning and 
approvals processes for the project will be 
completed during the second half of 2014, 
with construction anticipated to commence 
soon after.

Port Geographe construction 
contract awarded

On 28 June 2013, DoT awarded a major 
construction contract as part of the State 
Government’s $28.15 million project to 
reconfigure the coastal structures at 
Port Geographe. 

Following the awarding of the contract for the 
breakwater and seawall construction, work on 
the long-awaited project to address ongoing 
seagrass accumulation and beach erosion 
issues is set to commence in July 2013. 

Both breakwaters are scheduled to be 
completed in July 2013. Works will continue 
throughout 2013-14 to complete the importing 
of sand fill for the development and deliver 
the maritime structures and civil works 
components of the project. The boat harbour 
is expected to be ready for use in late 2014. 

Planning and approvals underway 
for Broome Boating Facility

Throughout 2012-13, DoT progressed site 
investigations and planning and approvals 
processes for the Broome Boating Facility in 
west Roebuck Bay. 

In 2010, the State Government allocated 
$35 million in Royalties for Regions funding to 
the project, which will include a multi-lane boat 
ramp, protective breakwaters and a floating 
service jetty, along with access roads and 
parking areas.

Broome’s cyclonic weather, combined 
with one of the world’s highest tidal ranges 
presents significant design challenges. This is 
compounded by the unavailability of suitable 
local rock to build the breakwaters and the 
potentially high sediment infill rates.

Investigations to resolve these challenges 
continued in 2013, with specialised equipment 
used to measure sand movement at the site. 
This data was used to undertake computer 
modelling to assess the maintenance 

The blueprint for the significant structural 
changes at Port Geographe comes after 
more than four years of scientific research, 
investigation and modelling of the seagrass 
and sediment movement, as well as extensive 
community consultation. 

The changes will include:

 Æ the reconfiguration of existing breakwaters 
and groynes to minimise the trapping of 
seagrass wrack and sand;

 Æ dredging works;

 Æ the installation of a pipeline for future 
bypassing of sand and seagrass wrack; and 

 Æ foreshore landscaping.

Due for completion in 2015, the project aims 
to address environmental and health issues 
by allowing sand and seagrass to bypass the 
coastal structures naturally.  
It also aims to improve the viability of the 
currently stalled Port Geographe development.

The works will reduce the annual sand 
and seagrass bypassing and dredging 
requirements resulting from the current 
groyne configuration. Following the winter 
season in 2012, 170,000 cubic metres of 
sand and seagrass wrack were transported 
from the western beach to the east and 
north-east through DoT’s coastal bypassing 
program. In February 2013, DoT then 
completed dredging to maintain the navigable 
entrance channel. 
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Examples of projects completed in 2012-13 
include: 

 Æ the construction of a sandbag beach 
groyne near Point Peron in Rockingham; 

 Æ sand nourishment near Norseman Road 
in Esperance;

 Æ beach profile monitoring for the City of 
Stirling;

 Æ upgraded storm drains in cyclone-prone 
Onslow; and

 Æ refurbishment of rock and timber groynes 
on the Busselton coast.

More than $1 million had been allocated to 
coastal protection projects across Western 
Australia through the 2013-14 funding round. 

DoT continued to administer 
the Recreational Boating 
Facilities Scheme 

DoT administers the Recreational Boating 
Facilities Scheme (RBFS) on behalf of the 
State Government. The RBFS is funded 
directly from recreational boat registration fees 
and for rounds 16 to 19, Royalties for Regions 
funding. It helps to improve recreational 
boating infrastructure by providing grants to 
eligible authorities around the State. 

Since 1998, the RBFS has significantly 
benefited recreational boating with more than 
$30 million granted to 346 projects located 
from Wyndham to Esperance. 

In May 2013, Transport Minister Troy Buswell 
and Regional Development Minister Brendon 
Grylls announced that 26 projects throughout 
Western Australia would receive a total of 
$4 million in Round 18 of the RBFS. 

Examples of projects completed in 2012-13 
include the construction of: 

 Æ universal access jetties at Novara and 
Parkridge boat ramps and the Albany 
Waterfront Marina;

 Æ new public moorings at the Abrolhos 
Islands, Oyster Harbour and Carnarvon; and 

 Æ replacement jetties at Point Peron. 

DoT continued to administer the 
Coastal Adaptation and Protection 
Grants program

In 2012-13 DoT continued to administer the 
Coastal Adaptation and Protection Grants 
program on behalf of the State Government. 

The program, formerly known as the Coastal 
Protection Grants Program, provides funds 
for work associated with coastal adaptation 
and protection and aims to ensure coastal 
managers understand and sustainably adapt 
to coastal hazards in order to preserve and 
enhance the Western Australia’s coastline. 

The program has been protecting the State’s 
coastline since 2005, with more than $8 million 
allocated to 106 projects from Port Hedland 
to Esperance.
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Hillarys Boat Harbour named 
Australia’s best

Hillarys Boat Harbour was awarded Australia’s Best 
Public Boat Harbour at the 2013 Marina Industry 
Association Awards held in Sydney in April 2013.

The Harbour, which is owned and operated by 
DoT, was recognised as offering world-class 
boating facilities within a unique coastal park and 
recreation setting.

A recently completed study by Edith Cowan 
University on the social impact of the Harbour 
demonstrated that it plays an important role in the 
lives of the local community, and is a meeting point 
for people, allowing them to create shared memories 
with family and friends. It also provides employment 
for more than 800 people with its shops, restaurants 
and leisure activities. 

Since 2005, DoT, in its various forms, has 
undertaken nearly $50 million in capital 
works projects and enhancement programs. 
The improvements, funded through a mix of public 
and private sector investment, have contributed to 
Hillarys Boat Harbour’s success as a high-quality, 
mixed-use facility for marine, tourism and 
recreational purposes. 

As one of Perth’s most visited destinations, attracting 
over four million visitors in 2012, DoT is committed 
to further improving the facility and ensuring it can 
serve growing demand. Proposed improvements 
for 2013-14 include upgrading and expanding car 
parking facilities and replacing K and L Jetties. 

Hillarys Boat Harbour
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STATE-WIDE AQUATIC REVIEW 
CONTINUED
DoT continued the Swan Canning Riverpark 
Aquatic Use Review in 2012-13 as part of its 
state-wide aquatic review.

The review was conducted in partnership with 
the Swan River Trust with the aim to promote 
the safe and equitable use of the waterways in 
the riverpark. 

A number of the recommendations of the 
review were deferred until after the 2012-13 
boating summer to enable further consultation 
with key stakeholders on the implementation 
of some of the proposed measures. 
These recommendations are scheduled to be 
implemented in October 2013. 

DoT also commenced the Peel Aquatic Use 
Review in February 2013.

The review will propose a number of changes 
to improve boating safety on the Mandurah 
and Peel estuaries including the introduction 
of new speed limits, boating prohibited zones 
and an expanded water ski area.

CHANGES TO WATER-SKI  
AREAS IMPROVE SAFETY IN  
SWAN CANNING RIVERPARK 
On 1 December 2012, DoT introduced 
changes to all water skiing areas within 
the Swan Canning Riverpark in line with 
recommendations from the Aquatic 
Use Review.

The changes enhance safety for all water 
users and are the result of an extensive 
examination of all water ski areas in the 
Swan Canning Riverpark. 

To prepare for the changes, DoT installed 
navigational aids, buoys and signage. 
It also updated its boating guide for the 
Swan Canning Riverpark and increased 
water patrols and educational ramp visits to 
assist users. 

PADDLE SAFETY PROMOTED
An increase in the popularity of paddle 
craft, including canoes, kayaks, surf skis 
and inflatables, prompted DoT to clarify 
the required safety equipment for paddlers 
in 2012-13. 

Under Western Australian marine laws, 
recreational paddle craft operating more 
than 400m from shore in unprotected 
waters must have a bailer (if the deck is 
not self-draining), lifejackets and flares. 
When venturing more than two nautical miles 
out, an emergency position indicating radio 
beacon (EPIRB) is required and beyond five 
nautical miles it is also compulsory for this 
type of craft to carry parachute flares and a 
marine radio. 

DoT produced an informational brochure, 
Paddle Safe, to educate and provide 
practical advice to paddle craft operators. 
A quick reference sticker was also made 
available to assist paddlers to comply with 
the new requirements. 

Marine Safety patrol boat

Department of Transport Annual Report 2012-1352



STATE-WIDE MOORING CONTROL 
PROJECT IMPLEMENTED
During 2012-13, DoT continued to implement 
its state-wide Mooring Control Project to 
ensure moorings are effectively placed to 
minimise environmental damage and enhance 
waterways for other aquatic users. Through the 
staged project, recreational mooring regimes 
were implemented in Albany, Mandurah 
and Carnarvon. 

Further, the Commercial Mooring Site Licence 
was refined and implemented along the Pilbara 
coast to address the increased demand for 
commercial moorings. 

DOT CONTINUED TO PLAY A KEY 
ROLE IN RAIL SAFETY 
DoT’s Office of Rail Safety (ORS) is responsible 
for safety regulation of 32 railways operating 
in Western Australia. This includes safety 
accreditation, compliance monitoring, safety 
audits and investigations, policy advice and 
information and education activities. 

In 2012-13, the Office established a 
Memorandum of Understanding between the 
Western Australian Rail Safety Regulator and the 
Australian Transport Safety Bureau in relation to 
“Provision of Notifiable Occurrence Information 
on the Defined Interstate Rail Network” during 
the interim period before the rail safety national 
law takes effect in Western Australia. 

Another Memorandum of Understanding 
was signed between the Western Australian 
Rail Safety Regulator and the Office of the 
National Rail Safety Regulator (ONRSR) in 
relation to the “Administration of National and 
Western Australian Rail Safety Legislation”. 
This agreement focuses on working 
together to promote rail safety improvement 
nationally and for the future transition of the 
ORS’ functions to the ONRSR. As part of 

this process, the Director of Rail Safety 
participated in the ONRSR’s executive National 
Operations Committee.

Throughout the year, the ORS also contributed 
to the development of new national standards, 
guidelines and procedures for use by the 
ONRSR, which commenced operation 
in January 2013. These documents will 
significantly contribute to achieving consistent 
regulation of rail safety across Australia.
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“DoT began implementing 
the Plan in March 2012 and 
continued to progress the 
proposed improvements 
to cycling infrastructure 
throughout 2012-13...”
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IMPLEMENTATION OF THE WESTERN AUSTRALIAN BICYCLE NETWORK PLAN 2012-21 CONTINUED

The Western Australian Bicycle Network Plan 
2012-21 provides a blueprint for metropolitan 
and regional cycle facilities to encourage and 
support bicycle trips and identifi es appropriate 
routes and supporting facilities that protect 
existing routes. 

DoT began implementing the Plan in March 
2012 and continued to progress the proposed 
improvements to cycling infrastructure 
throughout 2012-13 as detailed below. 

Principal Shared Path (PSP) network 
expansion planned

Planning to further extend the PSP network 
continued in 2012-13. PSPs identifi ed as a 
priority include: 

 Æ Narrows Bridge to Mount Henry Bridge 
along the Kwinana Freeway;

 Æ Cranford Avenue to South Street along the 
Kwinana Freeway;

 Æ Glendalough to Balcatta along the Mitchell 
Freeway;

 Æ Burswood to William Street along the 
Perth-Armadale Railway;

 Æ Bassendean to Midland along the 
Perth-Midland Railway; and

 Æ Shenton Park to Loch Street and Grant 
Street to Beehive Montessori School along 
the Perth-Fremantle Railway.

Cycling infrastructure improved 
through Perth and Regional Bicycle 
Network Grants Programs 

DoT continued to administer the Perth and 
Regional Bicycle Network Grants Programs on 
behalf of the State Government in 2012-13. 

Both programs provide funding assistance 
to local government authorities for cycling 
infrastructure and development of bike plans. 

Under the Perth Bicycle Network Grants 
Program:

 Æ 29 projects were implemented in the 
$2 million 2012-13 program, totalling 11.4km 
of shared path infrastructure and 3.6km of 
on-road infrastructure.

 Æ 31 projects were awarded grant funding in 
the $1.9 million 2013-14 program to deliver 
13km of shared path infrastructure and 
4.7km of on-road infrastructure.

Under the Regional Bicycle Network Grants 
Program:

 Æ 17 projects were implemented in the 
$1.5 million 2012-13 program, totalling 
8.9km of shared path infrastructure.

 Æ 36 projects were awarded grant funding in 
the $2 million 2013-14 program to deliver 
approximately 20.5km of shared path 
infrastructure. 

End of Trip (EoT) Facilities 
feasibility study completed

DoT recognises that cycling to work 
is increasing in popularity and can be 
encouraged with EoT facilities such as bicycle 
lockers, secure parking areas and access 
to change rooms and showers. As part of 
the CBD Transport Plan, DoT commissioned 
a study to assess options to improve EoT 
facilities for cyclists in central Perth. 

The comprehensive study, completed in 
June 2013, reviewed cycling demand in the 
CBD together with best-practice models and 
provided a preliminary economic analysis of 
recommended EoT options. 

In the next stage of the feasibility project, 
DoT will work with key stakeholders to:

 Æ create a central inventory of EoT facilities 
in the CBD; 

 Æ investigate a possible short-term grant 
scheme to encourage private sector 
provision or expansion of EoT facilities;

 Æ encourage reconsideration of EoT facilities 
in Town Planning Schemes; and 

 Æ prepare a detailed business case for 
providing low and medium-quality public 
EoT facilities within the core catchment area 
identifi ed in the initial study. 
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Outcome two: 
VEHICLES AND ROAD USERS THAT MEET ESTABLISHED VEHICLE STANDARDS AND DRIVER COMPETENCIES TO 
DELIVER SAFE VEHICLES AND SAFE DRIVERS

KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORS
2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Percentage of vehicle examinations completed 
in accordance with the Australian Design Rules 
assessed by independent audit (safe vehicles)

100% 87.75% Variation in percentage between the 2012‑13 actual and 2012‑13 budget is the result of 
changes in workflow practices associated with implementation of the Vehicle Inspection 
System at Approved Inspection Stations which has resulted in a change to the inspection 
forms process (MR1). The process was redefined in April 2013, through education and 
provision of administrative instructions which will be monitored via compliance activity and 
education. It is anticipated that DoT performance against KPI will improve in 2013‑14.

Percentage of driver licences issued that comply 
with the Graduated Driver Training and Licensing 
system as assessed by independent audit 
(safe drivers)

100% 87.5% The variation in percentage between the 2012‑13 actual and 2012‑13 budget is the result 
of strict record practices associated with log books and proof of identity (POI) requirements. 
The new log books implemented in November 2012 and changes to POI effective from 
April 2013 will continue to improve performance against this indicator in 2013‑14.
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Service two: 
DRIVER AND VEHICLE SERVICES

KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS
2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Average cost per vehicle and driver transaction $16.67 $18.28 The variance is primarily due to higher than anticipated direct and corporate operating costs 
required to maintain and enhance frontline customer service delivery to meet customer 
expectations and reduce customer wait times, implement education and safety initiatives 
and support enforcement of the Road Traffic Act 1974.

Average cost per vehicle inspection $85.90 $99.43 Authorised Inspection Stations have, over a period of time, increased the number of vehicle 
inspections they undertake to the point where they conduct more inspections than DoT.
DVS is now at a point where it has commenced scaling down its own inspection 
operations by transferring some resources to focus on driver compliance matters. Future 
plans include closing Midland inspection operations. Due to time lag this process could not 
be reflected in the current KPI. The financial impact will be more evident in 2013‑14.

Average cost per driver assessment $84.72 $99.54 The variance is primarily attributable to additional assessors employed to meet demand and 
maintain service quality, and a redistribution of costs from inspection services and policy 
areas within DVS to focus on compliance and driver education and safety activities across 
the State.

Percentage of driver licence cards issued within 
21 days of completed application

100% 99.9% No significant variance.
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Project in profile: 
ONLINE PRACTICAL DRIVING ASSESSMENT (PDA) 
BOOKINGS SYSTEM LAUNCHED

The most significant improvement to DoT’s online services in 2012-13 came 
with the launch of the PDA online booking system. 

The secure online system allows learner drivers and instructors to book, 
change or cancel PDAs online for all metropolitan and most regional 
locations from 48 hours up to six months in advance. 

DoT introduced the system to allow customers to avoid lengthy wait times 
to book assessments on the phone or in person at a Driver and Vehicle 
Services (DVS) Centre. In developing the system, DoT consulted with key 
internal and external stakeholders, including peak industry groups, to 
provide maximum customer convenience and choice.

The system allows bookings to be made much further in advance and 
gives customers the convenience of viewing and booking online 24/7 in 
real-time. These improvements mean learner drivers can concentrate on 
preparing for their test and instructors on managing their business, rather 
than worrying about when they will get a booking.

DoT developed and delivered the system in-house by leveraging the 
Department’s existing technology platform and infrastructure. It is fully 
integrated with TRELIS, DoT’s licensing database, affording significant time 
and labour savings benefits. 

To ensure the system was fully functional and met the anticipated demand, 
a staged roll-out and trial was initiated. In April 2013, a trial group of 11 
driving instructors tested and provided feedback on the system before it 
was gradually opened to more instructors the following month. 

The system was launched to the public on 11 June 2013 and has already 
been embraced by customers with an average of 2,500 online booking 
searches and approximately 200 bookings created daily. 

For the remainder of June, calls to DoT’s Customer Contact Centre 
for PDA bookings decreased by more than 60 per cent, freeing 
consultants to assist customers with other enquiries. 

With a record number of 19,000 PDA-related calls to the Customer 
Contact Centre in April 2013, the system provides a much-needed 
alternative to effectively manage bookings. 

DoT is confident that the initial success of the system will be 
sustained into the future. It is anticipated that, over time, most 
bookings will be made and managed online.

The new booking system is just one of the initiatives through which 
DoT is offering customers more convenient access to transport 
services. When DoT’s new customer-centric website goes live in 
July 2013, it will join the suite of other applications and tools designed 
to make customers’ lives easier.

DoT Driving Assessor congratulates learner driver
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SIGNIFICANT GROWTH IN 
ADDITIONAL SERVICE DELIVERY 
CHANNELS 

In addition to enhancing online services, 
DoT further developed and expanded its driver 
and vehicle partner services. This has provided 
metropolitan and regional customers with 
greater convenience and choice. 

Eight AIS were added to increase the 
metropolitan network to 20 outlets. The new 
stations have reduced customer waiting 
times for vehicle examinations across the 
metropolitan area. 

Two new mobile authorised inspection services 
were also introduced in January 2013 to better 
service the motor vehicle dealer industry. 
These mobile services perform minor vehicle 
inspections on-site at dealerships, saving 
dealers time and money.

DoT further expanded its partnership with 
Australia Post, with two full service locations 
opened in the Perth CBD and West Perth. 
These new locations relieve the pressure on 
the nearby City West DVS Centre and reduce 
waiting times for time-poor city customers. 

In 2013, driver and vehicle services became 
available through the Kambalda Community 
Resource Centre. DoT’s agreement with the 
Shire of Coolgardie for the provision of these 
services will provide greater convenience 
for customers. 

DoT’s new website will be accessible on all smart technology

NEW CUSTOMER-CENTRIC APPROACH TO ONLINE SERVICES

In 2012-13, DoT remained focused on 
improving online services to enhance customer 
convenience and choice. Key advancements 
included the launch of the Licence Alert 
smartphone application and Practical Driving 
Assessment (PDA) online booking system. 

As well as delivering these online services, 
DoT began redesigning its website to be 
more customer-centric. Based on customer 
research, improvements will be made to 
the design and functionality of the site to 

help customers find the information they 
need and perform transactions in a more 
efficient manner. 

Customers will be able to view the site across 
all smart technology including mobile devices 
and tablets, and the DoTdirect micro-site will 
provide even quicker access to DoT’s most 
popular online tools and services.

The new website together with DoTdirect is 
expected to go live in July 2013. 
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LICENCE ALERT APP LAUNCHED
DoT’s first smartphone application, Licence 
Alert, was launched in October 2012 for 
Android users and January 2013 for Apple 
users and 2,715 customers have downloaded 
the app so far. Licence Alert enables users 
to subscribe to SMS and email notifications 
reminding them of their motor vehicle and 
driver licence renewal dates, as well as set up 
reminders on their mobile device.

VEHICLE INSPECTION SYSTEM 
(VIS) REDUCED CUSTOMER 
WAIT TIMES
In July 2012, DoT extended the roll-out of its 
online VIS to all new and existing Authorised 
Inspection Stations (AIS). The VIS allows 
inspectors to submit inspection details and 
issue Certificates of Inspection more efficiently 
and in turn, reduces customer wait times 
at AIS.

The system also provides a more secure audit 
facility for DoT’s Compliance Officers. Currently 
149 of DoT’s 220 AIS are using the VIS, with 
the remainder expected to be online by end of 
June 2014. 

DoT Vehicle Examiner
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SUPERVISED DRIVING HOURS 
INCREASED
In November 2012, DoT increased supervised 
driving hours for novice or learner drivers 
from 25 to 50 hours. The increase is the latest 
change in response to a number of Towards 
Zero road safety strategy recommendations 
aimed at enhancing road safety outcomes for 
Western Australian drivers.

The recommendation to increase supervised 
driving hours was based on research that 
found strengthening the driving experiences 
and supervision of new drivers can lead to a 
significant reduction in road crashes. Statistics 
show new drivers, particularly those between 
16 and 24 years of age, are up to three times 
more likely than other drivers to be involved in 
a serious road crash.

The additional 25 hours of supervised 
driving a learner must now undertake prior 
to a practical driving assessment allows 
them more time to gain experience, improve 
their practical driving skills and develop 
safer driving habits. The new regime also 
better prepares learner drivers to pass their 
practical driving assessment. 

HEAVY VEHICLE PRACTICAL 
DRIVING ASSESSMENTS (PDA) 
TRIAL INTRODUCED
During 2012-13, DoT received a number 
of serious concerns from members of the 
public and businesses regarding heavy 
vehicle PDAs being conducted in the 
Bunbury CBD. 

DoT immediately responded to these 
concerns by temporarily conducting heavy 
vehicle PDA in a light industrial area on the 
periphery of Bunbury.

In a move towards finding a viable long-term 
solution to keep the assessments out of the 
CBD, DoT commenced a trial of the use of 
external providers (located outside of the 
Bunbury CBD) for heavy vehicle PDAs in 
May 2013. 

During the six-month trial, individuals seeking 
to acquire HR (Heavy Rigid) and HC (Heavy 
Combination) licences in Bunbury and 
Busselton will have a choice between a PDA 
with a private provider or a DoT assessor. 

The private providers are all experienced, 
having performed assessments for the 
MC (Multi Combination) class for DoT for 
more than a decade and will be subject to 
continuous stringent audits and monitoring 
to ensure their service meets DoT’s 
high standards. 

This partnering arrangement aims to not only 
alleviate community concern but also allow 
DoT assessors to undertake more ‘C’ Class 
licence assessments. 

DoT staff members in Bunbury and Busselton 
continue to be fully consulted on the trial 
which will be reviewed in November 2013. 

Learner driver completing supervised driving hours
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“A valid driver’s licence is one of 
the major factors in closing the 

gap on Aboriginal disadvantage, 
particularly when it comes to 

employment outcomes.”

Remote Licensing vehicle
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Project in profile: 
REMOTE LICENSING PROGRAM 
CLOSES GAP

A valid driver’s licence is one of the major 
factors in closing the gap on Aboriginal 
disadvantage, particularly when it comes to 
employment outcomes. However, there are 
a number of barriers that make it difficult for 
many Aboriginal people in remote Western 
Australia to obtain a driver’s licence, including 
non-payment of fines, literacy issues, limited 
access to licensing services and appropriate 
vehicles for training and testing as well as 
the financial costs associated with the driver 
licensing process.

These barriers have contributed to a 
relatively high incidence of unlicensed driving 
in remote areas, resulting in significant fines, 
imprisonment and increased road trauma. 
If fines and penalties remain outstanding, 
people are disqualified from applying for 
a driver’s licence but are likely to continue 
to drive unlicensed in order to access 
essential services, entering a sometimes 
unbreakable cycle.

In 2012-13, DoT set out to break this cycle 
and improve the outcomes for people in 
remote areas through the obtainment and 
retention of a driver’s licence by introducing 
its $10.3 million over four years Remote 
Licensing Program. 

Through the program, four regionally 
based teams deliver a wide range of driver 
and vehicle licensing services to remote 
communities in the Kimberley, Pilbara and 
Goldfields regions. 

The teams are equipped with the training 
and technology to process a variety of online 
transactions in real time, issue learner’s 
permits and Proof of Age cards and conduct 
theory and practical tests. Flexible assessment 
methods, such as oral testing for learner’s 
permits, overcome literacy and numeracy 
barriers while ensuring applicants meet 
competency standards.

In addition to these services, the teams 
provide general information on licensing 
requirements and assist customers who are 
disqualified from driving due to non-payment 
of fines. 

As the teams provide a mobile service, they 
can provide the same experience a customer 
would receive in a DoT regional office from 
anywhere, whether it’s the verandah of the 
local police station or the side of the road. 

The Remote Licensing Program marks a 
significant shift in DoT’s approach to licensing 
services in remote areas from typically 
bureaucratic to more collaborative and 
inclusive. The program was developed in 
consultation with the communities to ensure 

it met their needs as well as those of other 
Government agencies, Aboriginal Corporations 
and the private sector. 

Additionally, all visits are scheduled in 
consultation with the communities and where 
possible coincide with other Government 
agencies, such as WA Police and the 
Department of the Attorney General, to provide 
maximum value to the customers. 

This collaborative approach to removing 
barriers to driver licensing in remote areas was 
recognised in June 2013 when DoT received 
an Institute of Public Administration Western 
Australia Achievement Award for Best Practice 
in Collaboration Across Government Agencies 
in the Same Jurisdiction. 

Since the program’s launch in September 
2012, the teams have serviced more than 
2,000 clients, issuing 154 people with driver’s 
licences and helping many more towards this 
goal with 365 theory tests administered, 427 
practical driving assessments conducted and 
164 logbooks issued. 

These positive interactions, together with 
feedback from the communities and other 
agencies involved, suggest the program is 
working extremely well to deliver a much-
needed service in remote Western Australia.
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NEW LEARNER APPROVED 
MOTORCYCLE SCHEME 
INTRODUCED
DoT introduced the Learner Approved 
Motorcycle Scheme in January 2013 
following considerable motorcycle road safety 
research and consultation with the public and 
industry groups. 

The scheme increases the range, frame 
size and style of suitable scooters and 
motorcycles that can be ridden on an 
R-E class licence. 

It replaces previous engine capacity 
restrictions with power-to-weight ratio 
restrictions and is recommended as a better 
way to restrict inexperienced riders from 
accessing high performance motorcycles.

PHOTOS INTRODUCED TO 
LEARNER AND EXTRAORDINARY 
DRIVER’S LICENCES
In 2012-13, DoT introduced photographs to 
learner and extraordinary driver’s licences 
in keeping with its focus on providing 
secure identities. 

The use of biometrics and other security 
measures ensure that Western Australian 
driver’s licences are among the most secure 
in Australia.

STRATEGIC INFORMATION 
PLAN (SIP) IMPLEMENTATION 
COMMENCED 
In 2012-13 DoT commenced the implementation 
of its SIP. The Plan was developed in early 2012 
to deliver: 

 Æ improved customer interactions and 
convenience;

 Æ a single source of complete and accurate 
information, that is readily accessible in a 
secure manner;

 Æ an integrated and cost-efficient set of 
Information and Communication Technology 
(ICT) systems that supports the business 
and its customers now and in the future; and

 Æ an established ICT governance function to 
guide ongoing strategic and operational 
initiatives.

A key element of the Plan was completed 
in November 2012 with the roll-out of new 
financial and human resources management 
capabilities that form the foundation for future 
work to transform customer service delivery 
business systems. 

DoT also progressed a series of ongoing 
projects to improve the corporate governance 
of IT. These projects reduce risks to the 
business and will result in a more accountable 
and transparent approach to IT investment 
at DoT.
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Outcome three: 
INTEGRATED TRANSPORT SYSTEMS THAT FACILITATE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORS
2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Percentage of containerised freight transported 
via rail in relation to total metropolitan container 
movements to and from Fremantle Port

14.0% 13.8% No significant variance.

Service three: 
STRATEGIC TRANSPORT POLICY AND INTEGRATED PLANNING

KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS
2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Average cost per policy hour for strategic 
transport policy development

$90.60 $103.94 The increase in the cost per policy hour is due to:
 Æ an increase in the 2012‑13 operating component of the KPI was due to budget 
redistributions from lower priority operational projects to fund works within the Coastal 
Infrastructure Business Unit, including dredging and legal expenses and a provision of 
doubtful debt for an unpaid invoice.

 Æ A Policy Officer position was seconded to the Transport Policy and Systems Directorate 
on a temporary basis and has since returned to DVS with the position kept vacant.

Average cost per planning hour for integrated 
transport planning development

$102.88 $96.13 No significant variance.
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DRAFT FOR CONSULTATION 
MOVING PEOPLE NETWORK PLAN 
NEARED COMPLETION
The Draft for Consultation Moving People 
Network Plan neared completion in 2012-13 
and will be presented to State Government for 
consideration in early 2013-14. 

The Plan provides a strategic approach to 
moving Perth and Peel’s rapidly growing 
population as the city approaches 2.7 million 
people. It highlights a focus on moving 
people – not vehicles – to provide high 
levels of accessibility while managing 
congestion, meeting environmental goals and 
improving the transport system’s resilience 
and affordability.

DoT recognises there is no single solution to 
managing the transport system and, because 
of this, the Plan focuses on the following five 
key themes:

 Æ Investing in public transport

 Æ Optimising road network efficiency

 Æ Expanding the road network

 Æ Managing demand

 Æ Future planning and integration.

The Plan builds on work already undertaken 
to define priority networks for public transport 
and cycling and the investment priorities for 
each over the next two decades.
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It also highlights the investment required to 
enable our existing road network to operate 
more efficiently and build more capacity in 
the network. 

Following the release of the draft Plan 
for public consultation, DoT will review 
submissions before the Plan is finalised. 

TRANSPRIORITY TO OPTIMISE 
ROAD EFFICIENCY
One of the key initiatives aimed at optimising 
the efficiency of the metropolitan road 
network outlined in the Moving People 
Network Plan is TransPriority.

Based on the successful SmartRoads model 
developed by VicRoads, TransPriority is a new 
approach to managing competing demand 
for limited road space and ensuring the road 
network best supports land use and transport 
planning. This involves determining the priority 
mode(s) of transport for each road based on 
the time, day and adjacent land use. 

DoT, in partnership with MRWA, PTA, the 
Department of Planning and metropolitan 
local governments, continued to further 
develop and refine TransPriority in 2012-13. 
A number of demonstration projects are being 
planned for strategic centres and congestion 
hotspots in the road network. 

The final Plan has been submitted to the State 
Government for consideration. Planning and 
project development work has commenced 
across the Transport portfolio on a number of 
projects outlined in the Plan including: 

 Æ an inner-metropolitan light rail network – 
Metro Area Express (MAX);

 Æ a railway to Perth Airport and Forrestfield;

 Æ prioritisation of identified projects within the 
Bus Priority Program; and

 Æ the extension of the Joondalup Line  
to Yanchep. 

PUBLIC TRANSPORT PLAN FOR 
PERTH AND PEEL REVISED
Throughout 2012-13, DoT continued to revise 
the draft public transport plan, In Motion: 
A 20-Year Public Transport Plan for Perth 
and Peel, to reflect updated population 
forecasts and the submissions received 
from stakeholders and the public during the 
consultation period.

Following its initial release in June 2011, the 
Western Australian Planning Commission 
released updated population forecasts 
predicting the Perth and Peel region will reach 
up to 2.7 million people by 2031, while the 
demand modelling for the plan was based on 
a population of 2.2 million by 2031. 

These current population forecasts have seen 
the following considerations reflected in the 
new revised plan:

1. New infrastructure is needed earlier in the 
south-east corridor; 

2. A much larger fleet of rail cars will 
be required to meet demand on the 
Armadale, Mandurah and Joondalup 
lines; and 

3. The case for central city infrastructure such 
as light rail is strengthened. 
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Project in profile: 
MAX LIGHT RAIL TO POWER PERTH INTO THE FUTURE

In September 2012 the State Government announced the MAX Light Rail 
project, a transformational public transport initiative arising from the Public 
Transport Plan for Perth in 2031. 

The Plan identified the central northern corridor as a priority for rapid transit 
services because it is a key public transport corridor not currently served 
by any high-capacity transport and the area falls in a gap between the 
Joondalup and Midland rail lines. The east-west movement through the 
CBD and out to our major medical precinct at QEII Medical Centre was also 
identified as needing a higher capacity public transport option.

The 22km MAX network will address this by linking Mirrabooka in the north 
to the Perth CBD before splitting in to two branches, one to the QEII Medical 
Centre and the other to the Causeway. This core route will connect key 

MAX Light Rail suburban station concept

health, educational, retail and leisure centres including Mirrabooka 
town centre, Edith Cowan University – Mt Lawley, Centro Dianella 
shopping centre and the North Perth Town Centre. 

A proposed second phase could potentially extend the route from 
the QEII Medical Centre to the University of Western Australia and 
add links to Curtin University and the new Perth Stadium planned 
for the Burswood Peninsula. 

DoT is leading the $15.8 million phase one planning for the project, 
which includes feasibility, engineering, design, environmental, 
economic and land use studies as well as stakeholder and 
community engagement. 

Almost 40 specialist staff from across the Transport portfolio, other 
State Government agencies and the private sector are now working 
on the project and are currently producing comprehensive business 
cases to secure the necessary State and Federal funding. 

This involves detailed investigation of light rail as just one option of 
high-capacity transport to connect people with places in the central 
northern corridor and CBD. The business case will compare light 
rail to other options such as Bus Rapid Transit and utilising and 
expanding existing infrastructure. 

DoT will present the draft business case to Infrastructure Australia 
in September 2013, putting forward light rail as the preferred option. 
A final business case including a recommended procurement and 
delivery model will then be submitted in March 2014.

As well as almost completing the draft business case in 2012-13, 
DoT progressed a number of other planning elements including:

 Æ completing the majority of the initial MAX concept designs;

 Æ investigating central CBD and West Perth alignment options as 
well as the alignment in the vicinity of QEII Medical Centre; and

 Æ commencing system design. 
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METROPOLITAN FREIGHT AND INTERMODAL 
NETWORK PLAN PROGRESSED
Perth’s rapid population growth is not only placing increased 
pressure on moving people but also moving freight, as both 
compete for limited road space. To keep up with demand, major 
freight nodes for interstate and international goods at Fremantle 
Port’s Inner Harbour and the Kewdale/Forrestfield rail terminal 
will need to handle at least double the current amount of freight 
movement in the next 20 years. 

DoT’s Metropolitan Freight and Intermodal Network Plan will 
assist Perth to cope with this growth by defining its primary 
freight network, identifying investment priorities over the next 
two decades and providing a clear strategy for how road and 
rail freight operations can be optimised to provide for the most 
efficient movement of freight. 

In 2012-13, the following were progressed or completed to inform 
the Plan: 

 Æ an assessment of the capacity, demand pressures and 
investment priorities for the metropolitan rail freight network;

 Æ a strategy for development of the road network between 
Kwinana Freeway and the coast to serve the proposed 
Kwinana Quay container port and new break bulk port facilities 
in Cockburn Sound;

 Æ identification of measures to better manage potential 
encroachment of residential areas on freight corridors; and

 Æ a strategic review of the current metropolitan road freight 
network to define the primary network and classification for 
restricted access vehicles.

DoT will submit a draft for consultation to the State Government 
for consideration in late 2013. 

Container ship entering Fremantle Inner Harbour
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Project in profi le:
WESTERN AUSTRALIAN REGIONAL FREIGHT TRANSPORT NETWORK PLAN

The Plan focuses on the Transport portfolio’s 
implementation priorities on this principal 
network to ensure its integration with major 
metropolitan freight corridors and facilities to 
reap the greatest public value and ensure the 
robustness of the overall transport system 
to 2031. 

DoT is currently preparing an implementation 
plan to guide further work on specifi c elements 
of the Plan, including policy and planning tasks 
and further detailed assessment of major 
freight tasks to the Pilbara. 

A number of the Plan’s implementation 
priorities have already commenced and once 
complete they will improve transport service 
delivery throughout the State. The regional 
road network priorities outlined in the Plan 
will also deliver considerable benefi ts to the 
general community as well as industry in 
Western Australia by supporting the effective 
and safe movement of people as well 
as goods.

By 2031, Western Australia’s regional freight 
task will be more than twice what it is today. 
The State’s ports will move one billion 
tonnes of commodities per annum, the 
regional road network will support 40 billion 
tonne kilometres of freight movements and 
the State’s railways will carry 130 million 
tonnes per annum. 

With such growth comes the challenge of 
ensuring the transport network continues 
to support this immense freight task and 
that major infrastructure development 
is coordinated and timely to effi ciently 
connect commodity-producing regions 
to marketplaces in Perth, interstate 
and overseas. 

To deliver these essential outcomes, DoT, 
in conjunction with MRWA, Brookfi eld Rail 
Pty Ltd and the State’s port authorities, 
commenced developing the Western 

Australian Regional Freight Transport 
Network Plan in late 2010. After considerable 
independent research, customised scenario 
modelling and extensive consultation, the 
fi nal Plan was released by the Minister for 
Transport in May 2013. 

The Plan sets out the State’s fi rst integrated 
strategic program of planning, policy and 
capital project priorities for the regions 
to meet forecast demand and clearly 
articulates the State Government’s role in 
developing the network to 2031, as well as 
highlighting long-term infrastructure projects 
attractive to Commonwealth Government 
and private investors. 

A small number of corridors and facilities 
that will create a principal regional freight 
network for the State are outlined in the Plan 
and this network will do much of the heavy 
lifting to move Western Australia’s freight 
task to 2031.

Geraldton Port.
Image courtsey of 

Brookfi eld Rail
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STAGE TWO OF HIGH WIDE LOADS STRATEGIC PLANNING 
AND POLICY STUDY COMMENCED
In 2011-12 DoT and MRWA completed a 
strategic planning and policy study of the 
movement of oversize loads in response to 
indications that the size, mass and frequency 
of oversize load movements were increasing. 
This initial stage of the study, led by DoT, 
achieved its objectives, which were to define 
a current and future regional network and 
proposed dimensional envelopes, while 
outlining works required and indicative costs 
to upgrade or relocate existing infrastructure. 

DoT is now providing ongoing input into 
Stage two, led by MRWA, which includes:

 Æ gaining industry agreement on the 
High Wide Loads network identified in 
Stage one;

 Æ prioritising works required within the 
identified envelope; and

 Æ undertaking detailed costing for upgrading 
identified priorities. 

Stage two is expected to be completed in 
November 2013. 

WEST-EAST RAIL FEASIBILITY 
STUDY COMPLETED

DoT completed a strategic planning and policy 
study of the feasibility of a possible new rail 
link between Kwinana, the Great Southern 
Railway and the Eastern Goldfields Railway in 
June 2013.

The study achieved both of its objectives 
which were to:

1. Identify feasible standard and/or narrow 
gauge route alignments for connecting 
the western seaboard (Kwinana) with 
the Eastern Goldfields Railway to extend 
the existing rail network and provide 
new connections for transporting grain 
and other products, with relevant cost 
calculations; and

2. Undertake a cost benefit review of the 
routes identified in Stage one and based 
on the outcomes, identify routes that may 
be further investigated for possible future 
use and protection until such time it may 
be required.

The study determined that unless there 
is a major change in rail volumes in the 
larger catchment area in the foreseeable 
future, or major changes in port policy, new 
freight rail lines in the study area are not 
justifiable. However, the study findings can 
be reassessed if circumstances change 
significantly in the future.

A vehicle carrying an Over Size Over Mass load. Image courtesy of Main Roads WA
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PORTS AMALGAMATION 
UNDERWAY
In January 2012 the State Government 
endorsed DoT’s recommendation to 
consolidate seven of Western Australia’s 
existing port authorities and 13 smaller port 
facilities into the following four new port 
authorities:

 Æ Kimberley Ports Authority

 Æ Pilbara Ports Authority

 Æ Mid-West Ports Authority

 Æ Southern Ports Authority.

The Fremantle Port Authority will remain a 
stand-alone operation. 

The objective of the amalgamation is to 
improve outcomes for port customers by:

 Æ optimising the use of port infrastructure;

 Æ improving investment decisions;

 Æ enhancing corporate governance;

 Æ reducing expenditure through efficiency 
gains and reduced duplication of effort;

 Æ improving commercial practices and skills, 
acumen and capability;

 Æ providing consistency of port views on 
regional issues; and

 Æ extending economy of scale benefits for 
service provision.

Dampier Port. Image courtesy of Dampier Port Authority
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Throughout 2012-13, DoT, in consultation 
with the port authorities, established and 
participated in the following groups to manage 
the amalgamation process:

 Æ a steering committee to focus on strategic 
implementation;

 Æ four ports working groups to focus on 
operational and due diligence activities; and

 Æ an inter-agency working group to 
provide technical, legal, policy and 
legislation support.

DoT compiled a list of activities for the 
working groups for the period from January 
2013 through to the passage of legislation 
to establish the new port authorities. 
Underpinning the amalgamation are two 
tranches of amendments to the Port 
Authorities Act 1999 and other legislation: 

 Æ Tranche 1 amendments will enable 
the establishment of the four new port 
authorities, and establish governance 
arrangements and requirements of port 
authority boards; and 

 Æ Tranche 2 amendments will consolidate 
the changes required to other Acts, in 
particular State Agreement Acts to bring 
port authority ports and Shipping and 
Pilotage Act ports under the control of the 
new regional port authorities. 

The inter-agency working group completed a 
review of State Agreements and contractual 
obligations operating within the port authorities 
and Shipping and Pilotage Act ports in late 
2012. The group is reviewing the extent of the 
proposed amendments with the intention to 
commence consultation and discussion with 
State Agreement companies in 2013-14. 

FREMANTLE PORT LINKAGES 
PROJECTS ENTER DELIVERY PHASE
Fremantle Port is Western Australia’s principal 
trading gateway for general trade. To support 
long-term trade growth, DoT is continuing to 
work with the Fremantle Port Authority, other 
government agencies and the private sector to 
optimise the use of existing port infrastructure, 
improve supply chain efficiencies, minimise 
community impacts and provide additional 
facilities in a timely way. 

Key to this is the Kewdale Intermodal Rail 
Supply Chain. Jointly funded by the State 
Government and the Commonwealth’s Nation 
Building Fund, the project includes: 

 Æ extension of the North Quay Rail Terminal 
to accommodate longer trains and improve 
operating efficiencies at the port; and

 Æ construction of a rail passing loop between 
Fremantle and Kewdale to improve rail line 
capacity into the Inner Harbour.

Throughout 2012-13, these Inner Harbour 
improvements transitioned from development 
to delivery stage. The extension of the North 
Quay Rail Terminal and the construction of the 
passing loop are scheduled to commence in 
November 2013 and March 2014 respectively, 
with both expected to be completed by 
June 2014. 

Fremantle’s Outer Harbour in Cockburn 
Sound will play an important role in meeting 
future growth in the container trade. While the 
above projects ensure the longevity of 
the Inner Harbour, the Western Australian 
Planning Commission is assessing the coastal 
area between Naval Base and James Point 
to identify the preferred location or locations 
for future container port development and 
associated landside infrastructure, including 
freight and intermodal terminals, transport 
connections and services connections. 

This DoT funded assessment will inform the 
development of the Outer Harbour in 10 to 
15 years and is expected to be completed in 
late 2013.
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PORTLINK PLANNING COMMENCED
The PortLink concept seeks to create a 
stronger, more robust State freight network 
and open up the Goldfields-Esperance, Pilbara 
and Mid-West regions to regional development 
opportunities. This will allow greater access 
to services and provide social and economic 
benefits to the regions, the State and, more 
broadly, Australia. 

The project, led by DoT and supported by 
the Department of Regional Development, 
centres on: 

 Æ a feasibility study for an Intermodal Freight 
Terminal in Kalgoorlie and associated freight 
logistics arrangements;

 Æ planning for new road and railway 
alignments around the Kalgoorlie-Boulder 
city centre; 

 Æ investigations to seal the 
Wiluna-Meekatharra Road; and

 Æ the development of new road and railway 
corridors, connecting the resource rich 
Yilgarn area and the Mid West and Pilbara 
regions to export ports.

The planning and investigation stage of PortLink 
is supported by $5 million from the State 
Government’s Royalties for Regions program 
and $2 million from the Commonwealth 
Government’s Nation Building Program through 
to 2014.

Geraldton Port. Image courtesy of Geraldton Port Authority.
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ESPERANCE PORT MULTI-USER 
IRON ORE FACILITY PROJECT 
SOUNDED
The Esperance Port Multi-User Iron Ore 
Facility Project seeks to engage a private 
sector proponent to design, finance, build, 
maintain and operate iron ore handling facilities 
at Esperance Port that satisfy the demands of 
multiple users on a commercially viable basis. 
The additional facilities would increase the 
Port’s capacity to cater for the export of iron 
ore from mines in the Yilgarn region. 

In 2012-13 DoT assisted Esperance Ports Sea 
and Land to establish an experienced project 
team. The team completed a market-sounding 
exercise indicating that it may be commercially 
viable initially to develop a facility for an 
additional 10 to 12 million tonnes per year 
on top of the 11.5 million tonnes per year 
Esperance Port currently handles. 

In early 2013, Esperance Ports Sea and Land 
called for registrations of interest from private 
sector proponents wishing to pre-qualify to 
participate in the Request for Proposal for 
the project. Arising from this process, two 
consortia were shortlisted. It is anticipated 
that the Request for Proposal will be issued 
early in 2013-14 and the preferred respondent 
appointed in the second half of 2013-14.

In 2012-13, the following key milestones were 
achieved:

 Æ Completed the first stages of the study 
into the demand, need and feasibility and 
preliminary site selection for a potential 
Intermodal Terminal in Kalgoorlie;

 Æ Completed preliminary alignment options 
and desktop studies of environmental 
and heritage issues; 

 Æ Completed preliminary plans for the 
realignment options of the existing railway 
line through Kalgoorlie and a new heavy 
vehicle by-pass route around Kalgoorlie;

 Æ Completed mapping and base data 
collection to enable the planning studies 
to be undertaken; 

 Æ Completed the initial ground feature 
and road surveys for sections of the 
Wiluna-Meekatharra Road upgrade 
program;

 Æ Commenced environmental and heritage, 
materials and water source investigations 
for sections of the Wiluna-Meekatharra 
Road upgrade program;

 Æ Commenced preliminary design for 
sections of the Wiluna-Meekatharra Road 
upgrade program; 

 Æ Commenced project scoping and 
investigations into the potential regional 
road and rail links from the Goldfields into 
the Mid West and Pilbara regions and 
access to regional export Ports; and 

 Æ Partnered with regional stakeholders to 
finalise a program to consult with the 
community on the Kalgoorlie road and 
rail realignments and Intermodal Terminal 
location options. 

In 2013-14, DoT will:

 Æ consult with industry and the community 
on the potential road and rail realignment 
options and the Intermodal Terminal 
location and identify a preferred option; 

 Æ complete the Intermodal Terminal 
feasibility, the road and rail realignment 
and the Wiluna-Meekatharra road upgrade 
studies and report findings to the Steering 
Committee; 

 Æ commence the study of the potential 
regional road rail corridors from the 
Goldfields into the Yilgarn, Mid-West and 
Pilbara regions; and 

 Æ commence the PortLink concept economic 
analysis for completion by the end of 2014.
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PHASE TWO OF STATE AVIATION STRATEGY COMPLETED

DoT completed phase two of Western 
Australia’s first State Aviation Strategy during 
2012-13. 

The objectives of the strategy are to:

 Æ support the economic and social 
development of Western Australia through 
the provision of safe, affordable, efficient 
and effective aviation services and 
infrastructure; and

 Æ provide a sound framework for 
policy-setting and future planning 
and investment in Western Australian 
international and domestic air services 
and airport infrastructure.

Phase two involved a review of 52 submissions 
made following the release of DoT’s Aviation 
Strategy Issues Paper in 2012 as well as 
a series of ten regional aviation strategy 
workshops conducted around the State.

The results of the submissions and the 
workshops were combined with feedback 
provided by four industry reference groups 
representing airlines, regional airports, general 
aviation and the resources sector, in order to 
complete the draft strategy. 

The draft State Aviation Strategy is expected 
to be released for public consultation mid in 
2013-14. 

In 2013-14, DoT aims to complete the third and 
final phase of the strategy by: 

 Æ undertaking public consultation on the draft 
aviation strategy; 

 Æ submitting the completed strategy for 
Government approval; and 

 Æ commencing implementation of the strategy.

Perth Domestic Airport
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REGIONAL AIRPORTS 
DEVELOPMENT SCHEME (RADS) 
IMPROVED AIR SERVICES 
AND SAFETY
In 2012-13, DoT continued to administer 
the RADS, which aims to improve Western 
Australian regional air services and safety 
through provision of financial assistance for 
aviation infrastructure.

Through the 2012-13 funding round, 
48 projects, totalling approximately $4 million, 
were completed in regional Western 
Australia. The projects, funded by the State 
Government’s Royalties for Regions program, 
included the development of runways, airport 
facilities, airport grounds, terminals, planning 
studies and maintenance works. 

The 2013-15 funding round closed in February 
2013, with 57 applications received. DoT will 
provide recommendations to the Minister for 
Transport on these projects in the first quarter 
of 2013-14.

NATIONAL TRANSPORT 
REFORMS CLOSER
Throughout 2012-13, DoT continued to 
participate extensively in the working groups 
and project boards established to develop 
and implement the legislation required to 
support the national transport reforms initiated 
by the Council of Australian Governments. 

The reforms include the development of 
national systems for rail safety, commercial 
vessel safety and heavy vehicle regulation.  

Western Australia signed the Intergovernmental 
Agreements on Rail Safety Regulation and 
Investigation Reform as well as Commercial 
Vessel Safety Reform in August 2011 but is yet 
to sign the Intergovernmental Agreement on 
Heavy Vehicle Regulatory Reform as a number 
of issues remain unresolved. 

The Office of the National Rail Safety Regulator 
commenced in January 2013, with the 
exception of Western Australia, Queensland 
and Victoria where the enabling Rail Safety 
National Law is yet to be passed.  

The Marine Safety (Domestic Commercial 
Vessel) National Law Bill 2012 was passed 
by the Australian Parliament in August 2012 
and was proclaimed to commence on 
1 July 2013. The Commonwealth has 

legislated to the extent of its constitutional 
powers to give effect to the reforms. 
Delegations from the National Regulator 
(the Australian Maritime Safety Authority) 
have been put in place to enable DoT to 
carry out functions under the National Law in 
Western Australia from its commencement on 
1 July 2013. 

The Heavy Vehicle National Law Act 2012 
was passed by the Queensland Parliament 
in August 2012 and the National Heavy 
Vehicle Regulator commenced limited 
operations in January 2013.  Western 
Australia is progressing the development of 
enabling legislation to implement the rail and 
commercial vessel reforms.  

DoT intends to complete draft legislation 
to enact the Rail Safety Regulation and 
Investigation Reform and Commercial Vessel 
Safety Reform in 2013-14. 

Learmonth Airport
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Actual results versus budget targets 
The following table provides a comparison of the financial targets and outcomes against 
criteria included in the Resource Agreement between the Chief Executive Officer, the Minister 
for Transport and the Treasurer.

2012-13 
TARGET
$’000

2012-13 
ACTUAL
$’000

VARIATION
$’000

Total cost of services 360,943 357,722 ‑3,221 Note 1

Net cost of services 153,964 164,125 10,161 Note 2

Total equity 638,660 654,428 15,768 Note 3

Net increase/decrease in 
cash held 15,379 8,117 ‑7,262 Note 4

Approved full time 
equivalent (FTE) 1,473 1,436 ‑37 Note 5

Notes

These notes should be read in conjunction with the 
Explanatory Statement to the Financial Statements 
on page 135.

Note 1: Total costs of services

Lower spending against various grants and 
subsidies and implementation of the Government’s 
2012-13 budget correction measures.

Note 2: Net cost of services 

Below-budget revenue, primarily from advertising, 
more than offset the lower total cost of services.

Note 3: Total equity 

Above-budget opening equity, mainly from 
assets transferred to DoT, was partly offset by 
below-budget surpluses for the 2012-13 year.

Note 4: Net increase in cash held

The lower decrease mainly relates to timing of 
expenditure, whereby cash holding increased 
by greater than budget in 2011-12 and less than 
budget in 2012-13. The total cash held is marginally 
higher than budget. 

Note 5: Approved FTE

The budgeted FTE ceiling was reduced as part 
of budget correction measures. The actual FTE’s 
for the year more accurately reflects DoT’s staffing 
requirements.
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Economic
The rapid population growth in Perth and Peel 
is forecast to see the city reach 2.7 million 
people by 2031. Perth is a long narrow city 
and significant pressures have been building 
on the main north-south freeway/railway 
spine which provides a backbone to the city’s 
transport network. A 20 year integrated view 
of how the transport network should function 
has been developed in the Moving People 
Network Plan. This builds on the principles 
and initiatives in the In Motion: A 20 Year 
Public Transport Plan for Perth and Peel and 
the Western Australian Bicycle Network Plan 
2012-2021 to provide a focus for initiatives 
that optimise the efficiency, and expand the 
capacity, of the road network. Work has 
also commenced on the development of 
long-term, multi-modal transport options for 
Perth that tie in with land use to support a 
population of 3.5 million, with the focus on 
long-term structural additions to the city’s 
transport network.

A new, light rail rapid transit system, with the 
capacity to move large volumes of people 
during peak hours, is needed for the central 
northern suburbs and to move people east 
and west to and through the CBD. Similarly, 
a new public transport rail line to the Perth 
Airport and suburbs to its east is needed to 
improve existing services. DoT will continue to 
plan and develop systems for these corridors 
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during 2013-14 by finalising the detailed 
business cases to confirm Commonwealth 
Government funding, further refining the 
scope of works and analysing procurement 
options including potential involvement of the 
private sector.

The CBD is undergoing major transformation 
and growth, particularly in major civic 
development precincts such as Elizabeth 
Quay and the Perth City Link. The strategic 
activity centres at Murdoch, Burswood, Stirling 
and QEII Medical Precinct are also seeing 
massive investment in public infrastructure 
and commercial and residential developments. 
The scale of activity and change will require 
a fundamental shift in the way transport 
demands are considered in planning approvals 
and the investment in transport infrastructure 
and facilities. Many initiatives are being 
implemented from the CBD Transport Plan to 
2016, and strategies to manage parking supply 
and traffic pressures are being examined for all 
the major centres.

The freight demands of export industries and 
the demand for consumer goods from a rapidly 
growing population have highlighted the critical 
need for strategic transport network plans that 
identify and prioritise infrastructure investment 
requirements over the next two decades 
and focus attention on the major policy 
and planning tasks for new and expanded 
infrastructure. The Minister for Transport 
released the Western Australian Regional 

Freight Transport Network Plan in May 2013, 
which highlights the significant road investment 
task for regional freight, a major investment 
program by Brookfield Rail Pty Ltd, and 
large-scale investments in regional ports. The 
department is working to complete a freight 
and intermodal network plan for metropolitan 
Perth, which will focus on redefining the 
strategic road freight network, investments to 
increase capacity in the rail freight network, 
measures to protect freight networks from 
urban encroachment, and medium to long-
term plans for port development.

Western Australian ports continue to be under 
pressure to meet demand for infrastructure 
and export capacity allocations. The Ports 
Governance Review, which includes a phased 
consolidation of seven Western Australian port 
authorities and 13 smaller port facilities to form 
four regional ports authorities is progressing as 
planned and it is anticipated legislative changes 
to effect the amalgamations will be introduced 
in 2013 so these can commence in 2014.

Air services are vital in connecting Western 
Australia’s widely dispersed towns, settlements 
and mine sites. The State Aviation Strategy 
is continuing to be developed in consultation 
with industry reference groups representing 
airlines, regional airports, general aviation and 
the resources sector. The strategy will ensure 
that aviation continues to support the State’s 
economic and social development.

Active transport, particularly cycling, needs to 
be promoted as a viable form of transport over 
short distances. The Western Australian Bicycle 
Network Plan will guide the continued delivery of 
cycling infrastructure to better meet the growing 
demand for convenient, safe cycling routes and 
end-of-trip facilities, together with alignment with 
current Government urban planning policy and 
directions. On top of the additional $20 million 
provided in last year’s State Budget, the 
Government has provided a further $11 million 
to continue to develop and improve cycling 
infrastructure. New and upgraded paths along 
the Perth-Midland rail line and Kwinana Freeway 
are immediate priorities.

There has been a rapid increase in demand on 
facilities at Exmouth Boat Harbour over the last 
decade from vessels servicing the resources 
sector. To address the critical shortage of boat 
mooring pens and demand for wharf access 
in the region, the department is undertaking a 
staged expansion and upgrade program, with 
the construction of 25 cyclone-rated floating 
pens to be completed in July 2013. Further 
expansion of the harbour will commence in 
July 2014, including an extension to the existing 
service wharf, heavy lift facilities and associated 
landside wharf infrastructure. The expansion 
and upgrade of the harbour supports the 
development of marine tourism and recreational 
activities, and enhances business opportunities 
associated with the resources sector.
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Social
DoT faces an ongoing need to enhance 
customer convenience and choice in 
accessing driver and vehicle services. 
Initiatives planned for 2013-14 to achieve 
this include: 

 Æ Identity access management solutions 
to enable further expansion of the online 
self-service functions;

 Æ New customer-focused Cannington 
Driver and Vehicle Services (DVS) Centre 
to replace the existing aging facility at 
Welshpool and the identification of a new 
location for the Morley DVS Centre;

 Æ Further expansion of partner services, 
including new metropolitan Authorised 
Inspection Stations and extended 
over-the-counter services in Australia Post 
outlets; and

 Æ A new regional trial using existing 
partner services already delivering 
multi-combination practical driving 
assessments to deliver HR (Heavy Rigid) 
and HC (Heavy Combination) practical 
driving assessments.

The Western Australian community has a 
growing expectation for a safer and more 
accessible taxi industry. DoT is committed to 
further improving the taxi industry in 2013-14 

by implementing its Taxi Action Plan initiatives 
including the third and final phase of the 
Taxi Camera Surveillance Unit replacement 
program and the new occupational licensing 
system for taxi drivers. 

A component of the Taxi Action Plan, includes 
a new occupational licensing system for taxi 
drivers that will introduce a penalty point 
system for all Western Australian taxi drivers, 
with new drivers subject to a penalty point 
system. The legislation will provide greater 
flexibility for setting entry and ongoing 
professional development standards, and 
gives legal recognition to the Taxi Driver Code 
of Conduct.

The Swan Riverpark is one of the State’s 
most popular boating destinations with a 
significant portion of Perth’s 52,890 registered 
recreational vessels accessing the Riverpark 
on a regular basis. Research shows that 
the majority of vessel groundings in the 
Swan River occur at night. In 2013-14 the 
Department will complete the final stages of 
the Swan River Navigation Aids Enhancement 
Project to significantly enhance safe navigation 
in the Swan River, helping guide skippers 
through the most challenging parts of Melville 
Waters, both day and night.

Marine Education Boatshed
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Environmental
Seagrass accumulation and beach erosion 
at Port Geographe has been an issue for 
a number of years. The department will 
commence work to reconfigure the coastal 
structures at Port Geographe in July 2013. 
In addition to addressing the environmental 
issues, the project will improve amenity 
and the viability of the currently stalled Port 
Geographe development.
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INDEPENDENT  
AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE PARLIAMENT OF 
WESTERN AUSTRALIA

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORT

Report on the Financial Statements

I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Department of Transport.

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2013, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, 
Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service, Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service, 
and Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates for the year then 
ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information including Administered transactions and balances.

Director General’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Director General is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Director General determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the Department’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Director General, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.
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Opinion

In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Department of Transport at 30 June 2013 and 
its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.

Report on Controls

I have audited the controls exercised by the Department of Transport during the year ended 
30 June 2013.

Controls exercised by the Department of Transport are those policies and procedures established 
by the Director General to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the 
acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with 
legislative provisions.

Director General’s Responsibility for Controls

The Director General is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to 
ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of 
public and other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law.

Auditor’s Responsibility

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
controls exercised by the Department of Transport based on my audit conducted in accordance 
with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of controls 
to ensure that the Department complies with the legislative provisions. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and implementation 
of relevant controls.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

INDEPENDENT  
AUDITOR’S REPORT
(CONTINUED)
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Opinion

In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Department of Transport are sufficiently adequate 
to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the 
acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with 
legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2013.

Report on the Key Performance Indicators

I have audited the key performance indicators of the Department of Transport for the year ended 
30 June 2013.

The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency 
indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service provision.

Director General’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators

The Director General is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key 
performance indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions and for such controls as the Director General determines necessary to 
ensure that the key performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance.

Auditor’s Responsibility

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the key 
performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and 
Assurance Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance 
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making 
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Director General’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of 
outcome achievement and service provision.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

INDEPENDENT  
AUDITOR’S REPORT
(CONTINUED)
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Opinion

In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Department of Transport are relevant and 
appropriate to assist users to assess the Department’s performance and fairly represent indicated 
performance for the year ended 30 June 2013.

Independence

In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements.

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial 
Statements and Key Performance Indicators

This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
Department of Transport for the year ended 30 June 2013 included on the Department’s website. 
The Department’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Department’s website. 
This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Department’s website. The auditor’s 
report refers only to the financial statements and key performance indicators described above. 
It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked  
to/from these financial statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial 
statements and key performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising from 
publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial 
statements and key performance indicators to confirm the information contained in this website 
version of the financial statements and key performance indicators.

Colin Murphy 
Auditor General

For Western Australia 
Perth, Western Australia

18 September 2013

INDEPENDENT  
AUDITOR’S REPORT
(CONTINUED)
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Certification of 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2013

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Transport have been prepared in 
compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and 
records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2013 and 
the financial position as at 30 June 2013.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

      

Graeme Doyle     Reece Waldock 
Chief Finance Officer    Accountable Authority     
     

16 September 2013    16 September 2013    
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Statement of

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 30 June 2013

 2013  2012 
Note  $ 000  $ 000 

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses

Employee benefits expense   4  130 293  121 267 
Supplies and services   5  107 638  97 159 
Depreciation and amortisation expense   6  14 431  11 869 
Accommodation expenses   7  12 137  10 887 
Grants and subsidies   8  88 997  80 246 
Loss on disposal of non-current assets   13  1 005   119 
Other expenses   9  3 221  5 768 

Total cost of services  357 722  327 315 

Income
Revenue

User charges and fees 10  139 811  132 751 
Sales   286   174 
Grants and contributions 11  7 980  17 061 
Interest revenue  1 676  2 114 
Other revenues 12  43 844  40 961 

Total revenue  193 597  193 061 
Total income other than income from State Government  193 597  193 061 

NET COST OF SERVICES  164 125  134 254 

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 14
Service appropriation  140 297  157 242 
Assets transferred  ( 109)  19 316 
Services received free of charge  1 830  1 751 
Royalties for Regions Fund  25 426  20 767 

Total income from State Government  167 444  199 076 

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD  3 319  64 822 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 30  (2 685)  (10 707)
Total other comprehensive income  (2 685)  (10 707)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD   634  54 115 

See also the Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service.

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read  
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of

FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 30 June 2013

See also the ‘Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service’.

The Statement of Financial Position should be read  
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

 2013  2012 
Note  $ 000  $ 000 

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 15  32 319  39 476 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16  104 507  89 677 
Inventories 17   341   398 
Receivables 18  10 417  9 673 
Other current assets 20  2 123   616 

Total Current Assets  149 707  139 840 

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16  2 820  2 376 
Amounts receivable for services 19  161 533  149 326 
Property, plant, equipment, vehicles and vessels 21  170 011  165 549 
Infrastructure 22  173 087  148 033 
Intangible assets 23  20 039  18 669 
Construction in progress 24  39 119  37 177 

Total Non-Current Assets  566 609  521 130 

TOTAL ASSETS  716 316  660 970 

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables 26  24 334  13 324 
Borrowings 27  -   28 
Provisions 28  26 730  23 760 
Other current liabilities 29  4 371  3 870 

Total Current Liabilities  55 435  40 982 

Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings 27 - -
Provisions 28  6 453  5 833 
Total Non-Current Liabilities  6 453  5 833 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  61 888  46 815 

NET ASSETS  654 428  614 155 

EQUITY 30
Contributed equity  527 466  487 827 
Reserves  2 914  5 599 
Accumulated surplus  124 048  120 729 

TOTAL EQUITY  654 428  614 155
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Statement of

CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 30 June 2013

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Note 

CONTRIBUTED  
EQUITY  RESERVES 

ACCUMULATED 
SURPLUS 

TOTAL 
EQUITY 

$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

Balance at 1 July 2011   431 483   16 306   55 907   503 696 

Surplus for the period  -  -   64 822   64 822 
Other comprehensive income  -  (10 707)  -  (10 707)
Total comprehensive income for the year 30  -  (10 707)   64 822   54 115 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners
Capital appropriations   9 570  -  -   9 570 
Other contributions by owners

 - Department of Planning   22 903  -  -   22 903 
 - LandCorp   13 977  -  -   13 977 
 - Regional Development Headworks Fund   9 894  -  -   9 894 

  56 344  -  -   56 344 

Balance at 30 June 2012   487 827   5 599   120 729   614 155 

Balance at 1 July 2012  487 827  5 599  120 729  614 155 

Surplus for the period  -  -   3 319   3 319 
Other comprehensive income  (2 685)  (2 685)
Total comprehensive income for the year  -  (2 685)  3 319   634 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners
Capital appropriations  15 104  -  -  15 104 
Other contributions by owners

 - Regional Development Headworks Fund  16 207  -  -  16 207 
 - Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority  5 159  -  -  5 159 
 - Department of Regional Development and Lands  6 005  -  -  6 005 

Distributions to owners
 - Public Transport Authroity  (2 600)  -  -  (2 600)
 - Department of Regional Development and Lands  (236)  -  -  (236)

 39 639  -  -  39 639 

Balance at 30 June 2013  527 466  2 914  124 048  654 428 
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Statement of

CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 30 June 2013

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read  
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

 2013  2012 
Note  $ 000  $ 000 

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation   128 090   141 917 
Capital appropriations   15 104   9 570 
Cash transferred (to)/from other agencies  (2 600)   19 162 
Royalties for Regions Fund   41 633   20 767 

Net cash provided by State Government   182 227   191 416 

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Employee benefits  (126 770)  (119 485)
Supplies and services  (105 005)  (81 549)
Accommodation  (11 385)  (9 618)
Grants and subsidies  (82 202)  (83 156)
GST payments on purchases  (24 691)  (18 677)
GST payments to taxation authority  -
Other payments  (3 975)  (23 894)

Receipts
Sale of goods and services    275    172 
User charges and fees   140 423   142 858 
Grants and subsidies   8 951   12 879 
Interest received   1 795   2 044 
GST receipts on sales   7 579   7 193 
GST receipts from taxation authority   16 918   20 530 
Other receipts   42 620   24 225 

Net cash used in operating activities  31 (b)  (135 467)  (126 478)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Purchase of non-current physical assets  (38 705)  (25 647)
Receipts

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets    90    43 
Net cash used in investing activities  (38 615)  (25 604)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Payments for finance lease  ( 28)  ( 19)
Net cash used in financing activities  ( 28)  ( 19)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   8 117   39 315 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period   131 529   92 214 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD  31 (a)   139 646   131 529 
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Schedule of

INCOME AND EXPENSES BY SERVICE 
For the year ended 30 June 2013

 

TRANSPORT SYSTEM AND 
SERVICES DEVELOPMENT, 

PLANNING, OPERATION AND 
REGULATION

DRIVER AND 
VEHICLE SERVICES

STRATEGIC  
TRANSPORT POLICY  

AND INTEGRATED 
PLANNING TOTAL

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses

Employee benefits expenses  27 974  29 094  85 175  78 102  17 144  14 071  130 293  121 267 
Supplies and services  38 664  39 247  52 326  48 043  16 648  9 869  107 638  97 159 
Depreciation and amortisation expense  8 088  6 202  5 866  5 265   477   402  14 431  11 869 
Accommodation expenses  3 026  3 065  8 205  7 151   906   671  12 137  10 887 
Grants and subsidies  31 019  55 205  23 113  22 597  34 865  2 444  88 997  80 246 
Loss on disposal of non-current assets   978   87   15   28   12   4  1 005   119 
Other expenses   758  2 965  1 438  2 421  1 025   382  3 221  5 768 

Total cost of services  110 507  135 865  176 138  163 607  71 077  27 843  357 722  327 315 

Income
User charges and fees  42 589  39 670  62 953  61 025  34 269  32 056  139 811  132 751 
Sales   181   162   88   9   17   3   286   174 
Grants and contributions   338  1 408  3 808  14 874  3 834   779  7 980  17 061 
Interest revenue  1 244  1 611   362   429   70   74  1 676  2 114 
Other revenue  37 549  5 595  7 622  30 167  (1 327)  5 199  43 844  40 961

Total income other than income from  
State Government  81 901  48 446  74 833  106 504  36 863  38 111  193 597  193 061 

NET COST OF SERVICES  28 606  87 419  101 305  57 103  34 214  (10 268)  164 125  134 254 

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation  47 503  38 375  55 594  69 656  37 200  49 211  140 297  157 242 
Assets transferred  -  19 316  -  -  (109)  -  (109)  19 316 
Services received free of charge   390   401  1 210  1 151   230   199  1 830  1 751 
Royalties for Regions Fund  1 995  7 302  22 631  13 265   800   200  25 426  20 767 

Total income from State Government  49 888  65 394  79 435  84 072  38 121  49 610  167 444  199 076 

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD  21 282  (22 025)  (21 870)  26 969  3 907  59 878  3 319  64 822 

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Schedule of

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY SERVICE
As at 30 June 2013

 TRANSPORT SYSTEM AND 
SERVICES DEVELOPMENT, 

PLANNING, OPERATION AND 
REGULATION

DRIVER AND 
VEHICLE SERVICES

STRATEGIC TRANSPORT 
POLICY AND INTEGRATED 

PLANNING TOTAL
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

ASSETS
Current Assets  120 435  112 495  28 812  26 915   460   430  149 707  139 840 
Non-Current Assets  494 556  454 861  69 938  64 324  2 115  1 945  566 609  521 130 

Total Assets  614 991  567 356  98 750  91 239  2 575  2 375  716 316  660 970 

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities  26 389  19 509  25 656  18 967  3 390  2 506  55 435  40 982 
Non-Current Liabilities  1 512  1 366  4 344  3 927   597   540  6 453  5 833 

Total Liabilities  27 901  20 875  30 000  22 894  3 987  3 046  61 888  46 815 

NET ASSETS  587 090  546 481  68 750  68 345  (1 412)  (671)  654 428  614 155

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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2013
ESTIMATE

2013
ACTUAL VARIANCE

2013
ACTUAL

2012
ACTUAL VARIANCE

$ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000

DELIVERY OF SERVICES
Item 84 Net amount appropriated to deliver services  143 230  139 204  (4 026)  139 204  156 184  (16 980)
Amount authorised by other statutes:
  - Salaries and Allowances Act 1975  1 090  1 093   3  1 093  1 058   35 
Total appropriations provided to deliver services  144 320  140 297  (4 023)  140 297  157 242  (16 945)

CAPITAL
Item 151 Capital appropriations  18 201  15 104  (3 097)  15 104  9 570  5 534 

ADMINISTERED TRANSACTIONS
Item 85 Western Australian Coastal 
Shipping Commission   85   85  -   85   80   5 
Total administered transactions   85   85  -   85   80   5 

GRAND TOTAL  162 606  155 486  (7 120)  155 486  166 892  (11 406)

Details of expenses by service
Transport System and Services Development, Planning, Operation and Regulation  121 941  110 507  (11 434)  110 507  135 865  (25 358)
Driver and Vehicle Services  161 027  176 138  15 111  176 138  163 607  12 531 
Strategic Transport Policy and Integrated Planning  77 975  71 077  (6 898)  71 077  27 843  43 234 
Total cost of services  360 943  357 722  (3 221)  357 722  327 315  30 407 
Less: Total income  206 979  193 597  (13 382)  193 597  193 061   536 
Net cost of services  153 964  164 125  10 161  164 125  134 254  29 871 
Adjustments (i)  9 644  23 828  14 184  23 828  22 988   840 
Total appropriations provided to deliver services  144 320  140 297  24 345  140 297  157 242  30 711 

Capital expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets  44 165  38 705  (5 460)  38 705  25 647  13 058 
Delivery of Services  -  -  -  6 411  (6 411)
  - Internal funds and balances  (9 114)  (7 394)  1 720  (7 394)  (12 594)  5 200 
  - Commonwealth grants  (4 550)  -  4 550  -  -  -
  - Royalties for Regions  (12 300)  (16 207)  (3 907)  (16 207)  (9 894)  (6 313)
Capital appropriations  18 201  15 104  (3 097)  15 104  9 570  5 534 

DETAILS OF INCOME ESTIMATES
Income disclosed as Administered Income  795 779  1 789 651  993 872  1 789 651  1 671 009  118 642 

(i) Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation. 
Note 36 Explanatory statement provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2013. 

Summary of

CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNT APPROPRIATIONS AND INCOME ESTIMATES 
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Department of Transport Annual Report 2012-13 97



1 Australian Accounting Standards

 General

 The Department’s financial statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2013 have been 
prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian 
Accounting Standards’ includes Standards 
and interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standard Board (AASB).

 The Department has adopted any 
applicable new and revised Australian 
Accounting Standards from their  
operative dates.

 Early adoption of standards 

 The Department cannot early adopt an 
Australian Accounting Standard unless 
specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application 
of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Other Pronouncements. There has been 
no early adoption of Australian Accounting 
Standards that have been issued or 
amended (but not operative) by the 
Department for the annual reporting period 
ended 30 June 2013.

 Where modification is required and has 
had a material or significant financial effect 
upon the reported results, details of that 
modification and the resulting financial 
effect are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements.

2 Summary of significant  
accounting policies

(a) General statement

 The Department is a not-for-profit 
reporting entity that prepares general 
purpose financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, the Framework, Statements 
of Accounting Concepts and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the AASB 
as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions. 
Several of these are modified by the 
Treasurer’s instructions to vary application, 
disclosure, format and wording.

 The Financial Management Act and the 
Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative 
provisions that govern the preparation of 
financial statements and take precedence 
over Australian Accounting Standards, the 
Framework, Statements of Accounting 
Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB.

 Where modification is required and has 
had a material or significant financial effect 
upon the reported results, details of that 
modification and the resulting financial 
effect are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements.

Notes to the 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2013
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(d) Contributed equity

 AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions 
by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public 
Sector Entities requires transfers in the 
nature of equity contributions, other than 
as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the 
Government (the owner) as contributions by 
owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) 
before such transfers can be recognised as 
equity contributions. Capital appropriations 
have been designated as contributions by 
owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners 
made to Wholly Owned Public Sector 
Entities and have been credited directly to 
Contributed Equity.

 The transfer of net assets to/from other 
agencies, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, 
are designated as contributions by owners 
where the transfers are non-discretionary 
and non-reciprocal. See note 30 Equity.

(e) Income 

 Revenue recognition

 Revenue is recognised and measured at 
the fair value of consideration received or 
receivable. Revenue is recognised for the 
major business activities as follows:

(b) Basis of preparation

 The financial statements have been 
prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting using the historical cost 
convention, except for land and buildings 
which have been measured at fair value.

 The accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of the financial statements have 
been consistently applied throughout all 
periods presented unless otherwise stated.

 The financial statements are presented in 
Australian dollars and all values are rounded 
to the nearest thousand dollars ($ 000).

 In the process of reporting the Department 
as a single entity, all intra entity transactions 
and balances have been eliminated.

(c) Reporting entity

 The reporting entity comprises the 
Department.

 Services

 The Department provides the following 
services:

 Service 1: Transport System and 
Services Development, Planning, 
Operation and Regulation

 Transport system and services 
development, planning, operation 
and regulation is designed to improve 
accessibility and safety of the transport 
system for all Western Australians.

 Service 2: Driver and Vehicle Services

 The Road Traffic Act 1974 confers on the 
Department responsibility for licensing the 
State’s drivers and registering vehicles.

 Service 3: Strategic Transport Policy 
and Integrated Planning

 Strategic Transport Policy contributes to 
the achievement of the desired Transport 
outcome, where integrated transport 
systems facilitate economic development 
by providing leadership for strategic 
transport issues.

 Integrated Transport Planning contributes 
to the achievement of the desired 
Transport outcome, where integrated 
transport systems facilitate economic 
development by providing leadership for 
strategic transport issues.

 The Department administers assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses on behalf 
of Government which are not controlled 
by, nor integral to the function of the 
Department. These administered balances 
and transactions are not recognised in 
the principal financial statements of the 
Department but schedules are prepared 
using the same basis as the financial 
statements and are presented at note 44 
Administered expenses and income and 
note 45 Administered assets and liabilities.
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 Grants, donations, gifts and other  
non-reciprocal contributions

 Revenue is recognised at fair value when 
the Department obtains control over 
the assets comprising the contributions 
usually when cash is received.

 Other non-reciprocal contributions 
that are not contributions by owners 
are recognised at their fair value. 
Contributions of services are only 
recognised when a fair value can be 
reliably determined and the services 
would be purchased if not donated.

 Royalties for regions funds are 
recognised as revenue at fair value in the 
period in which the Department obtains 
control over the funds. The Department 
obtains control of the funds at the 
time the funds are deposited into the 
Department’s bank account.

 Gains

 Realised and unrealised gains are usually 
recognised on a net basis. These include 
gains arising on the disposal of  
non-current assets and some revaluations 
of non-current assets.

 Sale of goods

 Revenue is recognised from the sale 
of goods and disposal of other assets 
when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership transfer to the purchaser and 
can be measured reliably.

 Provision of services

 Revenue is recognised on delivery of the 
service to the client or by reference to the 
stage of completion of the transaction.

 Revenues are received in the form of 
various registration, examination and 
licence fees (including Stamp Duty and 
Third Party Motor Vehicle Insurance).  
These revenues are received for services 
provided including undertaking inspections 
and/or issuing licences associated with 
the fees. As no part of these charges is 
refundable, revenues are recognised at  
the time they are received.

 Revenues collected from traffic and 
cannabis infringements are administered on 
behalf of the Western Australian Police and 
are recognised when the cash is received.

 The revenue from other operating activities 
including rendering of services and the 
sale of assets are recognised when the 
Department has passed control of the 
goods or other assets or delivery of the 
service to the customer. Recoups of 
operating activities are recognised  
when invoiced.

 Interest

 Revenue is recognised as the interest 
accrues.

 Service appropriations

 Service appropriations are recognised 
as revenues at fair value in the period in 
which the Department gains control of 
the appropriated funds. The Department 
gains control of appropriated funds at the 
time those funds are deposited into the 
Department’s bank account or credited 
to the Amounts receivable for services 
(holding account) held at Treasury.  
See note 14 Income from State 
Government for further detail.

 Net appropriation determination

 The Treasurer may make a determination 
providing for prescribed receipts to be 
retained for services under the control of 
the Department. In accordance with the 
determination specified in the 2012-13 
Budget Statements, the Department 
retained $194 million in 2013 ($193 million 
in 2012) from the following:

 Boat registration fees, Indian Ocean 
Territories Program, jetty licences, 
marine examinations, duplicate motor 
drivers licence fees, motor vehicle 
transfer fees, motor vehicle plate fees, 
proof of age card, recoup for services 
provided, temporary permits, and 
other revenue.

Department of Transport Annual Report 2012-13100



from the asset’s fair value at the end of the 
reporting period.

 The most significant assumptions in 
estimating fair value are made in assessing 
whether to apply the existing use basis to 
assets and in determining estimated useful 
life. Professional judgement by the valuer 
is required where the evidence does not 
provide a clear distinction between market 
type assets and existing use assets.

 Refer to note 21 Property, plant, 
equipment, vehicles and vessels for further 
information on revaluations.

 Derecognition

 Upon disposal or derecognition of an item 
of property, plant and equipment, any 
revaluation surplus relating to that asset is 
retained in the asset revaluation surplus.

 Asset revaluation surplus

 The asset revaluation surplus is used 
to record increments and decrements 
on the revaluation of non-current assets 
as described in note 21 Property, plant, 
equipment, vehicles and vessels.

 Depreciation

 All non-current assets having a limited 
useful life are systematically depreciated 
over their estimated useful lives in a 
manner that reflects the consumption of 
their future economic benefits.

(f) Property, plant and equipment and 
infrastructure

 Capitalisation/expensing of assets

 Items of property, plant and equipment 
and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more 
are recognised as assets and the cost of 
utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) 
over their useful lives. Items of property, 
plant and equipment and infrastructure 
costing less than $5,000 are immediately 
expensed directly to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income (other than where 
they form part of a group of similar items 
which are significant in total).

 Initial recognition and measurement

 Property, plant and equipment and 
infrastructure are initially recognised  
at cost.

 For items of property, plant and equipment 
and infrastructure acquired at no cost or 
for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value 
at the date of acquisition.

 Subsequent measurement

 Subsequent to initial recognition of an 
asset, the revaluation model is used for  
the measurement of land and buildings, 
and the cost model for all other property, 
plant, equipment and infrastructure.  
Land and buildings are carried at fair value 
less accumulated depreciation (buildings 

only) and accumulated impairment losses. 
All other items of property, plant, equipment 
and infrastructure are stated at historical 
cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

 Where market-based evidence is available, 
the fair value of land and buildings is 
determined on the basis of current market 
buying values determined by reference to 
recent market transactions.

 Where market-based evidence is not 
available, the fair value of land and 
buildings is determined on the basis of 
existing use. This normally applies where 
buildings are specialised or where land 
use is restricted. Fair value for existing 
use assets is determined by reference to 
the cost of replacing the remaining future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset, 
i.e. the depreciated replacement cost.

 When buildings are revalued, the 
accumulated depreciation is eliminated 
against the gross carrying amount of the 
asset and the net amount restated to the 
revalued amount.

 Independent valuations of land and 
buildings are provided annually by the 
Western Australian Land Information 
Authority (Valuation Services) and 
recognised annually to ensure that the 
carrying amount does not differ materially 
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(h) Impairment of assets

 The recoverable amount of assets 
identified as surplus assets is the higher of 
fair value less costs to sell and the present 
value of future cash flows expected to be 
derived from the asset. Surplus assets 
carried at fair value have no risk of 
material impairment where fair value is 
determined by reference to market-based 
evidence. Where fair value is determined 
by reference to depreciated replacement 
cost, surplus assets are at risk of 
impairment and the recoverable amount 
is measured. Surplus assets at cost are 
tested for indications of impairment at the 
end of each reporting period.

 See note 25 Impairment of assets for the 
outcome of impairment reviews and testing.

 See note 2(p) Receivables and note 18 
Receivables for impairment of receivables.

(i) Non-current assets (or disposal 
groups) classified as held for sale

 Non-current assets (or disposal groups) 
held for sale are recognised at the lower of 
carrying amount and fair value less costs 
to sell, and are disclosed separately from 
other assets in the Statement of Financial 
Position. Assets classified as held for sale 
are not depreciated or amortised.

 Land is not depreciated. Depreciation 
on other assets is calculated using the 
straight line method, using rates which are 
reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives 
for each class of depreciable asset are:

Buildings 40 years

Computer hardware 4 to 7 years

Refurbishments,  
furniture and fittings 3 to 20 years

Maritime infrastructure 5 to 100 years

Plant and equipment 5 to 20 years

Vehicles 5 to 20 years

Vessels 10 years

Leased plant, equipment 
and vehicles 2 years

 Assets under construction are not 
depreciated until commissioned.

(g) Intangible assets

 Capitalisation/expensing of assets

 Acquisitions of intangible assets costing 
$5,000 or more and internally generated 
intangible assets costing $50,000 or 
more are capitalised. The cost of utilising 
the assets is expensed (amortised) 
over their useful lives. Costs incurred 
below these thresholds are immediately 
expensed directly to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

 Intangible assets are initially recognised at 
cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for 
nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at 
the date of acquisition.

 The cost model is applied for subsequent 
measurement requiring the asset to be 
carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated  
impairment losses.

 Amortisation for intangible assets with 
finite useful lives is calculated for the 
period of the expected benefit (estimated 
useful life) on the straight line basis 
using rates which are reviewed annually. 
All intangible assets controlled by the 
Department have a finite useful life and 
zero residual value.

 The expected useful lives for each class of 
intangible asset are:

 Software not integral to the operation of 
related hardware – 3 to 15 years

 Computer software

 Software that is an integral part of 
the related hardware is recognised as 
property, plant and equipment. Software 
that is not an integral part of the related 
hardware is treated as an intangible asset. 
Software costing less than $5,000 is 
expensed in the year of acquisition.
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(l) Cash and cash equivalents

 For the purpose of the ‘Statement of 
Cash Flows’, cash and cash equivalents 
(and restricted cash and cash equivalent) 
assets comprise cash on hand and 
short-term deposits with original maturities 
of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash 
and which are subject to insignificant risk 
of changes in value.

(m) Accrued salaries

 Accrued salaries (see note 26 Payables) 
represent the amount due to staff but 
unpaid at the end of the financial year. 
Accrued salaries are settled within 
a fortnight of the financial year end. 
The Department considers the carrying 
amount of accrued salaries to be 
equivalent to its net fair value.

 The accrued salaries suspense account 
(See note 16 Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents) consists of amounts paid 
annually into a suspense account over 
a period of 10 financial years to largely 
meet the additional cash outflow in each 
eleventh year when 27 pay days occur 
instead of the normal 26. No interest is 
received on this account. 

(j) Leases

 Finance lease rights and obligations are 
initially recognised, at the commencement 
of the lease term, as assets and liabilities 
equal in amount to the fair value of the 
leased item or, if lower, the present 
value of the minimum lease payments, 
determined at the inception of the lease. 
The assets are disclosed as plant, 
equipment and vehicles under lease, and 
are depreciated over the period during 
which the Department is expected to 
benefit from their use. Minimum lease 
payments are apportioned between the 
finance charge and the reduction of the 
outstanding lease liability, according to the 
interest rate implicit in the lease.

 The Department holds operating leases 
for a number of branch office buildings, 
motor vehicles and office equipment. 
Operating lease payments are expensed 
on a straight line basis over the lease term 
as this represents the pattern of benefits 
derived from the leased properties.

(k) Financial Instruments

 In addition to cash and cash equivalents, 
the Department has two categories of 
financial instrument:

 Æ Receivables; and  

 Æ Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost.

 Financial instruments have been 
disaggregated into the following classes: 

Financial Assets    

 Æ Cash and cash equivalents 

 Æ Restricted cash and cash equivalents

 Æ Receivables

 Æ Amounts receivable for services

Financial Liabilities

 Æ Payables

 Æ Finance Lease Liabilities

 Initial recognition and measurement of 
financial instruments is at fair value which 
normally equates to the transaction cost or 
the face value. Subsequent measurement 
is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

 The fair value of short-term receivables 
and payables is the transaction cost or the 
face value because there is no interest rate 
applicable and subsequent measurement 
is not required as the effect of discounting 
is not material.
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(s) Provisions

 Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing 
or amount and are recognised where there 
is a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of a past event and when the 
outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits is probable and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period.

 See note 28 Provisions.

(i) Provisions – employee benefits

 All annual leave and long service leave 
provisions are in respect of employees’ 
services up to the end of the reporting 
period.

 Annual leave

 The liability for annual leave that is 
expected to be settled within 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period 
is recognised and measured at the 
undiscounted amounts expected to be 
paid when the liability is settled.

 Annual leave that is not expected to be 
settled within 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period is recognised and 
measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled using the remuneration 
rate expected to apply at the time 
of settlement.

(n) Amounts receivable for services 
(Holding Account)

 The Department receives funding on  
an accrual basis. The appropriations  
are paid partly in cash and partly as  
an asset (holding account receivable).  
The accrued amount receivable is 
accessible on the emergence of the 
cash funding requirement to cover leave 
entitlements and asset replacement.

 See also note 14 Income from State 
Government and note 19 Amounts 
receivable for services.

(o) Inventories

 Inventories are measured at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value. Costs are 
assigned by the method most appropriate 
for each particular class of inventory, with 
the majority being measured on a first in 
first out basis.

 Inventories not held for resale are valued 
at cost unless they are no longer required, 
in which case they are valued at net 
realisable value.

 See Note 17 Inventories.

(p) Receivables

 Receivables are recognised at original 
invoice amount less an allowance for any 
uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). 
The collectability of receivables is 
reviewed on an ongoing basis and any 
receivables identified as uncollectible are 

written-off against the allowance account. 
The allowance for uncollectible amounts 
(doubtful debts) is raised when there is 
objective evidence that the Department  
will not be able to collect the debts.  
The carrying amount is equivalent to  
fair value as it is due for settlement  
within 30 days.

 See note 2(k) Financial Instruments and 
note 18 Receivables.

(q) Payables

 Payables are recognised at the amounts 
payable when the Department becomes 
obliged to make future payments as a  
result of a purchase of assets or services.  
The carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value, as they are generally settled within  
30 days.

 See note 2(k) Financial Instruments and 
note 26 Payables.

(r) Amounts due to the Treasurer

 The amount due to the Treasurer is in 
respect of a Treasurer’s Advance. Initial 
recognition and measurement, and 
subsequent measurement are at the 
amount repayable. Although there is no 
interest charged the amount repayable is 
equivalent to fair value as the period of the 
borrowing is for less than 12 months with 
the effect of discounting not being material.

 See note 45 Administered Assets and 
Liabilities.
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other fund providers administer public 
sector superannuation arrangements in 
Western Australia in accordance with 
legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria 
for membership in particular schemes for 
public sector employees vary according to 
commencement and implementation dates.

 Eligible employees contribute to the 
Pension Scheme, a defined benefit 
pension scheme closed to new 
members since 1987, or the Gold State 
Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined 
benefit lump sum scheme closed to new 
members since 1995.

 Employees commencing employment prior 
to 16 April 2007 who were not members 
of either the Pension Scheme or the 
GSS became non-contributory members 
of the West State Superannuation 
Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing 
employment on or after 16 April 2007 
became members of the GESB Super 
Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, 
existing members of the WSS or GESBS 
and new employees have been able to 
choose their preferred superannuation 
fund provider. The Department makes 
contributions to GESB or other fund 
providers on behalf of employees in 
compliance with the Commonwealth 
Government’s Superannuation Guarantee 
(Administration) Act 1992.  

 When assessing expected future 
payments consideration is given to 
expected future wage and salary levels 
including non-salary components such as 
employer superannuation contributions, 
as well as the experience of employee 
departures and periods of service.  
The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the 
end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity 
that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows.

 The provision for annual leave is classified 
as a current liability as the Department 
does not have an unconditional right 
to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period.

 Long service leave

 The liability for long service leave that is 
expected to be settled within 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period 
is recognised and measured at the 
undiscounted amounts expected to be 
paid when the liability is settled.

 Long service leave that is not expected to 
be settled within 12 months after the end 
of the reporting period is recognised and 
measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities 

are settled using the remuneration 
rate expected to apply at the time 
of settlement.

 When assessing expected future 
payments consideration is given to 
expected future wage and salary levels 
including non-salary components such as 
employer superannuation contributions, 
as well as the experience of employee 
departures and periods of service.  
The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the 
end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity 
that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows.

 Unconditional long service leave provisions 
are classified as current liabilities as 
the Department does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the liability for at least 12 months after the 
end of the reporting period. Pre-conditional 
and conditional long service leave 
provisions are classified as non-current 
liabilities because the Department has an 
unconditional right to defer the settlement 
of the liability until the employee has 
completed the requisite years of service.

 Superannuation

 The Government Employees 
Superannuation Board (GESB) and 
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(u) Assets and services received free of 
charge or for nominal cost

 Assets or services received free of charge 
or for nominal cost are recognised as 
income at the fair value of the assets  
and/or the fair value of those services 
that can be reliably measured and the 
Department would otherwise pay for.  
A corresponding expense is recognised 
for services received. Receipts of assets 
are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

 Assets or services received from 
other State Government agencies are 
separately disclosed under Income from 
State Government in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

(v) Jointly controlled assets

 Interests in jointly controlled assets have 
been reported in the financial statements. 
The Department’s interest in jointly 
controlled assets is disclosed in note 40 
Jointly controlled assets.

(w) Comparative figures

 Comparative figures are, where 
appropriate, reclassified to be comparable 
with the figures presented in the current 
financial year.

Contributions to these accumulation 
schemes extinguish the Department’s 
liability for superannuation charges 
in respect of employees who are not 
members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.

 The GSS is a defined benefit scheme 
for the purposes of employees and 
whole-of-government reporting. However, 
it is a defined contribution plan for agency 
purposes because the concurrent 
contributions (defined contributions) made 
by the Department to GESB extinguishes 
the agency’s obligations to the related 
superannuation liability.

 The Department has no liabilities under the 
Pension Scheme or the GSS.  
The liabilities for the unfunded Pension 
Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer 
benefits attributable to members who 
transferred from the Pension Scheme, 
are assumed by the Treasurer. All other 
GSS obligations are funded by concurrent 
contributions made by the Department to 
the GESB.

 The GESB makes all benefit payments in 
respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, 
and is recouped from the Treasurer for the 
employer’s share.

 See also note 2(t) Superannuation expense.

(ii) Provisions – other

 Employment on-costs

 Employment on-costs, including workers’ 
compensation insurance, are not 
employee benefits and are recognised 
separately as liabilities and expenses  
when the employment to which they  
relate has occurred. Employment  
on-costs are included as part of ‘Other 
expenses’ and are not included as part 
of the Department’s ‘Employee benefits 
expense’. The related liability is included  
in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.

 See note 9 Other Expenses and note 28 
Provisions.

(t) Superannuation expense

 The superannuation expense in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
comprises of employer contributions paid 
to the GSS (concurrent contributions), 
the WSS, the GESBS, or other 
superannuation funds. The employer 
contribution paid to the GESB in 
respect of the GSS is paid back into the 
Consolidated Account by the GESB.
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3 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

 Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

 The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012 
that impacted on the Department:

AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 121, 132, 133, 134,  
1039 & 1049
This Standard requires to group items presented in other comprehensive income on the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss 
subsequently (reclassification adjustments). There is no financial impact.

 Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative 

 The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by Treasurer’s Instruction 1101 Application of 
Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncement’s. Consequently, the Department has not applied the following Australian Accounting 
Standards that have been issued that may impact the Department. Where applicable, the Department plans to apply these Australian Accounting 
Standards from their application date.

Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of changes to 
accounting treatments.
AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures 
amended the mandatory application date of this Standard to 1 January 2015. The Department has not yet determined the application  
or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
This Standard supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and Int 112 Consolidation – Special Purpose 
Entities, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and Other Amendments. The Department has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 11  
 

Joint Arrangements
This Standard supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2014

Department of Transport Annual Report 2012-13 107



Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning on/after

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
This Standard supersedes disclosure requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and AASB 131 
Interests in Joint Ventures.
Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement
This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value and requires additional disclosures about fair value 
measurements. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 119 Employee Benefits
This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010), making changes to the recognition, presentation and disclosure requirements.
The Department does not have any defined benefit plans, and therefore the financial impact will be limited to the effect of discounting 
annual leave and long service leave liabilities that were previously measured at the undiscounted amounts.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements
This Standard supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, introducing a number of changes to 
accounting treatments.
Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards
This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements for preparing 
general purpose financial statements. There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting
This Standard specifies the nature of budgetary disclosures, the circumstances in which they are to be included in the general purpose 
financial statements of not-for-profit entities within the GGS. The Department will be required to disclose additional budgetary information 
and explanations of major variances between actual and budgeted amounts, though there is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2014

AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 101, 102, 107, 108, 
110, 111, 112, 116, 117, 119, 121, 123, 124, 127, 128, 131, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 140, 141, 1050 & 1052 and Int 2, 4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129 & 1052
This Standard makes amendments to Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations to introduce reduced disclosure requirements 
for certain types of entities. There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013
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Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning on/after

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 
121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127
This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing 
AASB 9 in December 2010.
AASB 2012-6 amended the mandatory application date of this Standard to 1 January 2015. The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2011-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements AASB 101 & 1054
This Standard removes disclosure requirements from other Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve 
convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting Standards for reduced disclosure reporting. There is no Financial impact.

1 Jul 2013

AASB 2011-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Relief from Consolidation, the Equity Method and Proportionate 
Consolidation – Reduced Disclosure Requirements AASB 127, 128 & 131
This Standard extends the relief from consolidation, the equity method and proportionate consolidation by removing the requirement for 
the consolidated financial statements prepared by the ultimate or any intermediate parent entity to be IFRS compliant, provided that the 
parent entity, investor or venturer and the ultimate or intermediate parent entity comply with Australian Accounting Standards or Australian 
Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements. There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013

AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 
101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17
This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate Financial 
Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. For not-for-profit entities it applies to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2014. The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 
121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132
This Standard replaces the existing definition and fair value guidance in other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as the 
result of issuing AASB 13 in September 2011. There is no Financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 2011) AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134,  
1049 & 2011-8 and Int 14
This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 119 in 
September 2011. There is limited financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2011-11 Amendments to AASB 119 (September 2011) arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements
This Standard gives effect to Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements for AASB 119 (September 2011). 
There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013
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Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning on/after

AASB 2012-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Measurement - Reduced Disclosure Requirements AASB 3, 7, 13, 140 & 141
This Standard establishes and amends reduced disclosure requirements for additional and amended disclosures arising from AASB 13 
and the consequential amendments implemented through AASB 2011-8. There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013

AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities AASB 7 & 132
This Standard amends the required disclosures in AASB 7 to include information that will enable users of an entity’s financial statements 
to evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, including rights of set-off associated with the entity’s recognised financial 
assets and recognised financial liabilities, on the entity’s financial position. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities AASB 132
This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria, 
including clarifying the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross settlement systems may be 
considered equivalent to net settlement. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009-11 Cycle AASB 1, 101, 116, 132 & 134 and Int 2
This Standard makes amendments to the Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a consequence of the annual 
improvements process. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures AASB 9, 2009-11, 
2010-7, 2011-7 & 2011-8
This Standard amends the mandatory effective date of AASB 9 Financial Instruments to 1 January 2015. Further amendments are also 
made to consequential amendments arising from AASB 9 that will now apply from 1 January 2015 and to consequential amendments 
arising out of the Standards that will still apply from 1 January 2013. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2012-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements AASB 7, 12, 101 & 127
This Standard adds to or amends the Australian Accounting Standards to provide further information regarding the differential reporting 
framework and the two tiers of reporting requirements for preparing general financial statement. There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013

AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and Other Amendments AASB 1, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 101, 102, 
108, 112, 118, 119, 127, 128, 132, 133, 134, 137, 1023, 1038, 1039, 1049, & 2011-7 and Int 12
This Standard makes amendments to AASB 10 and related Standards to revise the transition guidance relevant to the initial application of 
those Standards, and to clarify the circumstances in which adjustments to an entity’s previous accounting for its involvement with other 
entities are required and the timing of such adjustments.
The Standard was issued in December 2012. The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2012-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and Other Amendments AASB 1, 2, 8, 10, 107, 
128, 133, 134 & 2011-4
This Standard makes various editorial corrections to Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements (Tier 2). 
These corrections ensure that the Standards reflect decisions of the AASB regarding the Tier 2 requirements.
This Standard also extends the relief from consolidation and the equity method (in the new Consolidation and Joint Arrangements 
Standards) to entities complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements. There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013
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 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

4 Employee benefits expense          

Wages and salaries (i)  96 354  89 997 

Superannuation - defined contribution plans (ii)  10 541  9 525 

Long service leave (iii)  6 242  5 529 

Annual leave (iii)  8 801  9 110 

Other related expenses  8 355  7 106 

 130 293  121 267

(i)  Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus fringe benefits tax component. 
(ii)  Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State, GESB Super Scheme and other eligible funds.  
(iii)  Leave entitlements includes a superannuation contribution component.        

Employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance are included at note 9 Other expenses. 

5 Supplies and services          

Communications  6 923  7 299 

Consultants and contractors  40 814  33 944 

Consumables  19 659  18 741 

Commissions  17 565  15 330 

Data Processing   324   249 

Repairs and maintenance  12 746  10 902 

Service Level Agreement (i)   975  3 010 

Travel  1 499  1 630 

Number plate production  2 160  1 778 

Driver Licence card production  3 387  2 925 

Other  1 586  1 351 

107 638 97 159

(i)  Payments to the Department of Finance Shared Services for corporate services under a service level agreement.        
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 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

6 Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciation

Buildings   947   883 

Refurbishments, furniture & fittings  1 590  1 630 

Plant and equipment   549   486 

Computer hardware  1 545  1 555 

Vehicles and vessels   300   236 

Leased plant, equipment, vehicles & vessels   12   29 

Infrastructure  5 892  4 142 

 10 835  8 961

Amortisation

Intangible assets  3 596  2 908 

Total amortisation  3 596  2 908 

Total depreciation and amortisation expense  14 431  11 869 

7 Accommodation expenses

Lease rentals  10 564 9 364 

Cleaning  1 573 1 523 

 12 137 10 887
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 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

8 Grants and subsidies

Bicycle Infrastructure  2 879  2 639 
Country Age Pension Fuel Card Scheme  20 291  20 288 
Central Area Transit (CAT) Bus Services  14 493  12 741 
Coastal Projects and Zone Management  -  1 318 
Commonwealth Grants   176  - 
Community Police  1 452  1 194 
Emergency Vehicle Insurance   111  - 
Fremantle Port Rail Service  2 761  2 743 
Grain Freight  -  1 730 
Local Governments and Shires  3 082  - 
Metropolitan Taxi Surveillance Cameras  1 813  2 986 
National Transport Commission  -   339 
North West Shipping Service  9 497  8 153 
Pensioner Subsidies  1 241  1 497 
Port Management  2 972  2 491 
Public Air Transport   592   970 
Recreational Boating Facilities   164  1 143 
Regional Airport Development  4 684  4 857 
Student Subsidies  1 537  1 381 
Taxi User – Lifting Subsidies  1 835  1 403 
Taxi User Subsidies  8 329  8 508 
Active Traffic Management  1 278  - 
Lloyd Street Midland Underpass  2 000  - 
Other  7 810  3 865 

 88 997  80 246
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 $ 000  $ 000 

9 Other expenses

Employment on-costs (i)   648   304 

Audit cost (ii)   267   172 

Board fees   125   111 

Catering   90   124 

Corporate membership fees   166   126 

Donations and sponsorship   75   86 

Doubtful debts expense  1 145   169 

Finance lease charges   1   2 

Impairment losses – intangible assets   314  2 137 

Storage and removal   235   302 

Prior year expenses  (623)   213 

Other   778  2 022 

 3 221  5 768

(i) Includes worker’s compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included  
 at note 28 Provisions. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.  
(ii) Audit cost, includes the 2013 fee, see also note 39 Remuneration of Auditor.        
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 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

10 User charges and fees

Boat registration fees  12 990  12 244 

Port charges  1 350  1 288 

Small boat harbour fees  8 951  7 771 

Vessel survey fees  2 526  2 814 

Other maritime fees  2 544  2 206 

Motor drivers licence application fees  18 215  16 812 

Motor vehicle transfer, plate and inspection fees  43 051  38 159 

Perth parking licence fees  34 018  32 057 

Rail safety registration fees   888  2 391 

Taxi licence fees  10 317  8 882 

Other fees  4 961  8 127 

 139 811  132 751

11 Grants and Contributions 

Commonwealth grants  4 844   623 

General government grants  3 136  16 428 

Other  -   10 

 7 980  17 061 
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 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

12 Other revenues 

Commissions  17 988  16 488 

Rents and leases  13 164  11 778 

Recoups of operating expenses  11 044  10 412 

Other  1 648  2 283 

 43 844  40 961

13 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets 

Plant, equipment, vehicles and vessels

Costs of disposal   157   130 

Proceeds from disposal   92   43 

Net (gain)/loss   65  87 

Infrastructure

Costs of disposal   940   32 

Proceeds from disposal  -  -

Net (gain)/loss   940   32

Total net (gain)/loss  1 005   119
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 $ 000  $ 000 

14 Income from State Government 

Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation (a) 139 204 156 184 
Amount authorised by other statutes 1 093 1 058 

140 297 157 242 
Assets transferred (to)/from other State government agencies during the period:(b)

Land  - 19 498 
Property, plant, equipment, vehicles and vessels (transferred)  (109)  (182)
Total assets(transferred)/assumed  (109)  19 316

Services received free of charge from other State government agencies during the period:
Department of Finance  1 053 933 
Landgate 200 246 
State Solicitor’s Office 508 540 
Main Roads 29 32 
Public Transport Authority 40  -

1 830 1 751 
Royalties for Regions Fund
Regional Boating Facilities Scheme (c) 1 564 800 
Regional Airport Development Scheme (c)  - 6 384 
Country Age Pension Fuel Card Scheme (c) 22 631 13 025 
Port Link Inland Freight Corridor Planning (c) 800 200 
Other 431 358 

25 426 20 767 
167 444 199 076

(a) Service appropriation funds the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the 
budgeted depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year.

(b) Discretionary transfers of assets (including grants) and liabilities between State Government agencies are reported under Income from State Government. Transfers of assets and liabilities in 
relation to a restructure of administrative arrangements are recognised as distribution to owners by the transferor and contribution by owners by the transferee under AASB 1004 in respect of 
net assets transferred. Other non-discretionary non-reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities designated as contributions by owners under TI 955 are also recognised directly to equity. 

(c) This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The recurrent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.
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 $ 000  $ 000 

15 Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents  32 319  39 476 

 Includes cash received as capital contributions remaining unspent at year end of $5,457,461 (2012: $3,050,000).    
 

16 Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Current

Off-Road Vehicles Account (i)   297   267 

Perth Parking Licensing Account (ii)  69 748  55 823 

Rail Safety Accreditation Account (iii)  1 235  1 719 

Taxi Industry Development Account (iv)  25 436  22 948 

Royalties for Regions (v)  7 791  8 920 

 104 507  89 677 

Non-current

Accrued salaries suspense account (vi)  2 820  2 376 

(i) to meet the costs of administering the Control of Vehicles (Off Road Areas) Act 1978 and for matters approved by the Minister and the Treasurer.
(ii) to meet the costs of administering the Perth Parking Management Act 1999 or for a purpose connected with the Perth Parking Policy. 
(iii)  to meet the costs of administering the Rail Safety Act 1998.
(iv) to pay remuneration and allowances to board members, pay for taxi plates surrendered to the Minister, pay grants for research, promotion and development projects that benefit the taxi industry 

and meet the costs of administering the Taxi Act 1994.        
(v) to fund projects and programs in WA regional areas.
(vi) used for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay which occurs every 11 years.        
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 $ 000  $ 000 

17 Inventories 

Current 

Inventories held for resale

- Charts and publications (at cost)   40   43 

- Motor vehicle plates (at cost)   301   355 

  341   398

 See also note 2(o) Inventories          

18 Receivables

Current
Receivables  9 114  7 836 
Allowance for impairment of receivables  (2 864)  (2 334)

 6 250  5 502 
Goods and services tax receivable  3 416  1 989 
Interest receivable   420   539 
Staff debtors   281   296 
Other debtors   50  1 347 

 10 417  9 673

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables

Balance at start of the period  2 334  2 165 
Doubtful debts expense  (1 145)   169 
Amounts written off during the year  (47)  (3)
Amount recovered during the year  1 722   3 
Balance at end of the period  2 864  2 334

The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to receivables.     
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 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

19 Amounts receivable for services

Non-current  161 533  149 326

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriation. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of 
leave liability.          

20 Other current assets          

Prepayments  2 123   616

21 Property, plant, equipment, vehicles and vessels

2013

 COST/  
FAIR VALUE 

 ACCUMULATED  
DEPRECIATION 

 CARRYING  
AMOUNT 

 $ 000  $ 000  $ 000 

At fair value:
Land  136 964  -  136 964 
Buildings  17 690  -  17 690 

 154 654  -  154 654 
At cost: 
Refurbishments, furniture and fittings  14 404  7 823  6 581 
Plant and equipment  8 309  5 277  3 032 
Computer hardware  11 199  7 484  3 715 
Vehicles  1 161   755   406 
Leased plant, equipment and vehicles  -  -  - 
Vessels  2 884  1 261  1 623 

 37 957  22 600  15 357 

Total  192 611  22 600  170 011
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21 Property, plant, equipment, vehicles and vessels (continued)

2012

 COST/  
FAIR VALUE 

 ACCUMULATED  
DEPRECIATION 

 CARRYING  
AMOUNT 

 $ 000  $ 000  $ 000 

At fair value: 
Land  132 483  -  132 483 
Buildings  19 355   883  18 472 

 151 838   883  150 955 
At cost: 
Refurbishments, furniture and fittings  12 801  6 251  6 550 
Plant and equipment  7 965  5 019  2 946 
Computer hardware  9 976  6 462  3 514 
Vehicles   937   731   206 
Leased plant, equipment and vehicles   58   46   12 
Vessels  2 466  1 100  1 366 

 34 203  19 609  14 594 

Total  186 041  20 492  165 549 

Land assets were last revalued as at 1 July 2012 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2013 and 
recognised at 30 June 2013. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market value: $23,308,050. For the remaining balance, fair value of land was determined on the 
basis of current use: $113,655,850. See note 2(f) Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure.

Building assets were last revalued as at 1 July 2012 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2013 
and recognised at 30 June 2013. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market value: $3,730,148. For the remaining balance, fair value of buildings was 
determined on the basis of depreciated replacement cost: $13,960,223. See note 2(f) Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure.
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21 Property, plant, equipment, vehicles and vessels (continued) 

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment, vehicles and vessels at the beginning and end of the financial year are set 
out in the table below. 

CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

AT START 
OF YEAR  ADDITIONS

 
REVALUATION  DISPOSALS  TRANSFERS  DEPRECIATION

 CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

AT END 
OF YEAR

2013  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000 

Land  132 483  -  (1 288)  -  5 769  -  136 964 

Buildings  18 472  1 462  (1 397)  -   100  (947)  17 690 

Refurbishments, furniture and fittings  6 550  1 630  -  (9)  -  (1 590)  6 581 

Plant and equipment  2 946   827  -  (107)  (85)  (549)  3 032 

Computer hardware  3 514  1 793  -  (23)  (24)  (1 545)  3 715 

Vehicles   206   287  -  -  -  (87)   406 

Vessels  1 366   470  -  -  -  (213)  1 623 

Leased plant, equipment and vehicles   12  -  -  -  -  (12)  - 

 165 549  6 469  (2 685)  (139)  5 760  (4 943)  170 011

CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

AT START 
OF YEAR  ADDITIONS

 
REVALUATION  DISPOSALS  TRANSFERS  DEPRECIATION

 CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

AT END 
OF YEAR

2012  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000 

Land  123 557  19 498  (10 707)  -   135  -  132 483 

Buildings  17 766  -  -  -  1 589  (883)  18 472 

Refurbishments, furniture and fittings  6 506  1 662  -  (11)   23  (1 630)  6 550 

Plant and equipment  2 610   869  -  (77)   30  (486)  2 946 

Computer hardware  1 290  1 705  -  (42)  2 116  (1 555)  3 514 

Vehicles   122   128  -  -  -  (44)   206 

Vessels  1 084   474  -  -  -  (192)  1 366 

Leased plant, equipment and vehicles   41  -  -  -  -  (29)   12 

 152 976  24 336  (10 707)  (130)  3 893  (4 819)  165 549 
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22 Infrastructure

Infrastructure

At cost  295 525  265 999 

Accumulated depreciation  (122 438)  (117 966)

 173 087  148 033 

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of infrastructure at the beginning and end of the financial year  
are set out below.

Infrastructure

Carrying amount at the start of the year  148 033  119 227 

Additions  26 827  20 728 

Disposals  (940)  (32)

Transfers  5 059  12 252 

Depreciation  (5 892)  (4 142)

Carrying amount at the end of the year  173 087  148 033
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 $ 000  $ 000 

23 Intangible Assets

Software

At cost  48 905  43 939 

Accumulated amortisation  (28 866)  (25 270)

 20 039  18 669

Reconciliations of the carrying amount of intangible assets at the beginning and end of the financial year  
are set out below.

Software

Carrying amount at the start of the year  18 669  15 721 

Additions  4 966  2 676 

Disposals  -  -

Transfers  -  3 180 

Amortisation expense  (3 596)  (2 908)

Carrying amount at the end of the year  20 039  18 669 
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24 Construction in progress 

At cost:

Vehicles and vessels   189   325 

Computer hardware   291   404 

Buildings and refurbishments  1 052  1 169 

Intangibles  8 039  4 735 

Infrastructure  29 548  30 544 

39 119  37 177 

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of construction in progress at the beginning and end  
of the financial year are set out below.

Carrying amount at the start of the year  37 177  41 859 

Expenditure during the year  38 463  23 075 

Transfers   447   239 

Non-current assets commissioned during the year  (36 128)  (24 964)

Impairment losses  (314)  (2 137)

Amounts expensed  (526)  (895)

Carrying amount at the end of the year  39 119  37 177

25 Impairment of assets  

The impairment loss recognised relates to an intangible asset not yet available for use. A review of the vehicle examinations and practical driving 
assessments online bookings project was undertaken which identified that the original Java solution developed was no longer appropriate or 
feasible to proceed with. As a result of this decision, a recommendation was made to use only selected parts of the original Java design with 
some of the previous code not able to be utilised in the revised project. The whole impairment loss was recognised in the income statement, 
as there was no amount included in the asset revaluation reserve relating to this class of asset.

The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the end of the reporting period.
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 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

26 Payables

Current

Trade payables  7 828  4 578 

Accrued expenses  14 295  6 652 

Accrued salaries  2 211  2 094 

 24 334  13 324 

See also note 2(q) Payables and note 37 Financial instruments.          

27 Borrowings

Finance lease liabilities (secured)

Current  -   28 

See also note 2(j) Leases.          

28 Provisions          

Current

Employee benefits provision

Annual leave (i)  10 906  10 544 

Long service leave (ii)  14 673  11 853 

 25 579  22 397 

Other provisions

Employment on-costs (iii)  1 168  1 382 

Purchased leave  (17)  (19)

 26 730  23 760 
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 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

28 Provisions (continued)          

Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (ii)  6 314  5 723 

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (iii)   86   79 
Deferred salary scheme   53   31 

 6 453  5 833 
(i) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer  

settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual  
settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:
 Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  7 668  6 646 
 More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  4 205  4 071 

 11 873  10 717 
(ii) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right  

to defer settlement for at least 12 months after reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual 
settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

 Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  5 005  4 576 
 More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  16 269  14 287 

 21 274  18 863 
(iii) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment  

on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected 
future payments. The associated expense is disclosed in note 9 Other expenses.
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 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

28 Provisions (continued)

Movements in other provisions:
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits,  
are set out below.

Employment on-costs provision
Carrying amount at the start of the year 1 461  1 320 
Additional provisions recognised 1 229   198 
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits (1 436)  (57)
Carrying amount at end of year 1 254  1 461 

29 Other current liabilities

Current
Income received in advance  4 439  3 936 
Other liabilities  (216)  (214)
Accruals and interest payable   148   148 

 4 371  3 870

30 Equity

 Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Department. The Government holds the equity  
interest in the Department on behalf of the community. The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion  
of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.  
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 $ 000  $ 000 

30 Equity (continued)

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
Balance at the start of the period  487 827  431 483
Contributions by owners
 Capital contributions  15 104  9 570 
 Transfer of net assets
 - Department of Planning  -  22 903 
 - Landcorp  -  13 977 
 - Regional Development Headworks Fund  16 207  9 894 
 - Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority  5 159  -
 - Department of Regional Development and Lands  6 005 
Distributions to owners
 - Public Transport Authority  (2 600)  -
 - Department of Regional Development and Lands  (236)
Balance at the end of the period  527 466  487 827

RESERVES
Asset Revaluation Surplus
Balance at the start of the period  5 599  16 306
Net revaluation decrements:
 Land  (1 288)  (10 707)
 Buildings  (1 397)  -
Balance at the end of the period  2 914  5 599 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
Balance at the start of the period  120 729  55 907 
Result for the period  3 319  64 822 
Balance at the end of the period  124 048  120 729 

Total equity at the end of the period  654 428  614 155 
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 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

31 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

(a) Reconciliation of cash

 Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the 
related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

 Cash and cash equivalents (i)  32 319  39 476 
 Restricted cash and cash equivalents (ii)  107 327  92 053 

 139 646  131 529
 Cash transferred (to)/from other sources
 Cash and cash equivalents transferred:
  from Royalties for Regions – capital contribution  (2 600)  19 162 

(i) These cash and cash equivalents include $ 15,104,000 capital contribution and funds available to 
meet expenditure commitments.

 (ii) See note 16 Restricted cash and cash equivalents.

(b) Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in)  
operating activities

Net cost of services  (164 125)  (134 254)
Non cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense  14 431  11 869 
Doubtful debts expense  1 145   169 
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of non-current assets  1 005   119 
Resources received free of charge  1 830  1 751 
Accrued salaries and wages  -   565 
Impairment losses   314  2 137 
Asset assumed/(transferred)  -  (578)
Expenses previously held in construction in progress   527   213 
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31 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

(Increase)/decrease in assets
Current inventories   57  (36)
Current receivables (i)   153  (1 376)
Other current assets  (1 507)   449 

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Current payables  9 167  (1 734)
Current provisions  2 970  10 881 
Other current liabilities   502  (9 901)
Non-current provisions   620  (6 969)
Net GST receipts/payments (ii)  (2 033)   528 
Change in GST in receivables/payables (iii)  (523)  (311)
Net cash used in operating activities  (135 467)  (126 478)

(i) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these 
items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.

(ii) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.        
(iii) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.        

32 Services provided free of charge

During the period the following services were provided to other agencies free of charge for functions  
outside the normal operations of the Department:
Western Australian Police Service – firearms collection fees   86   139 
Various State and Commonwealth departments and agencies:
 Spatial (mapping) information  -   15 
 Technical advice  -   76 
 Advice – waterfront and canal developments  -   142 

  86   372
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33 Commitments 

(a) Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts 
reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:

 Within one year  2 922  1 255 
 Later than one year but not later than five years   9   233 
 Later than five years  -  - 

 2 931  1 488 

 Occupational Licensing Project  -   462 
 Secure ID Card Project  -   409 
 Compliance Movile Devices Project  -   617 
 Coral Bay Onshore Facilities   46  - 
 Woodman Point Access Road   42  - 
 Metropolitan Freight and Intermodal Plan   18  - 
 HPSD Upgrade   260  - 
 Objective Upgrade   370  - 
 Vulnerability Treatment Plan Phase 1   550  - 
 Web Identity and Access Management   621  - 
 Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard   250  - 
 Knowledge Management  System (KMS) Project   118  - 
 Public Transport Centre and Driver and Vehicle Service Centre Extention & Upgrade   656  - 

 2 931  1 488

Department of Transport Annual Report 2012-13132



 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

33 Commitments (continued) 

(b) Other expenditure commitments

Other expenditure commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not 
recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows:

 Within one year  13 544  4 661 
 Later than one year but not later than five years  20 215  1 139 
 Later than five years  -  - 

 33 759  5 800
 The other expenditure commitments include amounts for:
 Maritime – Ports Project   213   966 
 Travelsmart Household Program   568   128 
 Secure Taxi Ranks  -   130 
 Passenger Services Business Unit  -   935 
 West-East Rail Line  -   481 
 Perth Light Rail Network  18 701  1 001 
 Ellenbrook BRT Concept Design  -   630 
 Policy, Planning and Investment Directorate  -  1 304 
 Secure ID Card Project  -   101 
 Compliance Mobile Devices Project  -   124 
 Fremantle Port Rail Service Support  11 700  - 
 Metropolitan Moving People Plan   59  - 
 Outer Harbour Study   395  - 
 Perth Bicycle Network   58  - 
 Perth Parking Licensing system   175  - 
 PortLink    718  - 
 Rail Industry Safety Standards Board Funding   487  - 
 Transit Program   85  - 
 WA’s contriubtion to the Office of the National Rail Safety Regulator   600  -

 33 759  5 800
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33 Commitments (continued)

(c)  Lease commitments
 Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the 

financial statements are payable as follows:
 Within one year  8 763  8 119 
 Later than one year but not later than five years  32 399  24 944 
 Later than five years  16 106  22 036 

 57 268  55 099
 Representing:
 Non-cancellable operating leases  57 268  55 098
 Future finance charges on finance leases  -   1

 57 268  55 099
(d)  Finance lease commitments
 Minimum lease payment commitments in relation to finance leases
 Within one year  -   27 
 Later than one year but not later than five years  -  -
 Minimum finance lease payments  -   27 
 Less future finance charges  -  (1)
 Present value of finance lease liabilities  -   26 

 The present value of finance leases payable is as follows:
 Within one year  -   26 
 Later than one year but not later than five years  -  -
 Present value of finance lease liabilities  -   26

(e) Minimum lease revenue commitments
Future minimum rentals under non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:
Within one year 9 966 9 822
Later than one year but not later than five years 36 758 34 973
Later than five years 110 082 106 869

156 806 151 664
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34 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

 Contingent liabilities:

  There are no contingent liabilities as at the reporting date.

 Contingent assets:

  There are no contingent assets as at the reporting date.         

35 Events occurring after balance sheet date

There are no significant events occurring after the reporting date.          

36 Explanatory Statement

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expenses as presented in the financial statement titled Summary of 
Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates are shown below.         

(i) Significant variations between estimate and actual for 2013  – Total appropriation to deliver services

2013 
ESTIMATE

2013 
ACTUAL VARIANCE

 $ 000  $ 000  $ 000 

(a) Net amount appropriated to deliver services  143 230  139 204  (4 026)

The lower than budgeted appropriation can be primarily attributed to lower funding needs 
for grants and subsidies expenditure and the Government’s budget correction measures, 
partly offset by reinstatement of appropriation revenue in lieu of unachievable operating 
revenue items.

(b) Amount authorised by other statutes  1 090  1 093   3 

The variance relates to salary increases as approved by the Salaries and Allowance 
Tribunal.
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36 Explanatory Statement (continued)

2013 
ESTIMATE

2013 
ACTUAL VARIANCE

 $ 000  $ 000  $ 000 

(c) Service expenditure

 Transport System & Services Development, Planning, Operation and 
Regulation

 121 941  110 507  (11 434)

Implementation of the Government’s budget correction measures and lower 
expenditure on grants and subsidies are the primary drivers of lower expenditure 
against this service.

Motor vehicle registration and driver licensing services  161 027  176 138  15 111

The higher than budget expenditure is mainly due to system development and 
implementation costs, agents fees and commissions, and depreciation and 
amortisation costs.

Strategic Transport Policy and Integrated Policy  77 975  71 077  (6 898)

The underspend is due to lower expenditure on grants and subsidies.

(d) Operating revenues

Total income other than from state government  206 979  193 597  (13 382)

The lower revenue primarily relates to unachievable advertising revenue.
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36 Explanatory Statement (continued)

(ii) Significant variations between actuals for 2012 and 2013  – Total appropriation to deliver services

2013 
ACTUAL

2012 
ACTUAL VARIANCE

 $ 000  $ 000  $ 000 

(a) Net amount appropriated to deliver services  139 204  156 184  (16 980)
 The lower appropriation is primarily due to the Government’s budget correction measures 

and flow on impact of efficiency dividends, as well as non-recurring expenditure on the 
Esperance Cleanup and Recovery project.

(b) Amount authorised by other statutes  1 093  1 058   35
 Higher salary rates as approved by the Salaries and Allowance Tribunal.

(c) Service expenditure

 Transport System & Services Development, Planning, Operation and Regulation  110 507  135 865  (25 358)
Expenditure on a number of grants and subsidies was reallocated from this service 
to Strategic Transport Policy and Integrated Planning. In addition to this, there was 
non-recurring expenditure on the Esperance Cleanup and Recovery Project.

Motor vehicle registration and driver licensing services  176 138  163 607  12 531
Expenditure increased across a broad range of categories due to growth in demand for 
services. Expenditure was higher on system development and implementation costs, 
agents fees and commissions, salaries and depreciation and amortisation costs.

Strategic Transport Policy and Integrated Policy  71 077  27 843  43 234
Expenditure on a number of grants and subsidies was reallocated to this service from 
Transport System & Services Development, Planning, Operation and Regulation. On top of 
that, expenditure on the CBD Transport Plan and higher expenditure on planning for MAX 
Light Rail occurred in 2012-13.

(d) Operating revenues
 Total income other than from state government  193 597  193 061   536

Overall revenue levels were similar to 2011-12, with higher revenue from fees and charges 
mostly offset by changed funding arrangements relating to the Country Age Pensioner Fuel 
Card Scheme.
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36 Explanatory Statement (continued)

(iii) Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2013 – Capital contribution       

2013 
ESTIMATE

2013 
ACTUAL VARIANCE

 $ 000  $ 000  $ 000 

Total Capital Contribution  18 201  14 335  (3 866)

The lower contribution relates to transfer of funding for the Kewdale Intermodal  
Terminal and Rail Network project to Main Roads and minor funding changes  
across numerous projects.

(iv) Significant variations between actuals for 2012 and 2013  – Capital Contribution       

2013 
ACTUAL

2012 
ACTUAL VARIANCE

 $ 000  $ 000  $ 000 

Total Capital Contribution  15 104  9 570  (5 534)

A higher contribution for the Driver and Vehicle Services Reform program  
is the main reason for the variation between years.

(v) Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2013 – Administered income      

2013 
ESTIMATE

2013 
ACTUAL VARIANCE

 $ 000  $ 000  $ 000 

Administered Revenue  795 779  1 789 651  993 872

The significant items comprising the variance were:

• Items not reflected in Budget Statements for the Department of Transport:

– Third party insurance premiums collected on behalf of the Insurance Commission of WA.  570 696 

– Stamp Duty on motor vehicle registrations collected on behalf of the Office of State Revenue.  404 090 

• Other Variances

– Mainly relate to higher revenue from Motor Vehicle and Motor Drivers licences, partly offset 
by lower revenue from infringements and fines.

 19 086
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36 Explanatory Statement (continued) 

(vi) Significant variances between actuals for 2012 and 2013 – Administered income

2013 
ACTUAL

2012 
ACTUAL VARIANCE

 $ 000  $ 000  $ 000 

Administered Revenue 1 789 651 1 671 009 118 642
Three areas of revenue are the primary reason for the increase, being motor vehicle licence 
fees, stamp duty on vehicle registrations and third party motor vehicle insurance premiums.

(vii) Authorisations to expend in advance of appropriation       

Not applicable in 2012-13

37 Financial Instruments            

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies           

 Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, Treasurer’s advances and 
receivables and payables. The Department has limited exposure to financial risks. The Department’s overall risk management program focuses 
on managing the risks identified below.            

 Credit risk

 Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to 
the Department. 

 The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying 
amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment, as shown in the table at note 37(c) Financial instrument disclosures and  
note 18 Receivables. 

 Credit risk associated with the Department’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the ‘amounts receivable for services’. 
For receivables other than government, the Department trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Department has policies in 
place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are 
monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. There were no significant concentrations of 
credit risk at the end of the reporting period.
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37 Financial Instruments (continued)

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)          

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business, and it has appropriate procedures to manage cash 
flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Department’s income or the  
value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Department does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks  
(for example, equity securities or commodity prices changes). 

Other than as detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis table at note 37(c) Financial instrument disclosures, the Department is not exposed 
to interest rate risk because apart from minor amounts of restricted cash, all other cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest 
bearing, and have no borrowings.

 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

(b) Categories of Financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end 
of the reporting period are:

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  32 319  39 476 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  107 327  92 053 
Receivables (i)  7 001  6 043 
Amounts receivable for services  161 533  149 326 
Total Financial Assets  308 180  286 898 

Financial Liabilities
Payables  24 334  13 324 
Finance lease liabilities  -   28 
Total Financial Assets  24 334  13 352

(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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37 Financial Instruments (continued)

(c) Financial instrument disclosures

Credit Risk

The following table details the Department’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Department’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses 
the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to 
senior management of the Department.

The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds.

Aged analysis of financial assets

PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

NOT 
PAST DUE 
AND NOT 

IMPAIRED
UP TO 

1 MONTH
1-3 

MONTHS
3 MONTHS TO 

1 YEAR
1-5 

YEARS

MORE 
THAN 

5 YEARS

IMPAIRED 
FINANCIAL 

ASSETS
 $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000 

2013

Cash and cash equivalents  32 319  32 319  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  107 327  107 327  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Receivables (i)  7 001  5 238   738   337   321   360   6  - 

Amounts receivable for services  161 533  161 533  -  -  -  -  -  - 

 308 180  306 418   738   337   321   360   6  - 

2012

Cash and cash equivalents  39 476  39 476  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents  92 053  92 053  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Receivables (i)  6 043  2 610   802   234   758  1 314   325  - 

Amounts receivable for services  149 326  149 326  -  -  -  -  -  - 

 286 898  283 465   802   234   758  1 314   325  - 

(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (statutory receivable).         
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37 Financial Instruments (continued)

(c) Financial instrument disclosures (continued)

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

The following table details the Department’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. 
The maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of 
each item.

Interest rate exposures and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities       

WEIGHTED 
AVERAGE 

EFFECTIVE 
INTEREST 

RATE

INTEREST RATE EXPOSURE MATURITY DATE

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

VARIABLE 
INTEREST 

RATE

NON  
INTEREST 
BEARING

NOMINAL 
AMOUNT

UP TO 
1 MONTH

1-3 
MONTHS

3 MONTHS 
TO 1 YEAR

1-5 
YEARS

MORE 
THAN 

5 YEARS
2013 %  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000 

Financial Assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents  3.40  32 319  23 365  8 954  32 319   32 319  -  -  -  - 

Restricted 
cash and cash 
equivalents  3.40  107 327  25 436  81 891  107 327  107 327  -  -  -  - 

Receivables (i)  -    7 001  -  7 001  7 001  7 001  -  -  -  - 

Amounts 
receivable for 
services  -    161 533  -  161 533  161 533  161 533  -  -  -  - 

 308 180  48 801  259 379 308 180 308 180 -  -  -  - 

Financial Liabilities

Payables  -    24 334  -  24 334  24 334  24 334  -  -  -  - 

Finance lease 
liabilities

 -    -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

 24 334  -  24 334  24 334  24 334  -  -  -  - 

(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (statutory receivable). 
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37 Financial Instruments (continued)

(c) Financial instrument disclosures (continued) 

Interest rate exposures and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities         

WEIGHTED 
AVERAGE 

EFFECTIVE 
INTEREST 

RATE

INTEREST RATE EXPOSURE MATURITY DATE

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

VARIABLE 
INTEREST 

RATE

NON  
INTEREST 
BEARING

NOMINAL 
AMOUNT

UP TO 
1 MONTH

1-3 
MONTHS

3 MONTHS  
TO 1 YEAR

1-5 
YEARS

MORE 
THAN 

5 YEARS
2012 %  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000 

Financial Assets

Cash and cash 
equivalents 4.74 39 476 21 915 17 561 39 476  39 476  -  -  -  - 

Restricted 
cash and cash 
equivalents 4.74 92 053 22 949 69 104 92 053 92 053  -  -  -  - 

Receivables (i)  -   6 043 - 6 043 6 043  6 043  -  -  -  - 

Amounts 
receivable for 
services  -   149 326 - 149 326 149 326  149 326  -  -  -  - 

286 898 44 864 242 034 286 898 286 898 -  -  -  - 

Financial Liabilities

Payables  -   13 324 - 13 324 -  -  -  -  -  - 

Finance lease 
liabilities  -   28 28 - 28 2 6 20  -  - 

13 352 28 13 324 28 2 6 20  -  - 

(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (statutory receivable).          
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37 Financial Instruments (continued) 

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Department’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the 
reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held 
constant throughout the reporting period. 

CARRYING AMOUNT
     -100 BASIS POINTS      +100 BASIS POINTS
SURPLUS EQUITY SURPLUS EQUITY

 $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000 

2013

Financial Assets

Cash assets  23 365  (234)  (234)   234   234 

Restricted cash assets  25 436  (254)  (254)   254   254 

Financial Liabilities

Finance lease liabilities  -  -  -  -  - 

Total Increase/(Decrease)  48 801  (488)  (488)   488   488 

2012

Financial Assets

Cash assets  21 915  (219)  (219)   219   219 

Restricted cash assets  22 949  (229)  (229)   229   229 

Financial Liabilities

Finance lease liabilities   28  -  -  -  - 

Total Increase/(Decrease)  44 864  (449)  (449)   449   449

Fair values

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at 
amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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38 Remuneration of senior officers            

The number of senior officers, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall 
within the following bands are:

 2013  2012 
 Number  Number 

   $
 30 001 - 40 000  -   1 
 40 001 - 50 000   1  - 
 70 001 - 80 000  -   1 
 90 001 - 100 000  -   1 
 170 001 - 180 000   2   3 
 200 001 - 210 000   1   1 
 210 001 - 220 000   2  - 
 310 001 - 320 000  -   1 
 330 001 - 340 000   1  - 
 350 001 - 360 000  -   1 
 360 001 - 370 000   1  - 
 470 001 - 480 000  -   1 
 480 001 - 490 000   1  - 

 $ 000  $ 000 

Base remuneration and superannuation 2 056 1 886
Annual leave and long service leave accruals 65 70
Other benefits 115 96

Total remuneration of senior officers 2 236 2 052

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in respect of senior officers.

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme. 

Department of Transport Annual Report 2012-13 145



 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

39 Remuneration of Auditor            

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit  
for the current financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators   148   141 

The expense is included at Note 9 Other expenses.            

40 Jointly controlled assets

The following represents the Department’s 50% ownership interest in the Marine Operations Centre with the Department of Fisheries. The jointly 
controlled assets are included in the financial statements.

Non current assets

 Property, plant, equipment, vehicles and vessels  3 741  3 005 

 Infrastructure   134   145 

Total assets  3 875  3 150
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 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

41 Special purpose accounts

Deposits

Opening balance  2 487  2 299 

Receipts:

 Deposits - Keys   5   10 

 Deposits - Bonds   538   296 

 Deposits - Motor Dealer’s Licences  -  - 

 Deposits - Buyback MPT Plate  -  - 

 Interest   86  - 

  629   306

Payments:

 Refunds - Keys   57   4 

 Refunds - Bonds   28   105 

 Refunds - Motor Dealer’s Licences  -   3 

 Refunds - Buyback MPT Plate  -   6 

  85   118

Closing balance  3 031  2 487

This Account holds deposits for the issue of keys to boat owners to access the harbour pens, performance bonds, motor vehicle dealer plates 
and Multi Purpose Taxi Plate deposits. These monies are held in a private trustee capacity, and in accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 1101A 
Financial Reporting by Departments are only reported in these notes to the financial statements.       
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 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

41 Special purpose accounts (continued)

Off-road Vehicles Account

Opening balance   267   264 

Receipts:
 Licence and plate fees   30   28 

  30   28
Payments:
 Grants and subsidies  -   25 

 -   25
 Closing balance   297   267

This Account holds monies collected for the registration of vehicles under the Control of Vehicles (Off-road areas) Act and to provide funds to meet 
the expenses of the Department in connection with administration of the Act pursuant to section 43(2) of the Act.

Perth Parking Licensing Account

Opening balance  55 823  38 891

Receipts:
 Licence fees  34 056  32 056

 34 056  32 056
Payments:
 Grants to State government agencies  19 714  14 382
 Employee costs   24   213 
 Supplies and services   393   529 

 20 131  15 124 
Closing balance  69 748  55 823

This Account was established to hold funds for the purpose of administering the Perth Parking Management Act 1999.    
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 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

41 Special purpose accounts (continued)

Rail Heritage

Opening balance   2   2 

Receipts:
 Fees  -  - 

-  - 
Payments:
 Grants and Subsidies  - -

-  - 
Closing balance   2 2

This account holds funds from the sale of property transferred from Westrail to the Australian Historical Society

Rail Safety Accreditation Account

Opening balance  1 719  1 493 

Receipts:
 Registration fees  1 033  2 523 
 Recoups and other receipts   55   60 

 1 088  2 583
Payments:
 Employee costs  1 229  1 020 
 Superannuation   108   100 
 Lease and rental   24   23 
 Other payments   211  1 214 

 1 572  2 357
Closing balance  1 235  1 719

This Account was established to hold funds for the purpose of administering the Rail Safety Act 1998.  
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 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

41 Special purpose accounts (continued)

Small Craft Facilities

Opening balance  -  1 296

Receipts:
 Boat harbour fees  4 402  4 154 
 Recoups   6   8 
 Other revenue  7 777  3 303 

 12 185  7 465
Payments:
 Employment costs   61   123 
 Contractors   24   156 
 Administration expenses  2 386   427 
 Recreational Boat Scheme  2 849  2 666 
 Maintenance  5 075  4 239 
 Power, water and sewerage   962   833 
 Other operating expenses   828   317 

 12 185  8 761
Closing balance  - -

This account holds funds for the purpose of funding the provision, maintenance, upgrading and management of small craft facilities.
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 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

41 Special purpose accounts (continued)

Taxi Fare Evasion Recoupment Account

Opening balance  - -

Receipts:
 Deposits -  - 

- -

Payments:
 Refunds -  - 

- -
Closing balance - -

The purpose of this Account is to reimburse taxi drivers with monies collected from passengers who failed to pay their fare. 

Taxi Industry Development Account

Opening balance 22 948  21 461 

Receipts:
 Licence fees 9 410  8 204 
 Interest income 914  1 125 
 Other revenue 301   175 

10 625  9 504
Payments:
 Consultants’ fees 1 958  1 471 
 Other payments 6 179  6 546 

8 137  8 017
Closing balance 25 436  22 948

The purpose of this Account is to hold funds received by the Department for the purposes of the Taxi Act 1994. 
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 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

41 Special purpose accounts (continued)

Receipts in Suspense

Opening balance  4 189  4 193 
Receipts credited to suspense account  9 662  8 504 
Receipts transferred from suspense account  9 265  8 508 
Closing balance  4 586  4 189

Pursuant to section 26 (2) of the Financial Management Act, the purpose of this Account is to hold funds pending identification of the purpose for 
which these monies were received.

42 Supplementary financial information

(a) Write-offs 
Public and other property, revenue and debts due to the State were written-off in accordance with section 48 of the Financial Management 
Act 2006 under the authority of:  

(i) Bad Debts 
 The Accountable Authority   47   5 

(ii) Assets 
 The Accountable Authority  -  - 

 
(iii) Other Public Property 
 The Accountable Authority   3  - 

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes 
The Department suffered no losses of public money or other property through theft, defaults or other causes during the current financial period.

(c) Gifts of public property 
The Department provided no gifts of public property during the current financial period.        
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 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

43 Indian Ocean Territories Service Level Agreement

 The provision of services to the Indian Ocean Territories are recouped from the Commonwealth government.

Balance at the start of the year 83  (3)

Receipts 82 217 
Payments  (162)  (131)

Balance at the end of the year 3  83
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44 Administered expenses and income by service

TRANSPORT SYSTEM AND 
SERVICES DEVELOPMENT, 

PLANNING, OPERATION AND 
REGULATION

DRIVER AND 
VEHICLE SERVICES

STRATEGIC TRANSPORT 
POLICY AND INTEGRATED 

PLANNING  TOTAL
 2013  2012  2013  2012  2013  2012  2013  2012 

 $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000  $ 000 
Expenses
Transfer Payments 
 ‑ Consolidated Account    292    312  1 141 132  1 072 278  ‑  ‑  1 141 424  1 072 590 
 ‑ Insurance Commission of Western Australia  ‑  ‑   570 696   544 255  ‑  ‑   570 696   544 255 
 ‑ Main Roads Western Australia  ‑  ‑   70 161   48 879  ‑  ‑   70 161   48 879 
 ‑ Western Australia Police  ‑  ‑   4 075   4 983  ‑  ‑   4 075   4 983 
 ‑ WA Coastal Shipping Commission  ‑  ‑  ‑  ‑    85    80    85    80 
 ‑ Federal and Interstate Agencies  ‑  ‑   2 533   2 093  ‑  ‑   2 533   2 093 
Other expenses  ‑  ‑   1 975  (5 010)  ‑  ‑   1 975  (5 010)

Total administered expenses    292    312  1 790 572  1 667 478    85    80  1 790 949  1 667 870 

Revenues
For transfer to the Consolidated Account or 
Agencies
Appropriations for transfer to the:
 Western Australian Coastal Shipping Commission  ‑  ‑  ‑  ‑    85    80    85    80 
Conservancy    292    312  ‑  ‑  ‑  ‑    292    312 
Infringements  
 Cannabis infringement fines  ‑  ‑  ‑    6  ‑  ‑  ‑    6 
 Plate and transfer infringements  ‑  ‑   7 463   7 320  ‑  ‑   7 463   7 320 
 Speed and red light infringement fines  ‑  ‑   95 917  ‑  ‑   95 917   98 743 
 Final demand fees ‑ traffic infringements  ‑  ‑   2 074   2 180  ‑  ‑   2 074   2 180 
Dealer Plates  ‑  ‑    93    222  ‑  ‑    93    222 
Motor drivers’ licences  ‑  ‑   38 147   39 139  ‑  ‑   38 147   39 139 
Motor vehicle registrations  
 Motor vehicle registrations  ‑  ‑   616 462   561 305  ‑  ‑   616 462   561 305 
 Recording fees  ‑  ‑   47 782   45 766  ‑  ‑   47 782   45 766 
 Stamp duty  ‑  ‑   404 090   364 701  ‑  ‑   404 090   364 701 
 Third party motor vehicle insurance premiums  ‑  ‑   570 696   544 255  ‑  ‑   570 696   544 255 
Collection of interstate licensing fees  ‑  ‑   2 475   2 087  ‑  ‑   2 475   2 087 
Firearm licence fees  ‑  ‑   4 075   4 893  ‑  ‑   4 075   4 893 

Total administered income    292    312  1 789 274  1 670 617    85    80  1 789 651  1 671 009
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45 Administered assets and liabilities

 2013  2012 
 $ 000  $ 000 

 Current assets
 Cash  16 738  12 753 
 Accounts receivable (i)  5 613  6 831 
 Total current assets  22 351  19 584 

 Total administered assets  22 351  19 584 

 Current liabilities
 Treasurer’s Advance  2 000  2 000 
 Payables  6 759  3 773 
 Accruals and interest payable  4 192  3 779 
 Total current liabilities  12 951  9 552 

 Total administered liabilities  12 951  9 552 

(i) Notes to the Schedules of Administered Items - Accounts receivable

 Current Receivables  21 007  20 209 
 Allowance for impairment of receivables  (15 394)  (13 378)

 5 613  6 831
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Certification of 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
For the year ended 30 June 2013

I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant 
and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Department of Transport’s performance and 
fairly represent the performance of the Department of Transport for the financial year ended 
30 June 2013.

Reece Waldock 

Accountable Authority

16 September 2013
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
For the year ended 30 June 2013

The transport function is integral to business 
and commerce and is important for social 
interaction and connecting communities. 
DoT’s focus is on strategic transport policy 
and planning, regulation, and the delivery 
of safe and sustainable transport services 
and programs including licensing of drivers, 
vehicles and vessels,  developing and planning 
infrastructure and setting and ensuring service 
and safety standards across the range of 
public and commercial transport systems that 
service Western Australia. 

With more than 1,500 employees, and 
together with its portfolio partners, DoT 
has the expertise to deliver high quality and 
integrated transport policy, services and 
plans that connect a complex, inter-related 
economic and social network. DoT connects 
people with goods and services through an 
intricate system of roads, railways, airports, 
ports and waterways, and keeps people safe 
within those networks through an integrated 
approach to planning, licensing, education and 
compliance strategies. 

The breadth and diversity of DoT’s functions 
and services means that DoT contributes to 
many of the Government’s strategic goals. 

GOVERNMENT STRATEGIC GOALS
DEPARTMENTAL 
DESIRED OUTCOMES

DEPARTMENTAL  
SERVICES

Outcomes Based Service Delivery
Greater focus on achieving results in key 
service delivery areas for the benefit of all 
Western Australians.

1.  An accessible and safe 
transport system

1.  Transport system and 
services development, 
planning, operation and 
regulation

2.  Vehicles and road users 
that meet established 
vehicle standards and driver 
competencies to deliver safe 
vehicles and safe drivers

2.  Driver and Vehicle Services

State Building – Major Projects
Building strategic infrastructure that 
will create jobs and underpin Western 
Australia’s long-term economic 
development.

3.  Integrated transport systems 
that facilitate economic 
development

3.  Strategic Transport Policy 
and Integrated Planning
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Departmental desired outcome one: 
AN ACCESSIBLE AND SAFE TRANSPORT SYSTEM

DoT’s responsibility for the accessibility and 
safety of the transport system derives from the 
Transport Co-ordination Act 1966 (the Act). 
The Act confers on DoT the responsibility 
for coordinating and planning the transport 
system and enabling accessibility and safety 
considerations. 

There are varying degrees of accessibility 
and safety across the agency for the different 
modes of transport. For example, the Marine 
Safety Business Unit provides regulation, 
education, training and compliance monitoring 
in regards to safety of marine vessels, whereas 
accessibility to marine related infrastructure 
and waterways is the responsibility of the 
Coastal Infrastructure Business Unit.

Rail safety is managed by the Office of Rail 
Safety which is charged with administering the 
Rail Safety Act 2010 in Western Australia and 
nationally as part of a national approach to 
rail safety regulation. It does this by ensuring 
railway owners and operators comply with 
regulatory standards to construct, operate and 
maintain railways. Accessibility to railways is 
the responsibility of the owners and operators. 

Accessibility to taxis is the responsibility of the 
Passenger Services Business Unit whereby 
they are responsible for ensuring an adequate 

taxi service is being provided to the public of 
Western Australia. Safety in taxis in regards 
to vehicles and drivers is the responsibility 
of Driver and Vehicle Services in its role in 
administering the Road Traffic Act 1974 and is 
covered under Outcome 2 of the Department’s 
Outcome structure: “Vehicles and road users 
that meet established vehicle standards and 
driver competencies to deliver safe vehicles 
and safe drivers”. Safety for taxi operators and 
passengers not related to use on the road 
is the responsibility of the Western Australia 
Police in its community safety role.

Accessibility to regular public transport air 
services is the responsibility of the State 
Aviation Strategy section of the Transport 
Policy and Systems Directorate which ensures 
an adequate air service is provided to key 
regional communities throughout the State.  
Aviation safety is controlled through the 
Commonwealth Government’s Civil Aviation 
Safety Authority. DoT ensures all aircraft that 
carry passengers for regular public transport 
or charter purposes within Western Australia 
are licensed annually.

The effectiveness indicators below are 
proposed to measure transport system 
accessibility and safety for DoT:

Accessibility

 Æ Percentage of standard metropolitan 
(non multi-purpose) taxi jobs which were 
not covered – peak;

 Æ Percentage of standard metropolitan 
(non multi-purpose) taxi jobs which were 
not covered – off peak;

 Æ Percentage by which the waiting time 
standard, for Metropolitan Area taxis is met;

 Æ Percentage of Time Maritime Infrastructure 
is Fit for Purpose when required; and

 Æ Percentage of Regional Airports Receiving 
Regular Scheduled Public Transport. 

Safety

 Æ Rate of Reported Incidents (Accidents) on 
the Water per 100 Commercial Vessels 
Surveyed under the Western Australian 
Marine Act 1982;

 Æ Rate of Reported Incidents (Accidents) 
on the Water per 10,000 Registered 
Recreational Vessels; and

 Æ Rate of Serious Accidents per Million 
Train Kilometres.

Department of Transport Annual Report 2012-13158



Effectiveness key performance 
indicators

Percentage of standard metropolitan 
(non multi-purpose) taxi jobs which were 
not covered – peak

DoT is responsible for regulation of the 
Perth Metropolitan Taxi Industry via the 
administration of the Taxi Act 1994.

Following the 1999 National Competition 
Policy Review of the Perth Metropolitan Taxi 
Industry, the then Department for Planning 
and Infrastructure introduced performance 
standards for the industry. Performance 
standards have been in place since 1 July 
2000 to ensure that the public receives 
acceptable levels of service. The taxi industry 
is required to meet these performance 
standards. An independent external consultant 
analyses taxi industry data, sourced from the 

Taxi Dispatch Service (TDS) providers, and 
reports on taxi demand and industry viability 
trends as well as the performance of the taxi 
industry against the industry standards on a 
monthly and quarterly basis. 

This assessment gives DoT the ability to 
provide the Minister for Transport with 
evidence-based policy recommendations 
and therefore directly assists the regulatory 
function of the Department.

The key performance indicator of taxi jobs 
not covered – Peak (JNC – Peak) is the 
percentage of total jobs going unserviced in 
the peak period (Friday and Saturday nights 
from 5pm to 6am).

Until the 2012-13 financial year, the peak 
and off peak JNC was reported as a single 
KPI. The total number of jobs not covered 
in all hours was divided by the total number 

of phone orders advertised to taxi drivers. 
This did not allow evaluation of the sharp 
differences in service delivery in different times 
of the week. In the 2012-13 financial year, peak 
and off peak periods are reported separately.

Trends from this indicator assist with 
determining supply and demand requirements 
for the industry and provide rationale for 
determining whether there is a requirement to 
release additional taxi plates.

Industry performance is assessed by obtaining 
and analysing data from the two major TDS 
providers in the metropolitan area. Of these, 
both the number of customer telephone orders 
placed on and advertised through the taxi 
company dispatch system and the number of 
jobs not covered against these orders during 
peak periods are recorded.

2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Percentage of standard metropolitan 
(non multi‑purpose) taxi jobs which 
were not covered – peak

2.08% 3.08% 4.53% 1.00% 4.75% A 3.96% increase in peak demand occurred in the 2012‑13 financial year.
The data indicates that the increase in the number of peak jobs not 
covered (9.08%) is higher than the increase in peak demand for jobs 
(3.96%). Given fleet size increased by 4%, this suggests that fleet 
efficiency may be decreasing.
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Percentage of standard metropolitan 
(non multi-purpose) taxi jobs which were 
not covered – off peak

DoT is responsible for regulation of the 
Perth Metropolitan Taxi Industry via the 
administration of the Taxi Act 1994.

Following the 1999 National Competition 
Policy Review of the Perth Metropolitan 
Taxi Industry, the then Department for 
Planning and Infrastructure introduced 
performance standards for the industry. 
Performance standards have been in place 
since 1 July 2000 to ensure that the public 
receives acceptable levels of service. The taxi 
industry is required to meet these performance 
standards. An independent external consultant 
analyses taxi industry data, sourced from the 
TDS providers, and reports on taxi demand 
and industry viability trends as well as the 

performance of the taxi industry against 
the industry standards on a monthly and 
quarterly basis. 

This assessment gives DoT the ability to 
provide the Minister for Transport with 
evidence-based policy recommendations 
and therefore directly assists the regulatory 
function of the Department.

The key performance indicator of taxi jobs 
not covered – Off-peak (JNC – Off Peak) is 
the percentage of total jobs going unserviced 
in the off-peak period (all times with the 
exception of the peak period which is Friday 
and Saturday nights from 5pm to 6am). 

Until the 2012-13 financial year, the peak 
and off peak JNC was reported as a single 
KPI. The total number of jobs not covered 
in all hours was divided by the total number 

of phone orders advertised to taxi drivers. 
This did not allow evaluation of the sharp 
differences in service delivery in different times 
of the week. In the 2012-13 financial year, peak 
and off peak periods are reported separately. 

Trends from this indicator assist with 
determining supply and demand requirements 
for the industry and provide rationale for 
determining whether there is a requirement to 
release additional taxi plates.

Industry performance is assessed by obtaining 
and analysing data from the two major TDS 
providers in the metropolitan area. Of these, 
both the number of customer telephone orders 
placed on and advertised through the taxi 
company dispatch system and the number of 
jobs not covered against these orders during 
the Off-peak period are recorded.

2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Percentage of standard Metropolitan 
(non multi‑purpose) taxi jobs which 
were not covered – off peak

0.86% 1.07% 1.65% 0.50% 1.67% A 1.51% increase in off‑peak demand occurred in the 2012‑13 
financial year.
The data indicates that the increase in the number of off‑peak jobs not 
covered (3.25%) is higher than the increase in off‑peak demand for jobs 
(1.51%). This may suggest that fleet efficiency is decreasing.
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Percentage by which the waiting time 
standard, for metropolitan area taxis is met

DoT is responsible for regulation of the 
Perth Metropolitan Taxi Industry via the 
administration of the Taxi Act 1994.

Following the 1999 National Competition 
Policy Review of the Perth Metropolitan Taxi 
Industry, the then Department for Planning 
and Infrastructure introduced performance 
standards for the industry. Performance 
standards have been in place since 
1 July 2000. The taxi industry is required to 
meet these performance standards.

An independent external consultant analyses 
taxi industry data, sourced from the TDS 
providers, and reports on taxi demand 
and industry viability trends as well as the 
performance of the taxi industry against 
the industry standards on a monthly and 
quarterly basis.

This assessment gives DoT the ability to 
provide the Minister with evidence-based 
policy recommendations and therefore 
directly assists the regulatory function of 
the Department.

2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL

Percentage by which the waiting time standard 
for metropolitan area taxis is met

91.8% 91.9% 91.5% 91.0% 91.7%

No significant variance noted this year between target and actual, and actual for 2012 and actual 2013.

In addition to JNC, taxi performance is 
measured by determining the average time 
a customer has to wait for a taxi following 
a booking, during both peak and off-peak 
times, and then comparing the result against 
the relevant performance standards. To 
calculate this measure the wait times for 
taxis requested as soon as possible (ASAP) 
have been measured during both peak and 
off-peak times and bookings that meet 
the performance standard determined 
and presented as a percentage against all 
ASAP bookings.

Trends from this indicator assists with 
determining supply versus demand 
requirements for the industry and provides 
rationale for determining whether there is a 
requirement to release additional taxi plates.

Industry performance is assessed by obtaining 
and analysing data from the two major TDS 
providers in the metropolitan area. Waiting 
time information is available from the TDS 
systems and measured as the difference 
between when the customer first requested 
the taxi and when the driver turned on their 
meter to start the job.
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Percentage of time maritime infrastructure 
is fit for purpose when required

DoT is responsible for the planning, 
creation, enhancement and management 
of new and existing land and water based 
maritime facilities for small craft throughout 
Western Australia.

DoT manages and maintains a variety of 
maritime infrastructure assets, including 
jetties, wharves, boat launching facilities, pens 
and moorings at approximately 50 discrete 
locations throughout the State, to service the 
fishing and commercial maritime industries 
and the recreational boating needs of 
Western Australians.

In addition to this, DoT maintains associated 
navigational aids which are strategically 
placed in water and onshore to ensure that 
the boating community can safely transit 
through waterways. It also maintains the 
navigable waters at its managed maritime 
facilities as well as at a small number of other 
locations, including two commercial ports, 
throughout the State by providing access via 
dredged channels. 

The facilities and their purpose vary for each 
location and the associated management and 
maintenance plans vary accordingly.

A consistently high percentage of availability 
will confirm that maritime infrastructure is being 
appropriately maintained and is accessible 
to the boating industries and the public of 
Western Australia.

2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL

Percentage of time maritime infrastructure is 
fit for purpose when required

99.87% 99.73% 99.76% 99.71% 99.53%

No significant variance noted this year between target and actual, and actual for 2012 and actual 2013.
Paddlers on the Swan River
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Percentage of regional airports receiving 
scheduled regular public transport (RPT) 
air services

DoT provides advice on a range of aviation 
issues. It provides grants to support the 
development of airport infrastructure through 
the Regional Airports Development Scheme 
and regulates intrastate air services to 
ensure that key Western Australian regional 
communities receive sustainable RPT 
air services.

Under the Transport Co-ordination Act 1966, 
all aircraft that carry passengers for regular 
public transport or charter purposes within 
Western Australia are required to be licensed 
annually. In addition, the Minister for Transport 
has powers to apply conditions to aircraft 
licences to determine where they may fly in 
Western Australia. Where there are insufficient 
passenger numbers to support competition to 
a key regional centre, the State Government 
protects the service by offering it through 
a public tender process, so that a limited 
number of airlines may service it.

2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL

Percentage of regional airports receiving 
scheduled regular public transport (RPT) 
air services

96% 96% 100% 100% 96%

No significant variance noted this year between target and actual, and actual for 2012 and actual 2013.

The objective is to ensure that communities 
in Western Australia with populations of more 
than 500 are located within a 250 kilometre 
radius of an airport accessible by a safe road 
which provides two or more weekly RPT air 
services or have access to other forms of 
public transport.

In 2012-13, of the 26 key regional centres 
receiving scheduled RPT air services, 11 were 
open to full competition and 15 are protected 
through various arrangements with or without 
a Government subsidy. 

To ensure that charter operations do not 
undermine the RPT service, charter operators 
are limited by a condition on their aircraft 
licence to providing one return flight per 

client per week to an RPT airport in Western 
Australia. The Minister for Transport’s or DoT’s 
approval is required to provide additional 
charter services over RPT air routes.

The licensing arrangements and deeds for 
the protected and subsidised services are 
monitored through monthly statistics and 
meetings with the airlines to ensure that the 
outcome of the regional centres having a 
sustainable RPT service is achieved.

A reduction in the percentage of key regional 
centres being serviced by RPT air services or 
other forms of public transport would indicate 
that services to remote communities are not 
being maintained.
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Rate of reported incidents (accidents) 
on the water per 100 commercial vessels 
surveyed under the Western Australian 
Marine Act 1982

All commercial vessels in Western Australia 
are subject to safety survey to ensure 
that they meet minimum standards for 
construction and equipment safety before 
they may begin to operate, and are surveyed 
annually to ensure safety and maintenance 
standards are maintained (this excludes 
vessels certified as Class 4 Hire and Drive 
vessels). Under the Western Australian Marine 
Act 1982 a commercial vessel must hold a 
current certificate of survey to show that it 
meets national and international construction 
standards to continue to operate.

An incident (accident) is defined as any 
commercial vessel which is involved in a 
collision that sustains:

(a) casualty;

(b) damage affecting her seaworthiness or 
efficiency, either in hull or in any part of the 
boilers and machinery;

(c) causes the loss of or damage to any other 
vessel, or where by reason of a casualty 
happening to, or on board a commercial 
vessel, loss of life or serious injury to any 
person ensues.

It is a requirement under the Western 
Australian Marine Act 1982 for people to report 
any accident or incident.

2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL

Rate of reported incidents (accidents) on the 
water per 100 commercial vessels surveyed 
under the Western Australian Marine Act 1982

5.11 5.95 4.97 4.50 4.82

No significant variance noted this year between target and actual, and actual for 2012 and actual 2013.

Geraldton Port
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Rate of reported incidents (accidents) 
on the water per 10,000 registered 
recreational vessels

Western Australia’s temperate climate 
and unique marine environment entice 
an estimated 250,000 people to make 
recreational use of the state’s waterways each 
year. DoT takes a lead role in ensuring the 
safety of the state’s mariners through: 

 Æ setting standards for recreational vessels 
and registering only those that meet 
legislative requirements; 

 Æ encouraging recreational mariners to 
participate in educational programs; 

 Æ maintaining marine charts and signs 
to promote safe navigation and warn 
of hazards;

 Æ responding to oil spills and other 
pollutants; 

 Æ placing and maintaining navigational aids 
(NAVAIDS); and 

 Æ educating and informing mariners on 
marine safety matters. 

Under the Navigable Waters Regulations 1958, 
all recreational vessels that have a motor or 
have the capacity to have a motor fitted, must 
be registered to operate on navigable waters in 
Western Australia. 

An incident (accident) is defined within Western 
Australian Marine Act 1982 as any vessel which 
is involved in a collision that sustains:

(a) a casualty;

(b) damage affecting vessel seaworthiness or 
efficiency, either in hull or in any part of the 
boilers and machinery; or

(c) causes the loss of, or damage to, any other 
vessel, or where, by reason of a casualty 
happening to or on-board a vessel, loss of 
life or serious injury to any person ensues.

It is also a requirement under the Western 
Australian Marine Act 1982 for people to report 
any incident (accident).

A reduction in the rate of reported incidents 
(accidents) per 10,000 registered recreational 
vessels would indicate that the safety 
outcome is being improved in relation to 
recreational boating.

2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Rate of reported incidents 
(accidents) on the water per 10,000 
registered recreational vessels

9.51 12.52 10.69 10.00 9.48 Number of incidents have decreased from the 2011‑12 actual due to an 
increase of on‑water presence in regional areas.
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Rate of serious rail accidents per million 
train kilometres

Through the administration of the Rail Safety 
Act 2010 (the Act), DoT is responsible for 
promoting the safety of the rail transport 
system. In this regulatory scheme, where 
railway managers are accountable for rail 
safety, the Office of Rail Safety:

 Æ accredits rail transport operators to 
construct, operate and maintain railways 
where they have met requirements in 
the Act, including demonstrating the 
competence and capacity to manage risks 
to safety associated with railway operations 
and to implement their proposed safety 
management systems; and

 Æ monitors performance of accredited 
railways to ensure they are complying with 
the terms of their accreditation and their 
approved safety management system and 
to achieve continuous development and 
improvement in railway safety.

A ‘serious’ rail accident is one consistent with 
a Category A ‘notifiable occurrence’ as set out 
in the Rail Safety Regulations 2011. That is:

 Æ an accident or incident that causes 
the death, serious injury or significant 
property damage;

 Æ a running line derailment;

 Æ a running line collision between 
rolling stock;

 Æ a collision at a road or pedestrian level 
crossing between rolling stock and either a 
road vehicle or a person;

 Æ a fire or explosion on or in a rail 
infrastructure or rolling stock that affects 
the safety or railway operations or that 
endangers one or more people;

 Æ a suspected terrorist attack or threat of 
attack; or

 Æ any accident or incident that is likely to 
generate intense public interest or concern.

A train kilometre is a unit of measure 
representing the movement of a train over 
one kilometre.

A reduction in the rate of occurrences would 
indicate that the safety outcome is being met 
on rail transport and gives users reasonable 
confidence that the rail system they use 
is safe.

The result is economic growth and 
development through the promotion of rail as a 
safe form of transport connecting commuters 
and goods to the desired destination for 
business or personal purposes. Social and 
economic growth benefits are also accrued 
through avoiding the high costs associated 
with rail accidents.

2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Rate of serious rail accidents per 
million train kilometres

1.51 1.82 1.82 2.38 1.66 There has been a reduction in the number of Category A incidents  
(77 in 2011‑12 to 74 in 2012‑13) and an increase in train kilometres from 
2011‑12 of approximately two million.
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Efficiency key performance indicators

Service one: 
TRANSPORT SYSTEM AND SERVICES DEVELOPMENT, PLANNING, OPERATION AND REGULATION
Transport system and services development, 
planning, operation and regulation are 
designed to improve accessibility and 
safety of the transport system for all 
Western Australians.

This service contributes to the Government’s 
Framework for Strategic Management Goal – 
Outcomes Based Service Delivery through:

1. Transport System and Services 
Development Planning Operation and 
Regulation:

 Æ Integration between and within transport 
modes;

 Æ Managing heavy vehicle freight movement 
to major industrial and intermodal sites;

 Æ Increasing accessibility to a reasonable 
level of transport services for all individuals, 
businesses and communities; and

 Æ Encouraging sustainable choices through 
programs, such as TravelSmart and 
cycling promotions. Transport Operation 
and Regulation: 

 Æ Provision and management of 
infrastructure, including small craft facilities 
and marine navigation aids, to maintain safe 
and accessible transport operations;

 Æ Setting competencies/standards and 
monitoring compliance for operators, 
vehicles and vessels in the taxi, omnibus 
and maritime industries;

 Æ Developing policies, standards and 
guidelines for rail safety regulation, 
accrediting rail owners and rail 
operators in accordance with relevant 
standards, and ensuring rail owners 
and operators comply with the terms of 
their accreditation;

 Æ Developing and implementing policies and 
strategies to facilitate safe navigation and 
safe use of the waters of the State;

 Æ Maintaining effective contingency response 
strategies and mechanisms to combat 
marine transport emergencies and marine 
environmental pollution incidents;

 Æ Safe jetties through licensing;

 Æ Marine and transport related data 
collection, analysis and dissemination; and

 Æ Provision of cartographic information 
services.

The key efficiency performance indicators 
used to measure this performance are 
detailed below. 

KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS
2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL

Cost of regulation per Taxi plate administered $3,503 $2,959 $3,061 $2,979.42 $3,097.91

No significant variance noted this year between target and actual, and actual for 2012 and actual 2013.

Department of Transport Annual Report 2012-13 167



KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS
2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Average cost per day per maritime 
infrastructure asset managed

$69.61 $58.28 $62.81 $58.67 $79.23 1. At the time that the 2012‑13 budget was forecast it was 
anticipated that approximately $7.3 million of the recurrent budget 
would be used for capital projects, predominantly to construct 
new infrastructure at Exmouth and Fremantle Fishing Boat 
Harbours. The target budget was therefore reduced by this amount, 
as capital works are not included in the KPI budget. However, it was 
subsequently decided that these works should be primarily funded 
from the Maritime Facilities Program and that the recurrent budget 
should be used to fund much needed minor works and repair 
and maintenance of aging infrastructure throughout the State, 
particularly at our North West facilities experiencing increased 
demand from the resources sector.

2. $1.2 million has been spent at our Onslow Maritime Facility to 
dredge the Beadon Creek channel to allow larger vessels servicing 
the resources sector to utilise the facility. This unbudgeted expense 
will be fully recouped from the user.

3. In 2012 sand bypassing works at Mandurah were undertaken 
by DoT and two thirds of these costs, $0.7 million, have been 
recouped from the City of Mandurah. This portion of the costs was 
not budgeted for, as it is recouped.

4. Jetty infrastructure has been upgraded and replaced at Barrack 
Square as part of the Elizabeth Quay project; with $0.9 million in 
assets disposed of, as part of this process.

KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS
2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL

Average survey cost per 
commercial vessel

$2,662 $2,429 $2,488 $2,939 $2,691

No significant variance noted this year between target and actual, and actual for 2012 and actual 2013.
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KEY EFFICIENCY 
INDICATORS

2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Average cost per private 
recreational vessel registration

$93.87 $113.26 $94.71 $98.54 $105.77 Estimated growth not achieved which resulted in provision of services 
costing more per vessel.

KEY EFFICIENCY 
INDICATORS

2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Cost to maintain marine 
pollution response 
preparedness per 
registered vessel

$34.96 $24.48 $23.04 $20.36 $20.05 The data shows the cost of maintaining marine pollution response 
preparedness per recreational and commercial vessel. The trend over the 
last few years shows a decrease due to no major incidents occurring in this 
financial period.  DoT had budgeted for unexpected incident/s.

KEY EFFICIENCY 
INDICATORS

2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Average cost per household 
contacted under the 
TravelSmart scheme

$204.21 $182.42 $265.56 $466.81 N/A Due to a fixed recurrent budget, the yearly variance in the KPI is dependent 
on the number of households contacted per project.
The 2012‑13 KPI Budget Target was based on a reach of 3,000 
households but this did not occur during the period. Instead, an extended 
program reach has been developed in partnership with the Department of 
Sport and Recreation. The partnership has provided service efficiencies 
and an increased project scale without an increase in DoT investment.
As an expanded project will be delivered in 2013‑14, no households were 
contacted in 2012‑13. Contacts have been made with local government, 
schools and business to develop the program. 
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Department desired outcome two: 
VEHICLES AND ROAD USERS THAT MEET ESTABLISHED VEHICLE 
STANDARDS AND DRIVER COMPETENCIES TO DELIVER SAFE VEHICLES 
AND SAFE DRIVERS.

The Road Traffic Act 1974 confers on DoT 
through Driver and Vehicle Services (DVS), 
the responsibility for licensing the State’s 
drivers and registering vehicles. Drivers must 
demonstrate that they are competent to 
drive a vehicle through complying with the 
requirements of Section 16 of the Road Traffic 
(Authorisation To Drive) Regulations 2008. 
Vehicles must be registered before they may 
lawfully be used on the road. Road Traffic 
(Vehicle Standards) Rules 2002 details the 
specific requirements for examination against 
the Australian Design Rules which allow a 
vehicle to be deemed roadworthy. 

DoT measures its effectiveness in meeting this 
outcome through measuring: 

 Æ The percentage of vehicle examinations 
completed in accordance with the 
Australian Design Rules assessed by 
independent audit; and

 Æ The percentage of driver licences issued 
that comply with the Graduated Driver 
Training and Licensing System assessed by 
independent audit. 

Effectiveness key performance 
indicators

Percentage of vehicle examinations 
completed in accordance with the 
Australian Design Rules (ADR) assessed 
by independent audit

The Road Traffic Act 1974 confers on DoT 
responsibility for licensing the State’s vehicles. 
Vehicles must be licensed before they may 
lawfully be used on the road. Registration is 
conferred only where a vehicle is deemed 
roadworthy (passed examination).

This indicator measures the extent to 
which vehicle examinations are conducted 
according to processes designed to establish 
levels of roadworthiness pursuant to the 
provisions of the Road Traffic Act 1974 and 
related regulations. 

The Road Traffic (Vehicle Standards) Rules 
2002 detail specific requirements for 
vehicles, including dimensions, braking, 
lighting and emissions – all of which must 
conform to the ADR (as at the date of 
manufacture of the vehicle). 

DoT Vehicle Examiner
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DoT’s Vehicle Examiners and Authorised 
Inspection Station personnel are registered 
motor vehicle mechanics and trained to 
examine vehicles in accordance with the ADR. 

The Motor Vehicle “Certificate of Inspection” 
form (MR1) is used to record details of the 
vehicle examination.

Percentage of driver licences issued that 
comply with the Graduated Driver Training 
and Licensing system (GDTLS) assessed 
by independent audit

The Road Traffic Act 1974 confers on 
Transport responsibility for licensing the 
State’s drivers. Section 16 of the Road 
Traffic (Authorisation to Drive) Regulations 
2008 details the requirements prescribed 
under section 42 of the Road Traffic Act 

1974. Drivers must demonstrate that they are 
competent to drive a vehicle through passing 
theoretical and practical tests, completing 25 
hours of supervised driving and passing a 
computerised hazard perception test

This indicator measures the extent to which 
licensing of drivers is conducted according 
to processes designed to establish levels of 
competence pursuant to the provisions of the 
Road Traffic Act 1974 and related regulations.

2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Percentage of vehicle examinations 
completed in accordance with the 
Australian Design Rules assessed by 
independent audit (safe vehicles)

98.00% 99.75% 99.25% 100% 87.75% Variation in percentage between the 2012‑13 actual and 2012‑13 budget is 
the result of changes in workflow practices associated with implementation 
of the Vehicle Inspection System at Approved Inspection Stations which has 
resulted in a change to the inspection forms process (MR1). The process 
was redefined in April 2013, through education and provision of 
administrative instructions which will be monitored via compliance activity 
and education. It is anticipated that DoT performance against KPI will 
improve in 2013‑2014.

2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Percentage of driver licences issued 
that comply with the Graduated 
Driver Training and Licensing system 
as assessed by independent audit 
(safe drivers)

92.0% 84.5% 82.0% 100% 87.5% The variation in percentage between the 2012‑13 actual and 2012‑13 
budget is the result of strict record practices associated with log books and 
proof of identity (POI) requirements. The new log books implemented in 
November 2012 and changes to POI effective from April 2013 will continue 
to improve performance against this indicator in 2013‑14.
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Efficiency key performance indicators

Service two:
DRIVER AND VEHICLE SERVICES

The Road Traffic Act 1974 confers on DoT, 
through DVS, responsibility for licensing the 
State’s drivers and registering vehicles. Drivers 
must demonstrate that they are competent 
to drive a vehicle through passing theoretical 
and practical tests, completing the prescribed 
hours of supervised driving and passing a 
computerised hazard perception test.

Vehicles must be registered before they may 
lawfully be used on the road. Registration is 
conferred only where a vehicle is roadworthy.

This service contributes to the Government’s 
Outcomes-Based Service Delivery of 
‘Greater focus on achieving results in key 
service delivery areas for the benefit of all 
Western Australians’, through:

 Æ setting motor vehicle standards in 
accordance with national and state 
government requirements, examining 
motor vehicles for compliance with those 
standards and registering and transferring 
compliant motor vehicles;

 Æ setting standards and requirements within 
government policies for the issue of a 
licence to drive on roads;

 Æ assessing driver competency, issuing and 
renewing driver licences in accordance with 
national and state government requirements 
and driver competency standards;

 Æ maintaining a database of registered 
vehicles and drivers, and managing 
vehicle identification numbers, to support 
the enforcement of road traffic and other 
relevant laws;

 Æ collecting revenue for vehicle and driver 
licensing on behalf of other government 
agencies; and

 Æ informing and educating road users about 
driver licensing, vehicle registration and 
related requirements.

The key efficiency performance indicators 
used to measure this performance are:

KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS
2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Average cost per vehicle and 
driver transaction

$17.46 $17.19 $17.57 $16.67 $18.28 The variance is primarily due to higher than anticipated direct and 
corporate operating costs required to maintain and enhance frontline 
customer service delivery to meet customer expectations and reduce 
customer wait times, implement education and safety initiatives and 
support enforcement of the Road Traffic Act 1974.

Department of Transport Annual Report 2012-13 173



KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS
2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Average cost per vehicle inspection $90.46 $81.22 $85.63 $85.90 $99.43 Authorised Inspection Stations have, over a period of time, increased 
the number of vehicle inspections they undertake to the point where 
they conduct more inspections than DoT.  
DVS is now at a point where it has commenced scaling down its 
own inspection operations by transferring some resources to focus 
on driver compliance matters. Future plans include closing Midland 
inspection operations. Due to time lag this process could not be 
reflected in the current KPI. The financial impact will be more evident 
in 2013‑14. 

KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS
2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Average cost per driver assessment $87.06 $77.94 $83.41 $84.72 $99.54 The variance is primarily attributable to additional assessors employed 
to meet demand and maintain service quality, and a redistribution of 
costs from inspection services and policy areas within DVS to focus 
on compliance and driver education and safety activities across 
the State.

KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS
2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL

Percentage driver’s licence cards 
issued within 21 days of completed 
application

99.8% 99.9% 99.9% 100% 99.9%

No significant variance noted this year between target and actual, and actual for 2012 and actual 2013.
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Department desired 
outcome three: 
INTEGRATED TRANSPORT SYSTEMS THAT 
FACILITATE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

The transport function is integral to business and commerce and 
is important for social interaction and connecting communities. 
Therefore a major focus of DoT is on strategic transport policy 
and planning across the range of public and commercial 
transport systems that service Western Australia.

DoT, through its Policy, Planning and Investment Division, 
develops, integrates and regulates the State’s transport systems 
and infrastructure.

DoT determines through its policy and planning role, the location 
of major transport routes and infrastructure, their suitability for 
a range of transport services and how each integrates into the 
broader transport system for boats, trains, planes and vehicles.

DoT measures its effectiveness in meeting this outcome through 
measuring: 

 Æ Percentage of containerised freight transported via rail in 
relation to total metropolitan container movements to and from 
Fremantle Port.

Fremantle Port
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Effectiveness key performance 
indicator

Percentage of containerised freight 
transported via rail in relation to total 
metropolitan container movements to 
and from Fremantle Port 

Transporting containers by rail to and 
from the Fremantle Port results in avoided 
truck movements on port roads, thereby 
reducing road congestion, noise, accidents 
and emissions. 

To encourage short haul rail transport to 
the Fremantle Port, the Government has 
subsidised containers transported by rail 
since 2007. 

Over time the rail subsidy has reduced from 
$50 per Twenty foot Equivalent Unit (TEU) 
container to $40 per TEU. It is anticipated 
that this will gradually further reduce as rail 
volumes grow and rail establishes itself firmly 
in the market. The subsidy is currently in 
place until 2016-17.

DoT pays the subsidy to Intermodal Link 
Services (ILS), the operator of the North Quay 
Rail Terminal service. ILS then passes it on 
to the client through a reduction of the rail 
price, which contributes to making the rail 
freight service cost competitive with road 
freight services. 

The effectiveness and performance of the 
subsidy is measured as the percentage of all 
containers on rail, compared to containers 
transported by road to and from Fremantle Port 

Although rail volumes experienced strong 
growth following the introduction of the subsidy 
in 2007, the global financial downturn resulted 
in a contraction of the number of containers 
moved by rail from a peak of nearly 16 per cent, 
to 10.9 per cent in 2009-10. Growth in the 
number of rail containers has since recovered, 
averaging 13.8 per cent in 2012-13. 

There are short to medium term fluctuations 
with respect the number of rail containers 
due to general economic conditions and 

commercial decisions and the current 
slowdown in economic activity is impacting on 
the rail service. However, total container trade 
through the port, including rail volumes, are 
expected to continue to grow over the long 
term. The State Government has a long term 
aspirational target of transporting 30 per cent 
of the total number of containers through 
Fremantle Port by rail.

2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL

Percentage of containerised freight transported 
via rail in relation to total metropolitan container 
movements to and from Fremantle Port

10.9% 11.5% 13.4% 14.0% 13.8%

No significant variance noted this year between target and actual, and actual for 2012 and actual 2013.
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Efficiency key performance indicator

Service three: 
STRATEGIC TRANSPORT POLICY AND INTEGRATED PLANNING

This service contributes to the Government’s 
Framework for the Strategic Management goal 
‘State Building – Major Projects’ by providing 
leadership for strategic management, 
development and protection of economic 
transport nodes and networks through:

 Æ the provision of an integrated transport 
policy framework to guide Government and 
the private sector in decision making;

 Æ the provision and coordination of integrated 
state-wide transport policy including those 
of national significance and those involving 
multi-modal solutions; 

 Æ ensuring the transport policy framework 
supports cost effective transport systems 
and services;

 Æ developing an agreed State-wide Integrated 
Transport Strategy;

 Æ undertaking state wide capital investment 
planning, evaluation and prioritisation;

 Æ integrated planning for major transport 
system projects;

 Æ development of funding principles and 
pricing signals to ensure appropriate 
development and use of transport assets;

 Æ improving freight access to key terminals, 
improving freight flows and increasing 
competitiveness through reduced costs;

 Æ reducing the costs associated with road 
trauma by enhancing the accessibility and 
safety of public transport systems;

 Æ providing for the efficient distribution of 
goods and services to business and the 
community;

 Æ ensuring flexibility to meet the demands 
of a changing economy and market 
environments; and

 Æ enabling commuter access to industrial 
centres and to the services and goods they 
require.

The key efficiency performance indicators 
used to measure this performance are:

KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS
2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Average cost per policy hour 
for strategic transport policy 
development

$73.29 $109.78 $88.79 $90.60 $103.94 The increase in the cost per policy hour is due to:
 Æ an increase in the 2012‑13 operating component of the KPI was due to 
budget redistributions from lower priority operational projects to fund 
works within the Coastal Infrastructure Business Unit, including dredging 
and legal expenses and a provision of doubtful debt for an unpaid invoice.

 Æ A Policy Officer position was seconded to the Transport Policy and 
Systems Directorate on a temporary basis and has since returned to DVS 
with the position kept vacant.
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KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS
2009-10
ACTUAL

2010-11
ACTUAL

2011-12
ACTUAL

2012-13
TARGET

2012-13
ACTUAL REASONS FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIANCE

Average cost per planning hour 
for integrated transport planning 
development

$99.48 $149.73 $126.38 $102.88 $96.13 The data shows the actual expenditure by DoT for state‑wide integrated 
transport planning development divided by the number of hours spent by 
DoT staff involved in integrated transport planning.
The increase in the actual results over the years 2009‑11 is due to 
incorporation of items, such as professional services and consultancy 
fees, which were attributed to Integrated Transport Planning functions.
The preceding actual results over the years 2011‑13 has seen a 
downward trend. This is due to the remapping of the KPI to include 
only human resource costs, changes to DoT FTE allocations and 
duplication errors.
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MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES
No Ministerial directives were received during 
the fi nancial year. 
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OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

PRICING POLICIES OF SERVICES PROVIDED 
DoT reviews its fees and charges annually to reflect, where legally permissible, full cost recovery in 
the provision of its services pursuant to the departmental policy for costing and pricing.

Gazette 81 dated 25 May 2012, Gazette 83 dated 30 May 2012, Gazette 85 dated 1 June 2012, 
Gazette 88 dated 5 June 2012, Gazette 97 dated 15 June 2012, Gazette 113 dated 29 June 2012, 
and Gazette 123 dated 13 July 2012 contain variations to the Department’s fees and charges for 
the 2012-13 financial year.

MAJOR CAPITAL PROJECTS
Major capital projects are those over $5 million.

Capital projects incomplete

PROJECT NAME
EXPECTED YEAR 
OF COMPLETION

ESTIMATED COST 
TO COMPLETE

ESTIMATED TOTAL 
COST OF PROJECT

$’000 $’000

Augusta Boat Harbour 2013‑14 18,330 34,600

Broome Boating Facility – Stage One 2015‑16 31,614 35,000

Port Geographe 2014‑15 27,425 28,150

EMPLOYMENT AND 
INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS
Full Time Equivalents (FTE) and headcount, as 
at 30 June 2013:

STATUS HEADCOUNT FTE

Permanent Full Time 1,149 1,123

Permanent Part Time 203 115

Temporary Full Time 176 168

Temporary Part Time 29 12

Senior Executive 
Service 20 18

Total 1,577 1,436

There was industrial action in regards to DoT’s 
implementation of a new trial partnership 
arrangement with Registered Training 
Organisations. This trial arrangement allowed 
for greater customer choice in booking a HR 
(Heavy Rigid) and HC (Heavy Combination) 
practical driving assessment.
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FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
The FOI unit is the initial contact point 
for members of the public, applicants, 
third parties, the Office of the Information 
Commissioner and other public sector 
agencies for all FOI-related matters.

Under the Freedom of Information Act 1992 
(the Act), DoT is required to respond to FOI 
applications within 45 days of receipt, unless 
an extension of time is granted. The average 
time to process applications during 2012-13 
was 14 days.

FOI fees and charges

Fees and charges are set under the Act. 
Apart from the application fee for non-personal 
information, all charges are discretionary. 
Details of fees and charges are listed below.

APPLICATION AMOUNT

Personal information 
about applicant

No fee

Application fee (for 
non‑personal information)

$30.00

Charge for time taken 
dealing with the application

$30.00 per hour

Charge for access time 
supervised by staff

$30.00 per hour

Charges for photocopying $30.00 per hour 
for staff time and 
20 cents per copy

Rights of review

The Act allows dissatisfied applicants to review a decision made by DoT. In accordance with 
Section 40 of the Act, internal review applications should be forwarded to DoT in writing within 
30 days of the date of decision.

Following an internal review, matters remaining in dispute can be submitted to the Office of 
the Information Commissioner for external review. Such applications must be submitted within 
60 days from the date of decision.

No fees or charges apply to internal or external reviews.

FOI statistics for 2012-13 are listed below.

APPLICATION
NUMBER 
2010-11

NUMBER 
2011-12

NUMBER 
2012-13

Total received 114 149 178

Internal reviews 5 8 2

External reviews 1 3 1

Transferred to another agency 10 4 5
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CUSTOMER FEEDBACK — 
COMPLAINTS, COMPLIMENTS 
AND SUGGESTIONS
DoT’s Complaints Handling Policy provides 
a flexible and customer-friendly approach, 
where complaints can be made in person, by 
telephone, facsimile, online or in writing.

DoT has complaints handling procedures 
that provide guidelines for implementing the 
policy in line with the Australian Standard on 
Complaints Handling (AS ISO 10002-2006). 

Complaints may be handled directly by 
individual business units or by the Customer 
Complaints, Compliments and Feedback 
(CCCF) management system that is 
administered within Objective — DoT’s 
electronic record management system.

To assist the business units to analyse 
customer feedback and assess business 
impacts, the Objective workflow system can 
be used to monitor and generate reports 
that include:

 Æ the number of complaints received by 
discrete business units;

 Æ the types and categories of complaints 
received;

 Æ the time taken to resolve complaints; and 

 Æ outcomes and whether a service change 
has been made as a result.

Customer feedback received 
in 2012-13

Customer feedback may relate to access to 
information, service standards and facilities 
(including fees, fines and costs), staff issues or 
the legislation, regulations, standards and rules 
that DoT administers. 

The total number of all types of customer 
feedback captured by the CCCF system 
shows an overall average increase of 
26 per cent in the 2012-13 year. Compliments 
and other feedback account for a greater 
proportion of this growth. The percentage 
of complaints as a proportion of the total 
feedback received decreased by 6 per cent, 
from 56 per cent in 2011-12 to 50 per cent 
in 2012-13. 
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Customer perception survey 
undertaken to improve 
customer service 

DoT is one of the State Government agencies 
with the highest interaction with the Western 
Australian community. Most customer 
service by DoT is delivered through Driver 
and Vehicle Services (DVS) and the Regional 
Transport Offices. 

In 2012-13, DoT commenced a survey of 
customer perception of the quality of the 
services delivered by DVS, its agents and 
partners. The purpose of the survey was for 
DoT to understand customer satisfaction with 
services experienced when interacting with the 
Department and its service delivery partners. 

The survey found seven out of 10 customers 
rated their last service experience with DVS 
as excellent, with DVS staff rated as highly 

knowledgeable, professional and pleasant 
to deal with. Also rated highly by customers 
was DVS staff knowledge and ability to 
answer queries and the overall accuracy of 
information received. Areas for improvement 
identified were the time taken to assist 
queries and waiting time for assistance. 

The survey also found that an increasing 
number of customers now transact with 
the Department through the DoT website. 
Customers rated the DoT website favourably 
in relation to ease of finding up-to-date 
information and easily downloadable forms, 
however, found the website difficult to 
navigate. Further, the survey found that 
customers wanted more transactions to be 
available online. 

DoT will leverage this valuable customer 
feedback to implement a range of initiatives 
to improve our performance, processes and 
services. Whether quick enhancements or 
more extensive, long-term improvements, 
these initiatives will address customers’ 
concerns and ensure the quality of the 
services DoT provide continues to exceed 
customer expectations in the future. 

DVS Customer Service Officer
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DoT Staff

DoT’s cultural development journey continued

DoT is in the second year of its three-year cultural development strategy 
to develop an organisation where people want to belong. In November 
2012, DoT launched its new values of Clear Direction, Fresh Thinking, 
Excellent Service and Great People.

Various cross-organisational cultural development teams have assisted 
in embedding these values and their associated behaviours across the 
Department in 2012-13 and this process will continue in 2013-14. 

STAFF DEVELOPMENT

DoTeam continued to deliver benefits 

DoT’s internal employee program, DoTeam, continued throughout 
2012-13. 

DoTeam encompasses initiatives that focus on the appreciation and 
wellbeing of DoT employees by rewarding employees and providing 
benefits that help achieve a safe and healthy work environment. 

Initiatives delivered through DoTeam are detailed below. 

DoT’s TransForm project successfully completed

Through its TransForm project, DoT successfully transitioned its finance, 
procurement, human resources and payroll services back into the 
Department from the Office of Shared Services in November 2012.

The transition of these services back into DoT has delivered a number 
of benefits to employees including simpler processes and systems and 
improved customer service. 

As the largest State Government agency to decommission from 
OSS, DoT played a vital role in establishing processes that have been 
employed by the decommissioning team for implementation across the 
other agencies.

DoT partnered with the Department of Commerce in developing 
payroll solutions that became the foundation of strategies applied 
to other decommissioning agencies, reducing the overall cost to 
State Government. DoT also shared its project plans and business 
case with other State Government agencies to prepare them for 
decommissioning.

Department of Transport Annual Report 2012-13 185



DoT committed to staff development

DoT, through its People and Organisational 
Development directorate, is committed to 
investing and developing its employees to 
assist them in reaching their fullest potential. 

Staff development initiatives delivered by DoT 
in 2012-13 are detailed below. 

Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) 2013-2016 

DoT’s launched its RAP 2013-2016 in May 
2013 as a part of the Reconciliation Action 
Week celebrations. The plan is designed 
for compatibility with DoT’s Strategic and 
Workforce Diversity plans and other key 
government initiatives such as Substantive 
Equality and Disability Access and Inclusion. 
The plan also incorporates our response to 
Government policy documents including the 
National Partnership Agreement on Aboriginal 
Economic Participation and the WA Public 
Sector Commission’s Aboriginal employment 
Strategy 2011-2013 and recommendations one 
and two of the Law Reforms Commission’s 
Aboriginal Customary Law Report of 2006.

The plan sets out how we will strengthen 
relationships with Aboriginal customers and 
take into account their specific needs and 
priorities in developing integrated transport 
policies and plans. Importantly, this Plan has a 
strong commitment at Executive level and will 
be subject to regular monitoring and annual 
review by a cross agency RAP committee that 
will include Aboriginal representation.

Learning and Development Plan 2013-2017 

DoT launched its Learning and Development 
Plan 2013-2017 in March 2013. The plan aligns 
with the Department’s strategic objectives 
and outlines the specific learning and 
development goals that will assist in achieving 
these objectives. 

Some of the key aims of the plan include 
supporting the development of capable 
people, aligning investment in learning and 
development with business needs, providing a 
framework in which learning and development 
options can be prioritised and evaluated, 
and delivering improved career development 
opportunities for all staff.

Youth employment

DoT strongly supports youth employment and 
continues to provide traineeships for young 
people and school-based students as well 
as work experience placements. During the 
year, two school-based trainees successfully 
completed their traineeships and a third is due 
to complete in November 2013. An additional 
school-based trainee was recruited in 
February 2013 and is due to complete the 
program at the end of 2014.

DoT is also participating in the Public Sector 
Aboriginal Traineeship Program, with three 
trainees commencing in July 2013.

During 2012-13, DoT provided opportunity for 
15 work experience placements in various 
business units within the metropolitan area.

Radar Awards recognised exceptional 
DoT employees

DoT’s employee reward and recognition 
program, the Radar Awards, recognised 
individuals and teams for their exceptional 
contribution towards DoT’s overall objectives 
throughout 2012-13.Given the success of 
the first year of the program, the awards will 
continue in 2013-14. 

DoT Radar Award winners pictured with 
Director General, Reece Waldock (right)
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Scholarship program

DoT’s scholarship program demonstrates its commitment to ongoing 
learning by supporting employees to undertake relevant formal 
study. The program aims to develop expertise in subject areas that 
will assist DoT to meet its business objectives. The program also 
complements other learning programs addressing specific individual 
and organisational needs. In February 2013, nine scholarships were 
awarded to recipients from business areas across the organisation.

Graduate program

DoT’s graduate program is an important part of its strategy to attract 
younger workers and develop future management and leadership 
capability. The 2012 intake of graduates proved to be a great success, 
with all five graduates being permanently appointed within the 
Department at the conclusion of the program.

The 2013 program is progressing well with five graduates recruited 
to positions in a range of operational areas to gain valuable skills 
and knowledge. Graduates are each assigned a senior manager as 

a mentor to support and guide them on their journey and offered a 
comprehensive training and development plan to assist in developing 
and refining their professional skills. 

DoT has committed to placing a further group of graduates through the 
2014 program.

Leadership development

In 2012-13, DoT developed a leadership development framework that 
addresses leadership development in three priority levels. 

The People Managers program addresses the skills and abilities 
required for first-time managers and staff aspiring to entry level people 
management positions. The Aspiring Leaders program is aimed at 
developing substantive managers to move into higher-level positions 
in the Department, and the Executive Leader program is aimed at 
developing the Department’s next generation of senior executives.

The People Managers program is tailored to the priority needs of the 
Department and is based on the Certificate IV in Frontline Management. 
DoT has committed to run the program three times over the next two 
years, commencing in July 2013.

The Aspiring Leaders program has a strong foundation with practical 
development for people managers through a range of low-cost 
initiatives such as a people managers induction session, a mentoring 
program across the Department, coaching sessions, refresher sessions 
in recruitment and selection, managing performance that is not meeting 
expectation, performance feedback, occupational safety and health, 
managing budgets, procurement processes and HR administration.

DoT continued to promote and support senior staff participating in a 
variety of development programs coordinated by the Public Sector 
Commission, including the Public Sector Management Program, which 
are linked to development needs in an individual’s Individual Learning 
and Development Plan.

DoT’s 2012 graduates pictured with Managing Director Transport Services, 
Nina Lyhne
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GOVERNANCE 
DISCLOSURES
CONTRACTS WITH SENIOR 
OFFICERS
During 2012-13, other than normal contracts 
of employment of services, no senior officers 
or firms of which senior officers are members, 
or entities in which senior officers have 
substantial interests, had any interests in 
existing or proposed contracts with DoT.

OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS
ACT OF GRACE PAYMENTS
In 2012-13, DoT made 23 Act of Grace payments totalling $4,820.90.

ADVERTISING 
The following statement relates to advertising, direct mail, market research, media advertising  
and polling as required under section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907.

ADVERTISING $

Advertising agengies

Cooch Creative Pty Ltd 30,510

Rare creativethinking 12,144

42,654

Direct mail organisations

Nil

Market research organisations

Painted Dog 42,880

Media advertising organisations

Adcorp Australia Limited 131,841

Mitchell and Partners Australia Pty Ltd 2,846

134,687

Polling organisations

Nil

Total 220,221

Department of Transport Annual Report 2012-13188



DISABILITY ACCESS AND 
INCLUSION PLAN (DAIP) 
OUTCOMES
DoT is committed to continually improving 
access and inclusion for people with disability, 
their families and carers. 

The Department’s DAIP was lodged with 
the Disability Services Commission in 
August 2012. 

A significant inclusion to our plan was 
a seventh outcome, highlighting our 
commitment to people with disability having 
the same opportunities as other people to 
access employment opportunities within DoT. 

In demonstrating this commitment, DoT 
engaged with other agencies to share 
information and identify barriers in relation 
to the employment of people with disability 
with representation on the Public Sector 
Employment of People with Disability 
Reference Group. 

DoT aims to achieve the following outcomes 
as defined by our DAIP:

 Æ People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to access 
the services of, and any events organised 
by, DoT. 

 Æ People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to access the 
buildings and other facilities of DoT. 

 Æ People with disability receive information 
from DoT in a format that will enable them 
to access the information as readily as 
other people are able to access it. 

 Æ People with disability receive the same 
level and quality of service from the staff of 
DoT as other people receive from the staff 
of DoT. 

 Æ People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to make 
complaints to DoT.

 Æ People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to participate 
in any public consultation by DoT. 

 Æ People with disability have the same 
opportunity as other people to access 
employment opportunities with DoT. 

The DAIP Reference Group met on a regular 
basis to monitor implementation and progress 
of strategies identified.

During 2012-13, our achievements towards 
improving access and inclusion for people with 
disability, their families and carers included:

 Æ Conducting an access audit of the 
workplace to ensure all buildings were, 
wherever possible, accessible for people 
with disability.

 Æ Developing access and mobility maps for 
all metropolitan offices and branches.

 Æ Installing appropriate signage at metro and 
regional offices that meets the needs of 
people with disability. 

 Æ Launching an online booking system 
whereby applicants can book their own 
PDA without having to call the contact 
centre or agent. This system will assist 
people with hearing difficulties to access 
our services.

 Æ Installing a universal access dinghy 
pontoon at Coral Bay Boating Facility 
and a universal access jetty at Albany 
Waterfront Marina. The new universal 
access facilities enhance ease of access 
and safety for all users, including those 
with disability or limited mobility, when 
boarding and disembarking vessels, 
allowing all users to enjoy the water based 
activities at these maritime facilities.

 Æ Organising events, forums and 
consultations so they are accessible to 
people with disability.

 Æ Recruitment policies, procedures, 
templates, language and format are 
inclusive of people with disability 
as required. 
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COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC 
SECTOR STANDARDS AND 
ETHICAL CODES
DoT is committed to fostering a culture 
of ethical behaviour, ensuring the highest 
standards of probity and accountability 
in all interactions. As public servants, the 
Department’s employees are ultimately 
working for the people of Western Australia 
who expect them to act with integrity and 
to look after their interests. This places the 
Department in a unique position of trust, 
requiring standards of ethical behaviour that 
reflect community expectations.

During the 2012-13 financial year, DoT 
continued to review its human resource 
management policies and procedures to 
ensure they met legislative and governance 
responsibilities in regards to managing 
people. This included the development of new 
policies such as a revised recruitment and 
selection policy, procedures and tip sheets, 
dress standards guidelines and classification 
determination policy and procedures. 

DoT’s Accountable and Ethical Decision 
Making online training program continued 
and more than 90 per cent of staff have now 
completed the program.

Specific achievements this year include 
the continued roll-out of DoT’s Partnership 
Performance Program, with the first 

reporting period in January 2013 achieving 
an 85 per cent completion rate across the 
Department. Work has continued on phase 
two development of the program.

COMPLIANCE ISSUES
Four breach of standard claims relating to 
the Employment Standard were received 
in 2012-13.

Two of the claims were considered and 
dismissed by the Public Sector Commissioner 
and the other two were withdrawn by 
the claimants.

In 2012-13, five cases of non-compliance with 
the Code of Ethics/Code of Conduct were 
reported, five of which resulted in disciplinary 
investigations.

BETTER RECORDKEEPING
The amended Recordkeeping Plan for 
DoT was approved by the State Records 
Commission on 30 August 2012. The Plan 
demonstrates progress towards better 
practice recordkeeping and compliance with 
the minimum requirements of SRC Standard 2: 
Recordkeeping Plans and SRC Standard 6: 
Outsourcing. In accordance with Section 8 
of the State Records Act 2000, the Plan is to 
be reviewed by August 2017. The functional 
Retention and Disposal Schedule was 
updated and subsequently endorsed by the 
State Records Advisory Committee. This has 

enabled DoT to review the disposal program, 
with a focus on the Department’s records held 
in commercial offsite storage. In accordance 
with Principle Four of the Recordkeeping Plan 
a risk analysis of regional sites was completed 
and DoT is working towards the amendment 
and formal authorisation of the Records 
Disaster Management and Recovery Plan.

The State Records Commission’s minimum 
compliance requirements have been met:

1. The efficiency and effectiveness of the 
organisation’s recordkeeping systems 
are evaluated not less than once every 
five years.

 DoT uses Objective as a single 
enterprise-wide Electronic Document and 
Records Management System (EDRMS) 
which is deployed to all staff throughout 
the agency. Objective is upgraded regularly 
to improve functionality. In 2012, DoT 
implemented a digitisation program at 140 
William Street to facilitate the scanning 
and electronic distribution of incoming 
correspondence.

2. The organisation conducts a 
recordkeeping training program.

 An online Recordkeeping Awareness 
Training (RAT) course is available to all 
DoT staff. There are currently 1,672 staff, 
including contractors employed by DoT, 
enrolled and 1,471 (88 per cent) have 
completed the course.
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SEPTEMBER 
QUARTER

DECEMBER 
QUARTER

MARCH 
QUARTER

JUNE 
QUARTER

Number of staff enrolled in RAT 1,487 1,541 1,610 1,672

Number of staff completed RAT 1,339 1,376 1,422 1,471

90% 89% 88% 88%

3. The efficiency and effectiveness of 
the recordkeeping training program is 
reviewed from time to time.

 The online RAT is mandatory for all 
staff. Training assessment is integrated 
into the package and feedback from 
staff is reviewed and responded to. For 
Transport-specific information regarding 
processes, employees are referred to the 
Intranet. Content is reviewed periodically 
to ensure it reflects current operational and 
administrative practices and processes.

 The EDRMS training and education 
program was reviewed to concentrate on 
training all staff within a workgroup to use 
the EDRMS as a unit, and a framework for 
reporting on the take-up and use of the 
EDRMS across DoT has been established. 
An Objective online training course is 
available for all new staff and as a refresher 
course for existing staff as required. 

4. The organisation’s induction program 
addresses employee roles and 
responsibilities in regard to their 
compliance with the organisation’s 
recordkeeping plan.

 The induction program includes a short 
presentation on recordkeeping and the use 
of Objective, which addresses employees 
roles and responsibilities in creating, 
managing and maintaining government 
records. All new staff are expected to 
complete the online RAT which covers 
roles and responsibilities in regard to 
recordkeeping and compliance with the 
Recordkeeping Plan. Additionally there is 
a brochure available on Recordkeeping: 
Your Responsibilities included in a series of 
information brochures designed to assist 
staff in dealing with different aspects of 
recordkeeping. New staff are also required 
to undertake training in the use of Objective.
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GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS
SUBSTANTIVE EQUALITY
DoT is committed to providing the best 
possible services in all areas of its operations, 
free from discrimination and ensuring 
outcomes of DoT services are equitable 
across the community. 

During 2012-13, DoT developed a Substantive 
Equality Implementation Plan 2013-15. 
The plan, which was endorsed by the Equal 
Opportunity Commission of Western Australia, 
outlines how DoT will integrate substantive 
equality into its business by identifying 
clients and their needs, setting targets and 
developing strategies to address these needs 
and then monitoring, reviewing and evaluating 
our progress. 

Throughout 2012-13, DoT continued to 
demonstrate its commitment to achieving 
substantive equality by identifying and 
eliminating areas of systemic racial 
discrimination, with a focus on people from 
Culturally and Linguistically Diverse (CaLD) 
communities and Aboriginal people in 
remote locations. 

A number of initiatives were achieved in 
relation to overcoming barriers in obtaining a 
driver’s licence, which is not only vital to drive 
a vehicle legally in Western Australia, but is 
also an important identification document. 

DoT’s achievements towards substantive 
equality during the year include: 

 Æ Best Practice in Collaboration Across 
Government Agencies in the Same 
Jurisdiction Award at the Institute of 
Public Administration Western Australia 
Achievement Awards, recognising a 
number of initiatives that improve driver’s 
licence and road safety outcomes for 
Aboriginal communities. 

 Æ The introduction of a new category for 
the recognition of an overseas driver’s 
licence to include an ‘experienced driver 
recognised country’ category for certain 
applicants aged 25 and over, from sixteen 
recognised countries. 

 Æ Continued participation in the CaLD Driver 
Licensing Reference Group. 

 Æ The review of driver’s licence theory test 
questions to ensure members of the CaLD 
community and people with learning 
difficulties have an equivalent alternative to 
the computerised theory test. 

 Æ In collaboration with School Drug Education 
and Road Aware, the State Government’s 
primary drug and road safety strategy, 
the Keys for Life program is now being 
delivered by community groups, including 
CaLD community groups.

 Æ Establishment of Remote Licensing teams 
in the East and West Kimberley, Goldfields 
and Pilbara regions. 

In 2013-14, DoT will improve the way CaLD 
Translation information is provided to 
customers and expand the Remote Licensing 
Service to other remote communities and 
locations that do not have ready access to 
DoT licensing services.

DoT will also develop a driver training and 
licensing funding scheme for organisations in 
remote areas of Western Australia to assist 
people in obtaining a driver’s licence. This will 
be achieved by providing grants to appointed 
organisations for dual-control vehicles, driving 
instructor salaries and licensing fees to enable 
them to provide driver training and support to 
Aboriginal people within their community and 
surrounding communities.

This is a one-year pilot program funded 
by the Commonwealth Department of 
Families, Housing, Community Services and 
Indigenous Affairs and has been offered to 
three communities in the Pilbara, East and 
West Kimberley. 
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AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE (ARMC)
The ARMC is a sub-committee of DoT’s 
Corporate Executive. 

The ARMC plays a key role in fulfilling the 
DoT’s corporate governance and monitoring 
responsibilities in relation to reporting, internal 
control structure, risk management systems, 
external audit and internal audit functions. 

The ARMC has the right of access to 
external and internal auditors, and all levels of 
management and staff within DoT.

The committee is made up of the Director 
General as the Chair of the committee; the 
Deputy Director General – Policy, Planning 
and Investment; the Managing Director – 
Transport Services; the Director – Office 
of the Director General; MRWA Executive 
Director, Finance and Commercial Services 
as the cross portfolio representative; and 
KPMG as the contracted internal auditor.

The committee contains two ex-efficio 
members, the Executive Director, Investment 
and Finance Coordination (Chief Finance 
Officer), and the Manager, Governance 
and Audit, Office of the Director General. 
A representative from the Office of the 
Auditor General also attends meetings as an 
independent observer. 

INTERNAL AUDIT 
DoT developed an internal audit program for 
2012-13 which was approved by the ARMC to 
meet DoT’s internal audit requirements.

The following audits were conducted by 
KPMG, DoT’s contracted internal auditors, 
during 2012-13:

 Æ DVS Management of Key Agreements

 Æ Fraud Risk Management — Gap Analysis

 Æ Freight Industry Grant

 Æ Perth Light Rail Project Management 
Framework Healthcheck

 Æ DVS — Management of Driver Licence 
Suspension and Cancellation

 Æ Payroll Management

 Æ Passenger Services Subsidy Scheme 
Management.

All audits were tabled at ARMC meetings. 
Recommendations derived from internal audit 
reviews are managed and monitored through 
DoT’s Audit Recommendation Management 
System. The status of implementation of 
recommendations is reported on a quarterly 
basis to the ARMC.

RISK MANAGEMENT
DoT has a comprehensive risk management 
process that meets the requirements of 
Treasurer’s Instruction 825, the Public Sector 
Commissioner’s Circular 2009/19 and is 
aligned to the international standard  
AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009 Risk Management – 
Principles and Guidelines.

DoT’s Risk Management Policy, Procedures 
and Guidelines support a proactive approach 
to risk management by requiring all employees 
to apply appropriate and effective risk 
management practices. The RiskBase system 
is used to record, monitor and manage the 
Department’s risk information. 

The ARMC has a key responsibility for 
providing management oversight for risk 
management across DoT. Risks rated high  
and extreme are reported quarterly and 
medium risks bi-annually. New monthly 
reporting structures allow senior management 
to more effectively provide ongoing oversight 
of medium and low rated risks.
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OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY, HEALTH AND INJURY MANAGEMENT

In accordance with the Public Sector 
Commissioner’s Circular 2009-11: Code of 
practice: Occupational Safety and Health 
in the Western Australian public sector (the 
Circular), the Department complies with the 
requirements of the Occupational Safety and 
Health Act 1984, the Workers’ Compensation 
and Injury Management Act 1981 and the 
Code of practice: Occupational safety and 
health in the Western Australian public sector.

Our commitment to our employees 

DoT recognises the value of its employees 
and is committed to preventing injury and 
illness by providing a safe and healthy work 
environment. DoT recognises the success 
of occupational health and safety (OHS) 
and injury management activities and relies 
on the active participation and cooperation 
of both the management and employees. 
The Department’s OHS commitment is 
designed to raise awareness of safety and 
health obligations and to promote safer 
work practices.

In the event that a workplace injury occurs, 
the Department has an established injury 
management procedure, which details the 
steps taken to assist injured employees 
to return to work as soon as medically 
appropriate. The procedure ensures that injury 
management intervention occurs promptly 

and effectively, so that injured employees can 
remain at work or return to work at the earliest 
appropriate time. The Department’s injury 
management procedure is compliant with the 
requirements of the Workers’ Compensation 
and Injury Management Act 1981 and the 
Code of Practice (Injury Management) 2005. 

OHS and injury management information 
is widely communicated, as part of various 
OHS and injury management training 
sessions designed for both employees 
and for managers/supervisors, and this 
is also available on DoT’s intranet. OHS 
information is also communicated through 
various occupational health and safety 
sub-committees. Due to the vast variation 
in roles and functions of the various 
business units within DoT, the Department 
now has three OHS sub-committees, the 
Marine House OHS Sub-committee, DVS 
OHS Sub-committee and the Corporate/
Passenger/Regional Services OHS 
Sub-committee. Each is chaired by the 
executive director or general manager/s of the 
various business units.

The DoT OHS Policy has been endorsed by 
the Corporate Executive and the Director 
General and a Corporate OHS and Wellbeing 
Committee established. This committee is 
accountable for the management of OHS 
and Wellbeing in DoT and is responsible 

DoT Health Fair
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for identifying and implementing OHS 
and Wellbeing initiatives and making 
recommendations on policy and strategy to 
Corporate Executive. The members of the 
Corporate OHS and Wellbeing Committee 
include all the executive directors, general 
managers and the OHS Branch. 

Consultation mechanisms

Both management and employees are 
committed to improved and effective 
consultation in the workplace. Consultation 
provides employees with an opportunity 
to participate fully in decisions that impact 
their working lives. The establishment of an 
appropriate forum to consult has resulted in 
better decision making, with shared decisions 
leading to more effective implementation. 

The various OHS sub-committees, comprised 
of safety and health representatives and 
management representatives, are focused 
on the continuous improvement of OHS 
performance. They meet every three months 
to discuss matters relating to workplace 
issues that affect the health and welfare of 
employees. DoT’s executives, safety and 
health representatives and employees are 
committed to the goal of a workplace that 
is free of work-related injuries and disease 
and to achieving a standard of excellence in 
occupational health and safety management. 
Both the agenda and meeting minutes for 

each of the OHS sub-committee meetings and 
the Corporate OHS and Wellbeing Committee 
meeting are displayed on dedicated OHS 
noticeboards across all the DoT sites. 

The safety and health representatives, 
in consultation with management, are 
responsible for updating the noticeboards 
accordingly. The effectiveness of the various 
OHS committee meetings is measured by their 
attendance rates, which form part of the key 
performance indicators reportable back to 
Corporate Executive.

During the year, DoT discussed and resolved 
issues raised by employees, reviewed accident 
and incident forms to ensure that hazards 
were addressed to eliminate or reduce future 
issues, discussed injury trends and identified 
preventative measures that promote a safe 
working environment. 

Compliance with the injury 
management requirements of the 
Workers Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981

As of 30 June 2013, DoT had 27 open workers 
compensation claims, of which only three 
claims were certified unfit. The rest of the 
injured workers were back at work on a Return 
to Work Program. All but one of the time-loss 
claims were returned to work within 13 weeks 
of their injury. 

DoT has a dedicated workers compensation 
and injury management consultant who 
manages both the workers compensation 
claims and the non-work related injury 
management issues. DoT has a strong focus on 
early intervention and return to work. Managers 
and supervisors are trained in the importance 
of good injury management and return to work, 
all with the purpose of promoting a supportive, 
productive and positive workplace.

OHS system assessment and results

An external audit of the current Occupational 
Health and Safety Management System was 
conducted in December 2012. The audit was 
conducted by an accredited auditor from 
MRWA, using the WorkSafe Plan Audit Tool. 
The findings of this audit provided both positive 
findings and areas for improvement. The 
recommendations for improvement have been 
detailed in an action plan with responsibilities 
and target dates set for completion. 

The audit found that DoT provides a generally 
safe working environment. The main positive 
findings identified were:

 Æ There was strong evidence to show 
management support of safety, health and 
wellbeing within DoT. The safety committee 
meetings are attended and chaired by 
executive directors or general managers. 
The Director General has shown a strong 
commitment towards health and wellbeing 
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in the workplace by supporting, endorsing 
and promoting the various DoT Wellbeing 
Program initiatives, which include launching 
the DoT Health Fairs across the various 
work locations in February 2013. More 
than 250 employees attended the various 
health fairs. 

 Æ The bi-monthly Welcome to DoT Day 
Induction Session include the various 
executive directors from each of the 
directorates/business units speaking to 
new employees. A one-hour OHS induction 
session is incorporated into the day.

 Æ The development and implementation of 
the OHS Safety Folder across each DoT 
workplace. The safety folder houses all the 
various site-specific OHS documentation, 
including policies, procedures, training 
matrixes and emergency plans.

 Æ There is strong management support for 
employees to enjoy the flexible workplace 
options available within DoT. These include 
part-time, purchased leave and flexi time. 
Working from home is also promoted, 
where possible. All working from home 
applications undergo a home-based 
ergonomic assessment to ensure the 
staff member is working in a well set up 
working environment.

 Æ The various Wellbeing Lunch and Learn 
Sessions, including management of 
depression and anxiety, suicide awareness 
and good nutrition, are a series of 
workshops that support the wellbeing 
initiative. The 2013 exercise program 
includes Pilates, Zumba, tai chi, boxing 
and yoga classes held at various DoT 
locations. Over 120 staff members attend 
these classes. Corporate health discounts 
are also available from HBF, HIF, Bupa 
and Medibank.

 Æ The Corporate OHS and Wellbeing Branch 
has developed strong networks with other 
Transport portfolio safety branches. The 
four meetings held in 2012-13 have assisted 
each agency to further develop their OHS 
management systems and there is better 
understanding of common OHS risks within 
the portfolio.

However, there were some areas that can be 
further improved. The main areas identified for 
improvement are:

 Æ The need to develop a DoT Corporate OHS 
Management System to ensure consistency 
and alignment across the various and 
diverse business units within the DoT.

 Æ The need to develop and approve an OSH 
risk register including common public 
sector hazards as described in the Code of 
Practice – Occupational Safety and Health 
in the Western Australian Public Sector 2007 

(bullying, violence/aggression, manual 
handling, working alone, organisational 
changes, inadequate physical working 
environment, inadequate workstations, 
inadequate work organisation). 

 Æ The need to ensure that all risks for each 
directorate/business unit.

 Æ The need to complete and approve OSH 
strategic direction.

 Æ That pre-employment medicals are not 
in place for high-risk activities. It was 
recommended pre-employment medicals 
be considered as part of the Health 
Management Strategy as occurs with 
the PTA.

The majority of the above recommendations 
for improvement are being addressed as at 
30 June 2013.

In 2012-13, Occupational Health, Safety 
and Injury Management training programs 
were reviewed:

 Æ OHS and Injury Management for Managers 
training sessions were combined into one 
training session, lasting three hours. The 62 
per cent of managers reported trained 
in 2010-11 was based on completion of 
an online training program. In 2011-12, a 
decision was made that all managers were 
required to attend a three-hour face-to-
face OHS and injury management training 
session conducted by the OHS manager. 
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All previous online training was not 
considered in the 2011-2012 percentages. 
For this reason, at the start of 2011-12, the 
figure was zero per cent. DoT currently has 
8 per cent of managers trained in their OHS 
and injury management responsibilities.

 Æ Ergonomics sessions were conducted 
throughout the year for staff in 140 William 
Street, Public Transport Centre and Marine 
House. Vehicle ergonomics was also 
conducted in all the regional offices and to 
the Remote Licensing Group, promoting 
good ergonomics when embarking on long 
distance driving. 

 Æ Manual Tasks and OHS Induction training 
sessions were run separately, each lasting 
for one hour. All new starters at DoT attend 
the Welcome to DOT Induction day, where 
the OHS induction session is conducted.

 Æ Sessions were undertaken at the individual 
business units, which allowed for a 
greater number of managers to attend 
the sessions.

Additional OHS and injury management 
activities included:

 Æ Successfully developing and implementing 
the Management of Customer Aggression 
Policy and Guidelines. These were 
developed to provide management and 
staff with a consistent step-by-step 
approach to managing difficult and 
aggressive customers. 

 Æ Successfully completing the development 
of the Working in Remote Areas Policy and 
Guidelines designed to make sure staff 
travelling to remote areas are provided with 
the right vehicles, equipment and systems, 
to enable a safe working environment. 

 Æ Working on finalising the DoT Corporate 
OHS Safety Management System. It is 
anticipated that the system will be rolled out 
in September 2013. The roll out will include 
training and education for each of the 
business units.

 Æ Working on the Contractor Management 
Policy and Procedure.

 Æ Completing and implementing the actions 
recommended from a recent internal audit, 
which included the audit of the safety 
management system.

 Æ Having 95 per cent of the Safety and 
Health Representatives complete the 
mandatory five-day SHR training course. 
The training course was run in-house by an 
external WorkSafe accredited trainer. All 43 
SHRs (including regional representatives) 
attended the course, which was specifically 
tailored to DoT and its OHS policies, 
procedures and guidelines.

 Æ Providing quarterly coaching sessions for 
SHRs as part of an ongoing professional 
development process. The coaching 
sessions were conducted by the 
OHS Branch.

 Æ Increasing the awareness of OHS 
and injury management obligations to 
employees, which contributed towards a 
reduction of lost time injury claims lodged 
in 2011-2012. This was achieved via the 
various management and staff OHS 
training programs.

 Æ Conducting workplace inspections more 
regularly (once every three months) to 
ensure the effectiveness of the hazard 
management process. The Workplace 
Inspection Checklist has been reviewed 
and updated to make it more user friendly.

 Æ Promoting workstation safety by conducting 
workstation ergonomic assessments, which 
are made readily available to all staff.

DoT’s performance against targets contained 
in the Circular is demonstrated in Table 1.
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Table 1: Occupational safety, health and injury management performance

MEASURE

RESULTS AGAINST TARGET

2011-12 (1) 2012-2013 TARGET RESULT

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 (zero) Target achieved

Lost time injury (LTI) and/or disease incidence rate 1.12 1.220(2) 0 or 10% reduction Target achieved. There was a slight 
increase (compared to 2011‑12) 
in the number of LTI claims in line 
with an increase in FTE

LTI and/or disease severity rate 0 5.55(3) 0 or 10% reduction Target not achieved 

Percentage of injured workers returned to work within 13 weeks   69% 94.44%(4) Actual percentage result 94.44% achieved

Percentage of injured workers returned to work within 28 weeks 100% 100%(5) Actual percentage result 100% achieved

Percentage of managers trained in occupational safety, health and 
injury management responsibilities

58% 81%(6) Greater than or equal to 80% Target achieved 

Notes:

(1) The results are sourced from DoT’s Annual Report 2011-12.

(2) There were sixteen lost time injury claims lodged in 2011-12, while the number of full time equivalents in 2011-12 was 1428.46. However, there were 18 lost time injury claims in 2012-13, 
while the number of full time equivalents in 2012-13 was 1475.35 (as per 30 June 2012). 

(3) There was one workers compensation claim lodged in 2012-13 with greater than 60 days or more lost from work. There were a total of 18 LTI claims in 2012-13.

(4) 17 of the 18 workers compensation claims with registered LTIs were returned back to work within 13 weeks.

(5) All 18 workers compensation claims with registered LTIs were returned to work within 26 weeks.

(6) The training for managers and supervisors relates to their occupational safety and health and injury management responsibilities. In 2011-12, a decision was made that all managers were 
required to attend a three-hour face-to-face OHS and IM training session conducted by the OHS manager. All previous online training was not considered in the 2011-12 percentages. 
Hence at the start of 2011-12, the figure was zero per cent. These training sessions are currently still being conducted and at the moment, the Department sits at 81 per cent of 
managers trained.
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METROPOLITAN OFFICESOffice locations 
Current as at 30 June 2013

Head Office

140 William Street 
PERTH WA 6000

Phone: 08 6551 6000 
Facsimile: 08 6551 6001

Driver and Vehicle Services

Public Transport Centre 
West Parade 
EAST PERTH WA 6004

Phone: 13 11 56

Passenger Services

20 Brown Street 
EAST PERTH WA 6004

Phone: 1300 660 147

Coastal Infrastructure and 
Marine Safety

Marine House 
1 Essex Street 
FREMANTLE WA 6160

Phone: 08 9216 8999 
Facsimile: 08 9216 8979

Fremantle Fishing Boat Harbour 
(Marine operations centre)

14 Capo D’Orlando Drive 
FREMANTLE WA 6160

Phone: 08 9431 1000 
Facsimile: 08 9431 1019

Hillarys 
(Coastal Infrastructure) 

86 Southside Drive 
HILLARYS  WA  6025

Phone: 08 9448 7544 
Facsimile: 08 9447 8713
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REGIONAL OFFICES

GASCOYNE

Carnarvon (One-stop-shop)

Carnarvon Boat Harbour 
Boat Harbour Road 
CARNARVON WA 6701

Phone: 08 9941 6800 
Facsimile: 08 9941 1067

Exmouth (One-stop-shop)

21 Maidstone Crescent 
EXMOUTH WA 6707

Phone: 08 9947 8200 
Facsimile: 08 9949 2078

MID WEST

Geraldton (One-stop-shop)

65 Chapman Road  
GERALDTON WA 6530

Phone: 08 9956 0111 
Facsimile: 08 9956 0130 

GOLDFIELDS/ESPERANCE

Esperance (Regional services)

53 The Esplanade 
ESPERANCE WA 6450

Phone: 08 9076 2100 
Facsimile: 08 9071 6892

Kalgoorlie (One-stop-shop)

Unit 4, 35 Brookman Street 
KALGOORLIE WA 6430

Phone: 08 9022 5999 
Facsimile: 08 9091 6288

KIMBERLEY

Broome (One-stop-shop)

9 Napier Terrace 
BROOME WA 6725

Phone: 08 9192 0200  
Facsimile: 08 9193 5651

Kununurra (One-stop-shop)

Cnr Messmate Way & Bandicoot Drive 
KUNUNURRA WA 6743

Phone: 08 9168 3298 
Facsimile: 08 9168 3287

PILBARA

Karratha (One-stop-shop)

3-5 Welcome Road 
KARRATHA WA 6714 

Phone: 08 9185 6100 
Facsimile: 08 9143 1288
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SOUTH WEST

Bunbury (One-stop-shop)

24 Wellington Street 
BUNBURY WA 6230

Phone: 08 9792 6666 
Facsimile: 08 9792 6600

Busselton (Regional Services)

Shop 15, Busselton Boulevard 
Shopping Centre 
BUSSELTON WA 6280

Phone: 08 9753 0550 
Facsimile: 08: 9754 7230

GREAT SOUTHERN

Albany (One-stop-shop)

178 Stirling Tce 
Albany WA 6330

Phone: 08 9892 7333 
Facsimile: 08 9842 1079
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Joondalup  
(Driver and Vehicle Services)

65 Boas Avenue 
JOONDALUP WA 6027

Kelmscott 
(Driver and Vehicle Services and 
vehicle examination services)

34 Gillam Drive 
KELMSCOTT WA 6111

Mandurah 
(Driver and Vehicle Services)

Cnr Pinjarra Rd and Ranceby Ave 
MANDURAH WA 6210

Midland 
(Driver and Vehicle Services)

Shop T053 
Midland Gate Shopping Centre 
Crn Cale Street and Great Eastern Hwy 
MIDLAND WA 6056

Midland 
(Vehicle examination services)

11 Victoria Street 
MIDLAND WA 6056

DRIVER AND VEHICLE SERVICE CENTRES, VEHICLE EXAMINATION CENTRES 
METROPOLITAN AREA

Morley 
(Driver and Vehicle Services)

63 Russell Street 
MORLEY WA 6024

Osborne Park 
(Vehicle examination services)

34 Howe Street 
OSBORNE PARK WA 6017

Rockingham 
(Driver and Vehicle Services)

37 McNicholl Street 
ROCKINGHAM WA 6168

Warwick 
(Driver and Vehicle Services and 
vehicle examination services)

37 Eddington Road 
WARWICK WA 6024

Welshpool 
(Driver and Vehicle Services and 
vehicle examination services)

21 Murray Road South  
WELSHPOOL WA 6106

West Perth 
(Driver and Vehicle Services)

Suite 42 – 44, 102 Railway Parade  
Cnr Troode and Plaistowe Mews  
WEST PERTH WA 6005

Willagee 
(Driver and Vehicle Services)

Cnr Stock Road and Leach Highway 
WILLAGEE WA 6156

People with Disabilities

If you are deaf or have a hearing or speech 
impairment please call 13 36 77 and quote 
the number you want.

TTY access for people with a hearing 
impairment:

Fremantle office TTY  08 9430 6263 
Licensing information TTY  08 9216 8484

For more information please visit:

www.transport.wa.gov.au/aboutus
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The information contained in this publication is provided in good faith and 
believed to be accurate at time of publication. The State shall in no way be 

liable for any loss sustained or incurred by anyone relying on the information.


